



# Edinburgh Research Explorer

# Children and Young People's Experiences Of, and Views On, Issues Relating to the Implementation of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child

Citation for published version:

Elsley, S, Tisdall, EKM & Davidson, E 2013, Children and Young People's Experiences Of, and Views On, Issues Relating to the Implementation of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. Scottish Government.

#### Link:

Link to publication record in Edinburgh Research Explorer

#### **Document Version:**

Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

**Publisher Rights Statement:** 

© The Scottish Government. Tisdall, K., Elsley, S., & Davidson, E. (2013). Children and young people's experiences of, and views on, issues relating to the implementation of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. Scottish Government.

**General rights** 

Copyright for the publications made accessible via the Edinburgh Research Explorer is retained by the author(s) and / or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing these publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Take down policy

The University of Edinburgh has made every reasonable effort to ensure that Edinburgh Research Explorer content complies with UK legislation. If you believe that the public display of this file breaches copyright please contact openaccess@ed.ac.uk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.





Children and young people's experiences of, and views on, issues relating to the implementation of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child



# CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S EXPERIENCES OF, AND VIEWS ON, ISSUES RELATING TO THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS CONVENTION ON THE RIGHTS OF THE CHILD

Susan Elsley, Susan Elsley Consulting

E. Kay M. Tisdall and Emma Davidson, Centre for Research on Families and Relationships

© Crown copyright 2013

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit <a href="http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/">http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/</a> or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

Many thanks to:

Gita Anand, Donna McLean and Scott Wood of the Scottish Government for their support and advice

All organisations and individuals that contributed to the review.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| 1 | EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   | 1                                    |
|---|---|--------------------------------------|
|   | Background Gaps in evidence Recommendations for moving forward Conclusion   | 1<br>1<br>3<br>4                     |
| 2 | BACKGROUND AND RESEARCH AIMS  | 5                                    |
|   | Background Review objectives Methodology for review Notes on the review Structure of the review   | 5<br>5<br>7<br>7                     |
| 3 | GENERAL MEASURES OF IMPLEMENTATION  | 8                                    |
|   | Introduction National human rights institutions Measures taken to harmonise national law and policy with the provisions of  | 8                                    |
|   | Implementation and monitoring of the UNCRC Measures to make reports widely available to public Remedies of infringements of rights Cooperation with civil society | 8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>12<br>12 |
| 4 | GENERAL PRINCIPLES  | 13                                   |
|   | Non-discrimination Respect for children and young people's views  | 13<br>13<br>16<br>20                 |
| 5 | CIVIL RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS   | 21                                   |
|   | Corporal punishment, inhuman or degrading treatment Freedom of association and peaceful assembly Freedom of religion Confidentiality and privacy                  | 21<br>21<br>21<br>22<br>22<br>23     |
| 6 | FAMILY ENVIRONMENT AND ALTERNATIVE CARE   | 24                                   |
|   | Support for children and families Residential care Secure Care  | 24<br>24<br>26<br>27<br>27           |

|    | Looked after at home Kinship care Leaving care Child Protection Child sexual exploitation Child trafficking Household substance misuse Parental guidance and responsibilities Summary       | 28<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>30<br>30<br>31<br>32 |
|----|---|--|
| 7  | BASIC HEALTH AND WELFARE  | 34   |
|    | Introduction Health and health services Mental health and well being Healthy lifestyles Survival and development Disabled children and young people HIV and AIDS Standard of living Summary | 34<br>34<br>36<br>37<br>43<br>44<br>44<br>44 |
| 8  | EDUCATION, LEISURE AND CULTURE  | 46   |
|    | Introduction Education including vocational training and guidance Rest, leisure, recreation and cultural and artistic activities Summary  | 46<br>46<br>51<br>52                         |
| 9  | SPECIAL PROTECTION MEASURES   | 53   |
|    | Introduction Children in situations of emergency Children in conflict with law Summary  | 53<br>53<br>53<br>56                         |
| 10 | CONCLUSIONS   | 58   |
|    | Overall conclusions Gaps in evidence Recommendations for moving forward Conclusion  | 58<br>61<br>62<br>64                         |
| 11 | REFERENCES  | 65   |
|    | Full reference list   | 82   |
| 12 | APPENDIX A UNCRC RIGHTS BY CLUSTERS   | 93   |

#### 1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

#### Background

- 1.1 This review contributes to the Scottish Government's work to inform the UK's next report on the implementation of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC). Its purpose was to explore children and young people's experiences and views in order to input to the Scottish Government's contribution to the UK State Party's periodic review, due to be submitted in January 2014.
- 1.2 It will also contribute to increased understanding of how Scottish Government policy impacts on the realisation of children's rights, from the point of view of children and young people themselves. It is intended that the research will help the Scottish Government identify areas for further participatory work with children and young people.
- 1.3 The specific objectives of the review were to collect, collate, analyse, review, summarise and present evidence on the views and experiences of children and young people in Scotland. The scope of the project was to consider research, consultations, reports and other relevant data undertaken by government, Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People, Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs), academics and the public sector on children and young people's views and experiences in Scotland.
- 1.4 The review includes evidence gathered since 2008 when the UK State Party's last report was considered by the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child. To be included in the review, engagement with children and young people needed to have taken place between January 2008 and April 2013.

#### Gaps in evidence

- 1.5 Overall, the review identified a wealth of evidence undertaken by a wide range of organisations covering extensive areas of children and young people's lives. This demonstrates a significant commitment to engaging with children and young people. A number of gaps in evidence were identified that would benefit from further exploration. The review analysed 273 pieces of evidence.
- 1.6 The review is structured by the seven UNCRC reporting clusters. These clusters are: general measures of implementation; general principles; civil rights and freedoms; family environment and alternative care; basic health and welfare; education, leisure and culture and special protection measures. Findings are explored in each cluster section and summarised in chapter 10. Key gaps in evidence are highlighted below by UNCRC cluster.
- 1.7 In the UNCRC general principles cluster, there was a lack of substantial and detailed information on: the experiences of black and minority ethnic children and young people and the impact of racial discrimination (see section 4.13); gender discrimination (see section 4.10); up-to-date experiences of age discrimination and whether attitudes towards children and young people have changed since 2008 (see section 4.5).

- 1.8 In civil rights and freedoms (see section 5.14), the review produced limited evidence. This would benefit from further exploration. Online privacy was an emerging issue and may benefit from further research. There was limited evidence on children and young people's views relating to physical punishment.
- 1.9 In family environment and alternative care, a number of gaps existed in relation to child trafficking (see section 6.32) and household substance misuse (see section 6.33). Further knowledge on the role of parents in children and young people's lives would aid understanding of the parenting role and how alternative forms of care can be improved (see section 6.37).
- 1.10 In basic health and welfare (see section 7), there was a lack of evidence on how children and young people are experiencing recent policy measures aimed at tackling health inequalities. Evidence gaps also existed around children and young people's personal experiences of poverty and homelessness (see section 7.58-7.63), as well as more comprehensive evaluations of sexual health education (see section 7.48).
- 1.11 In education, leisure and culture, further research would be beneficial into how young people, particularly those transitioning from school into employment or further education, are coping with the current economic situation. In addition there was little known about young people's experience of youth work provision (see section 8.43).
- 1.12 In special protection measures (see section 9), little evidence was accessed on children and young people's experiences of special protection measures, particularly in youth justice. This included specific areas: detention, children and young people's experiences of diversionary and pro-social projects; follow-up to the Children's Hearing process; youth courts; legal aid and advice and assistance; child witnesses; the age of criminal responsibility; remand and under 18s; criminal proceedings and sentencing.
- 1.13 Evidence was limited for several specific groups of children and young people. Across all clusters, there was less evidence that drew on the views and experience of younger children. This included children under the age of 5 years as well as those up to the age of 9 years. In areas such as alternative care, there was less evidence on the views of younger children: for example, those under 9 years of age.
- 1.14 A number of pieces of evidence did highlight the views and experiences of black and minority ethnic children and young people. Overall, however, these children and young people were underrepresented in the evidence in all the UNCRC cluster areas. Research was limited on children and young people's experiences of migration to Scotland.
- 1.15 The importance of transitions between services and institutions such as school, care and prison was shown by the evidence, highlighting the interconnections between UNCRC reporting clusters. Further exploration on the views and experiences of children and young people on transitions would provide further insights.

- 1.16 There was a substantial body of evidence on participation especially around Children's Hearings, looked after children and schools. There was, however, less evidence in other areas such as children and young people's views on family court proceedings or early years. More evidence in these areas would provide further insights.
- 1.17 The evidence has shown that children and young people's experiences depend on the quality of the relationship they have with professionals. This is an area that would benefit from in-depth exploration.

#### Recommendations for moving forward

1.18 The following recommendations consider ways in which the findings from the review can be taken forward. In addition to identifying gaps in evidence, several overarching issues emerged from the process of gathering the views and experiences of children and young people in Scotland.

#### Exploring gaps in evidence

- 1.19 The Scottish Government should consider areas for further participatory work with children and young people from the gaps in evidence across the UNCRC clusters.
- 1.20 Organisations and services working with children and young people should also consider if there are gaps that could be explored through their research, consultation and participatory activities
- 1.21 The low level of knowledge and understanding of the UNCRC among children and young people suggests that national promotion of publications and activities related to the UNCRC could be delivered more effectively. This could, in turn, have wider benefits including increased participation by children and young people in contributing their views.

#### Developing the evidence base

- 1.22 Large-scale quantitative surveys like 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' were valuable sources for this review. Continued investment in such surveys should be considered as one approach to gathering children and young people's views. For example, the longitudinal social survey 'Growing up in Scotland' is now engaging children directly and could be maximised as a source of robust quantitative information.
- 1.23 There is likely to be small-scale research undertaken in further and higher education on the cluster areas. Academic contacts were used for the search for evidence but it seems likely that not all evidence was accessed. Strategically gathering research findings on a regular basis would contribute to the body of evidence.
- 1.24 Research, consultation and participatory activities currently being undertaken by local authorities are under-represented in this review. There may be evidence that was not submitted due to time constraints or information

requests not reaching the relevant practitioner. There is therefore an opportunity for local authorities and individual practitioners to contribute their knowledge and have this work recognised and shared more widely.

#### Gathering evidence

- 1.25 The review found that some activities that involve children and young people were not always being systematically documented, recorded or reported so that they could be easily shared or disseminated. In some instances, this meant that evidence could not be included. This suggests that organisations could develop their approaches to documenting the views of children and young people so that the findings are accessible to a wider audience.
- 1.26 In some of the evidence, there was little detail about: the context for the research, consultation or participatory activities; information on the sample; or detailed analysis of data. Across much of the evidence there was little discussion of ethics (how children and young people are involved in respectful ways, how their consent was sought and how they are protected from harm). Including more methodological and ethical information within reports would help others to better understand and consider the findings. In addition, organisations would gain further recognition for their work.
- 1.27 Generally, improvements could be made in the collection and presentation of evidence so that it can better inform national and local policy and practice. Developing a stronger regularly reported evidence base would contribute to the Scottish Government's delivery of national outcomes and the implementation of the UNCRC.
- 1.28 The review found that there were different understandings of rights based approaches to services. In its ongoing work, the Scottish Government should consider how to work with both national and local organisations to demystify the rights based approach. Organisations should be supported to explore how children's rights span their entire service and are embedded in all aspects of children and young people's lives.

#### Conclusion

1.29 The review provides a rich snapshot of children and young people's views gathered by organisations between 2008 and 2013. As a resource, the review assists understanding of how policy impacts on the realisation of children's rights, from the viewpoints of children and young people themselves. At the same time, the review can provide a baseline for future research, consultation and participation activities.

#### 2 BACKGROUND AND RESEARCH AIMS

## **Background**

2.1 This review contributes to the Scottish Government's work to inform the UK's next report on the implementation of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC). Its purpose was to explore the experiences and views of children and young people in Scotland in order to input to the Scottish Government's contribution to the UK State Party's periodic review, due to be submitted in January 2014. It will also contribute to increased understanding of how Scottish Government policy impacts on the realisation of children's rights, from the point of view of children and young people themselves. It is intended that the research will help the Scottish Government identify areas for further participatory work with children and young people.

#### **Review objectives**

2.2 The specific objectives of the review were to collect, collate, analyse, review, summarise and present evidence on the views and experiences of children and young people in Scotland. The scope of the project was to consider research, consultations, reports and other relevant data undertaken by government, Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (SCCYP), Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs), academics and the public sector on children and young people's views and experiences in Scotland.

#### Methodology for review

- 2.3 A call for evidence was issued to a list of leading organisations, networks and email lists by the review team, the Scottish Government and through other networks. This ensured that the request reached the wide range of different organisations, services and research bodies that would have evidence on the views and experiences of children and young people in Scotland.
- 2.4 The review team sought evidence from research, consultation, evaluations and evidence from other participatory activities that reflected the views and experiences of children and young people. The evidence could cover any area of children and young people's lives in Scotland, their rights, well-being or services. The evidence had to relate to children and young people in Scotland, be in the public domain and provide information that would be of value to the review.
- 2.5 As the review was part of the Scottish Government's work to inform the UK's next report on the implementation of the UNCRC, the focus was on evidence gathered since 2008 when the UK State Party's last report was considered by the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child. To be included in the review, engagement with children and young people needed to have taken place between January 2008 and April 2013.
- 2.6 Evidence was gathered between March and April 2013 for the review and then identified by topic and applicability to a UNCRC cluster (seven broad

reporting clusters used within the UNCRC). The call for evidence generated over 326 pieces of evidence, of which 273 were analysed. These included reports, consultation responses, journal articles, evaluations and other forms of evidence such as short videos. While additional searches were made by the review team, the volume of responses and the tight timeframe meant that more evidence may be available which has not been analysed.

- 2.7 Certain evidence was not analysed or included in the review, as it: did not meet the criteria of being based on children and young people's views and experiences; was undertaken prior to 2008; gave insufficient information on their methods and ethics; and/ or was difficult to summarise for this review because of the nature of the evidence.
- 2.8 Some material did not state who was involved, how they were selected, methods and how the material was analysed robustly and systematically. Ethics were rarely addressed in reported documents (e.g. ensuring that due consideration was given to respectful involvement of children and young people, seeking to protect them from harm and enhancing their wellbeing).
- 2.9 In the analysis the review team took into account: how the evidence was gathered and its aims and objectives; the size and scope of the study; and how the data were analysed. A template was used to address these in order to ensure that evidence was analysed in a consistent and systematic way.
- 2.10 Evidence has been drawn from a wide range of organisations and therefore reflects different styles and approaches. It includes quantitative and qualitative data as well as outcomes from participatory activities that were not research or consultation based. Some of the studies drew on the views of relatively small sample sizes of children and young people, while others were Scottish wide large-scale studies. Taking these different approaches into account in gathering children and young people's views and experiences, the size and scope of the evidence has been noted.
- 2.11 Every attempt has been made to gather evidence from as wide a range of organisations as possible within a short timescale. However, the review team recognises that there may be other evidence which has not come to its attention. For example, small-scale but quality research is likely being undertaken in further and higher education, on these issues. Academic contacts were used for the search for evidence but it seems likely that not all evidence was accessed. In addition, there is also a range of participatory activities where there is not written evidence or work is still ongoing.
- 2.12 Attention has been given to ensuring, where possible, that the evidence takes account of different age groups, disability, ethnicity, geographical diversity, socio economic factors, sexual orientation and other areas that impact on children and young people's inclusion.
- 2.13 The review identifies where there are gaps in the evidence. In some instances, significant work was undertaken in these areas in the previous reporting period (prior to 2008) for the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child. In addition, some of the evidence noted in this review was undertaken

at the beginning of the relevant period e.g. from January 2008 onwards. This may mean that the social and policy context of the work has changed in the intervening period

#### Notes on the review

- 2.14 A child is defined in the UNCRC as being under the age of 18 and it is this age range which is the focus of the study. There are, however, some examples where specific studies have included older young people for example, care leavers or young parents. Where studies include this extended age range it is noted in the text.
- 2.15 The term 'children and young people' is generally employed throughout the review. However, where specific pieces of evidence are being discussed the terminology used by the authors is employed.
- 2.16 The review assumes knowledge of the policy context. Further details of policy can be accessed online through, for example, the Scottish Government, Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People and national voluntary organisations such as Children in Scotland and Together (Scottish Alliance for Children's Rights).

#### Structure of the review

- 2.17 Where possible, the methodology undertaken for each piece of evidence is briefly described before summarising key findings from that study or consultation. Readers are encouraged to visit the source documents for more detail.
- 2.18 The review has been organised according to the seven broad reporting clusters used within the UNCRC. These are: general measures of implementation; general principles; civil rights and freedoms; family environment and alternative care; basic health and welfare; education, leisure and culture; and special protection measures. (See Appendix A for UNCRC rights associated with each cluster.) Using these clusters enable comparison with earlier reports on UNCRC implementation in Scotland. A significant proportion of the evidence was not confined to one UNCRC cluster. Generally, evidence has been allocated to a UNCRC cluster based on its main focus and references made to interconnecting themes.
- 2.19 Readers can access supporting materials on the UNCRC through:
  - Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People http://www.sccyp.org.uk/
  - Together (Scottish Alliance for Children's Rights) http://www.togetherscotland.org.uk/
  - UNICEF http://www.unicef.org/crc/

#### 3 GENERAL MEASURES OF IMPLEMENTATION

#### Introduction

3.1 Children and young people exhibited a significant lack of knowledge about the UNCRC. An understanding of the relevance of the UNCRC appeared lowest amongst those with the highest needs and greatest use of services. The evidence shows that children and young people can articulate concerns and issues that affect how they exercise their rights.

#### National human rights institutions

- 3.2 Evidence from large-scale consultations and smaller qualitative enquiries indicate low levels of recognition of Scotland's Commissioner for Children and Young People (SCCYP) and the Commissioner's role.
- 3.3 The 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' Survey<sup>1</sup> asked 11 to 16 year olds how much they knew about the Children's Commissioner. Almost half (47%) said they had 'never heard of it'. Similar findings are reflected in 'a RIGHT blether' (2010)<sup>2</sup>, SCCYP's national consultation. Just under a quarter (24%) of the 74,059 children and young people participating in the vote had heard of the Commissioner.
- 3.4 Young Scot and the Scottish Youth Parliament (SYP) consulted with 58 young people from different needs groups. Across the seven 'dialogue groups', participants had very limited awareness of SCCYP<sup>3</sup>. A report by SYP<sup>4</sup> concluded that the young people were unsure about who was ultimately responsible for ensuring that their rights were upheld and how they would challenge violations.
- 3.5 An external evaluation of 'a RIGHT blether' (2011)<sup>5</sup> concluded that it had improved children and young people's understanding and awareness of the work of the Commissioner. Updated surveys with children and young people such as the 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey will determine whether this and other campaigns have been successful.

# Measures taken to harmonise national law and policy with the provisions of the UNCRC

- 3.6 Overall, children and young people expressed high levels of support for measures to harmonise national law and policy with the provisions of the UNCRC, with full incorporation being seen as the best way to ensure children's rights were upheld.
- 3.7 The Children's Parliament (2011)<sup>6</sup> organised workshops with 36 children from three parts of Scotland on the proposals for the Rights of Children and Young People (Scotland) Bill. All the participants agreed that the UNCRC should be something that everyone knows about in Scotland and 86% agreed with the statement 'Should the UNCRC be like a law that people have to obey?'.

- 3.8 Young Scot (2011)<sup>7</sup> conducted an on-line inquiry and three workshops with different needs groups. Fifty eight per cent of young people felt that the UNCRC should be given more force in Scots law. It was considered that 'due regard' for the UNCRC would not go far enough in promoting and protecting children's rights, with many arguing that the UNCRC should be fully incorporated. Workshops undertaken by the Children's Parliament (2012)<sup>8</sup> with 107 children aged 9 to12 also found support for incorporating the UNCRC into law. Children argued that this would ensure adults paid attention to it.
- 3.9 The consultation undertaken for SYP's Youth Manifesto<sup>9</sup> also demonstrated support for action. Eighty five per cent of young people supported the statement 'young people are entitled to as much protection of their human rights as the law can give them'. Consultation on the Children and Young People Bill by Young Scot and SYP (2012)<sup>10</sup> involved a national survey with 1,445 respondents. Over 60% agreed that the Scottish Government should be required by law to make sure that children and young people are aware of the rights given to them by the UNCRC.

#### Training on children's rights and the UNCRC

- 3.10 There was no specific evidence on children and young people's views on professional training. However, as can be seen throughout this review, children and young people reported the need for services to treat them with greater respect, fairness, justice and equality. Children involved in consultation by the Children's Parliament concluded that every professional working with children should know and understand children's rights<sup>11</sup>.
- 3.11 The evaluation of 'a RIGHT blether' highlighted the positive impacts resulting from the national consultation such as: schools signing up to UNICEF's Rights Respecting Schools Award; the use of the VOTE results to support future 'rights' activity; and the integration of materials and resources on the UNCRC and children's rights into organisations' own activities.

#### Awareness of the UNCRC among children and young people

- 3.12 The evidence indicates that awareness of the UNCRC amongst children and young people in Scotland could be significantly improved. Only 44% of the children and young people voting in 'a RIGHT blether' had heard about their rights and the UNCRC<sup>13</sup>.
- 3.13 Fifty three per cent of respondents to the Young Scot and SYP national survey (2012)<sup>14</sup> expressed a low level of awareness of the UNCRC, with 39% stating 'I've never heard of it until now'. Almost all the participants in the dialogue groups had not heard of the UNCRC, with some expressing uncertainty over what basic rights young people might have.
- 3.14 The 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey<sup>15</sup> found that a third (32%) had never heard of the UNCRC. Under half (48%) of 11 to16 year olds thought the UNCRC was for children from 'all countries in the world'.

- 3.15 Most of those participating in workshops by the Children's Parliament (2011)<sup>16</sup> recognised the term 'children's rights'. However, many were uncertain about what this meant in their day-to-day lives. This was confirmed in a larger consultation with 107 children aged 9 to 12 the following year<sup>17</sup>. Children had some awareness of human rights and the UNCRC, although this was often in relation to the basic needs of children in other countries. When rights were discussed this frequently involved either an attempt to repeat an article of the UNCRC from memory or rights were understood only in relation to responsibilities<sup>18</sup>. An appreciation of children's rights was lowest amongst those children and young people with the greatest need for services<sup>19</sup>.
- 3.16 Across these consultations, children and young people felt strongly that they needed to learn more about the UNCRC and how it affects their lives.

#### Measures to make the UNCRC widely known

- 3.17 While children and young people may not be aware of their rights as formally expressed in the UNCRC, consultation work undertaken since 2008 demonstrates that they are able to articulate rights based issues and concerns affecting them. These projects have contributed to making the UNCRC more widely known to children, young people and adults. Much of this work has focused on education within schools, indicating potential to extend measures to make the UNCRC widely known into other settings (i.e. youth clubs, homes, health and social care services, youth justice system).
- 3.18 The SYP Youth Manifesto 'Change the Picture' draws on 42,804 responses from young people aged 14 to 25 across Scotland<sup>20</sup>. It covers a range of children's rights issues: for example, equalities, learning and working, crime and communities, Scotland and the world, and rights and citizenship.
- 3.19 SCCYP's national consultation, 'a RIGHT blether', involved a national vote with 74,059 responses<sup>21</sup>. The key issues emerging included: the need to be safe and secure at home; to be treated fairly in places of learning; to be safe and respected in local communities; and to feel included in Scotland regardless of difference. SCCYP have produced a range of materials and resources (including a rights resource pack) to be used by professionals and for display in public spaces<sup>22</sup>. The Commissioner has also made numerous visits to children and young people's services across Scotland to promote the UNCRC and 'a RIGHT blether'. An external evaluation of 'a RIGHT blether' (2011)<sup>23</sup> concluded that the project had improved young people's understanding and awareness of the work of the Commissioner and of children's rights under the UNCRC. Specifically, it was felt to have had an impact on awareness of how children and young people can exercise their rights day-to-day and engage in decision-making processes.
- 3.20 The Children's Parliament Gathering in 2009<sup>24</sup> brought together children, young people and adults to discuss children's rights. Fifty children and young people used creative approaches to engage with adults whose opinions influenced education in Scotland. The Gathering was part of the Children's Parliament's 'big conversations' approach to overcoming the 'democratic deficit' of children having no say in the decisions that affect them.

- 3.21 There are also examples of strategies supporting rights education locally. The Children's Parliament 'Do the Right Thing' project in the Scottish Borders and Angus aimed to raise awareness and create opportunities for dialogue about the meaning of children's human rights between children, parents and professionals<sup>25</sup>. Children, overall, were positive about the project and enjoyed the opportunity to learn about their rights. Professionals commented that they would bring their learning into their everyday practice. Attempts to involve parents in workshops proved more difficult.
- 3.22 The 'Festival of Rights' brought pupils from eight local authority areas together with the aim of developing a collaborative approach to rights education (West Dunbartonshire Council, 2012)<sup>26</sup>. The programme promoted the UNCRC and educated participants on how they could promote their own rights and others. A DVD is being produced that will be made available through Glow (the online community for schools, supported by Education Scotland).
- 3.23 Children's services are also working with specific needs groups to make the UNCRC widely known. In 2012 Article 12 supported a group of young people from the Young Gypsy Travellers' Lives (YGTL) project to participate in a British Institute of Human Rights and Rights of the Child UK event<sup>27</sup>. This allowed the group to understand more about rights relevant to them and their wider community. It was also an opportunity for capacity building within the group and peer educating other young people about the human rights violations that the Gypsy/Traveller community face.
- 3.24 A further rights focused project was a partnership between Glasgow Association for Mental Health (GAMH) Young Carer's Project and Article12 in Scotland's PEST (Peer Education Skills Training)<sup>28</sup>. Most of the young carers had never heard of the UNCRC. They identified the rights important to them and created additional ones such as 'The Right to be Spoiled'. The young carers emphasised that government could take a more active role in making the public aware of the lives of young carers and improving the support they receive at school<sup>29</sup>.

#### Implementation and monitoring of the UNCRC

3.25 There was no evidence relating to children and young people's involvement in the implementation and monitoring of the UNCRC. Children and young people had mixed feelings over how public bodies were monitoring and reporting on children's services, when consulted for the forthcoming Children & Young People Bill. A majority of respondents (64%) to Young Scot and SYP's national survey<sup>30</sup> answered 'yes' to the statement 'Do you think that public bodies in a local area should be required by law to work together to ensure that children and young people's wellbeing is improved?'. Despite this only just over half agreed that 'public bodies should be required to put together and publish reports on how they're making sure that they're taking into account children and young people's wellbeing when delivering services'. Almost one in five (17%) had a more pessimistic response, arguing that such reporting would make no difference.

#### Measures to make reports widely available to public

3.26 During the 2007-08 reporting process, the Scottish Government made all related publications widely available, including dedicated versions for children and young people. There is no evidence how these documents have been received by children and young people. The low level of knowledge and understanding of the UNCRC suggests that national promotion of publications and activities related to the UNCRC could be delivered more effectively.

#### Remedies of infringements of rights

- 3.27 There was support for proposals to extend SCCYP's powers to allow investigations of children's rights violations on behalf of individual children and young people.
- 3.28 Sixty two per cent of respondents to the Young Scot and SYP national survey (2012)<sup>31</sup> responded 'yes' to the question 'do you think the Commissioner should be able to carry out an investigation on behalf of individual children and young people who contact him if their rights aren't being respected?'. This view was echoed by looked after children, consulted by Who Cares? Scotland, who felt that such investigations may help remedy complaints and issues directly impacting upon their care<sup>32</sup>.
- 3.29 The SYP (2012)<sup>33</sup> has, however, emphasised the importance of accompanying these new powers with a meaningful form of redress. Young people, for example, felt that complaints should result in suitable action being taken and that support during the process should be available. Furthermore, information on complaints procedures should be communicated in an accessible way.

#### Cooperation with civil society

3.30 The review identified little information about the views of children and young people on the relationship between the Scottish Government and the voluntary sector. The importance of involving voluntary organisations in working together to improve young people's wellbeing was emphasised in dialogue groups conducted by Young Scot<sup>34</sup>, with participants highlighting those projects that supported them.

#### Summary

3.31 The review found low levels of awareness and knowledge of both human rights institutions and the UNCRC. Large-scale initiatives have sought to improve levels of awareness. While the full impact of these is yet to be understood, they demonstrate the importance of rights based practices. Measures to make the UNCRC more widely known have focused on the educational sector and rather less on how well the UNCRC is embedded into the working practices of other children's services. Although 'child friendly' reporting is taking place, it is unknown how these reports are received. Overall, children and young people have little direct involvement in the implementation and monitoring of the UNCRC.

#### 4 GENERAL PRINCIPLES

#### Introduction

- 4.1 Children and young people reported instances of discrimination in spite of actions to mainstream equality. Factors such as disability, gender and race created further hurdles to inclusion, beyond age.
- 4.2 The evidence suggests that further action could be taken to ensure children and young people's voices are supported and heard, although there have been improvements to proceedings such as the Children's Hearing System. Advocacy was seen by children and young people to be a means of helping them speak out. Mixed experiences of participation were reported more generally, particularly at a community level where there were inconsistencies in engaging children and young people

#### Non-discrimination

- 4.3 Children and young people expressed concern about equality. In SCCYP's consultation with 74,059 children and young people, 'a RIGHT blether'<sup>1</sup>, 43% voted for 'help us have the same chances, no matter how much money our families have' and 37% voted for 'help everyone to include each other, no matter how different we all are'. These were the leading statements in their respective categories. The SYP Manifesto<sup>2</sup> has several statements addressing equalities, from not tolerating sectarianism, to legally equalising homosexual with heterosexual relationships, to improving and disability access.
- 4.4 Other sections within this report cover issues of discrimination and inequalities for children and young people affected by HIV (section 6.56) looked after children and young people (chapter 5), young carers (section 5.2-5.6) and young parents (section 6.7).

#### Age and image

- 4.5 Children and young people stated that they were discriminated against because of their age. Almost two-thirds (60%) of 11 to 16 year olds responding in the 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey<sup>3</sup> believed they were often or sometimes treated unfairly because of their age. Over three-quarters (77%) of 17 to 25 year olds believed this too. In the consultation for the SYP Manifesto, the same percentage supported the statement, 'The Press Complaints Commission should recognise ageism as a form of discrimination'<sup>4</sup>.
- 4.6 Other factors can lead to being treated unfairly. Half of 11 to 16 year olds in 'Being Young in Scotland 2009'5 thought they were often or sometimes treated unfairly because of their appearance (but only 33% of 17 to 25 year olds thought this). Most felt they had never been treated unfairly due to their gender (60% of 11 to 16 year olds, 64% of 17 to 25 year olds), the amount of money their families had (76% of 11 to 16 year olds, 71% of 17 to 25 year olds) and their religion (89% of 11 to 16 year olds, 84% of 17 to 25 year olds).

- 4.7 Young people also expressed concerns about how they were perceived. Workshops were held with nearly 200 secondary school pupils in East Lothian. Concern was expressed about young people's poor image in the community. Young people did not always behave well but the participating young people thought their poor image was unjustified<sup>6</sup>. The LGBT National Youth Council Manifesto<sup>7</sup> stated that young people were consistently viewed in negative ways in society (see also section 8.9).
- 4.8 Young Scot's pro-social behaviour project worked with five local authorities to challenge the myths that young people are involved in antisocial behaviour<sup>8</sup>. No reports on the project are available; however, they were youth-led, tackling the issues important to the young people involved. On a national level, Young Scot has stated that the project has made a major impact, with the Changing Perceptions (a short animated film on YouTube) receiving over 10,000 views, as well as support from celebrities such as Stephen Fry.

#### Disability

4.9 Disabled children and young people described barriers to their inclusion. Children and young people had mixed experiences about having their views considered (see section 7.52). They wanted to be treated as individuals, rather than adults focusing on their age or disabilities (from interviews and focus groups held for the National Review of Services for Disabled Children and Young People<sup>9</sup>). Public transport was not always accessible either physically or due to transport staff's attitudes, they had unmet needs for personal support, and they did not always feel safe to go out in their local areas<sup>10</sup>. Disabled children, and more broadly children with additional support needs, felt they needed more information and support for leaving school (see section 7.54).

#### Gender

- 4.10 Children held different expectations of gender roles in terms of behaviour and future jobs. For example, 95 boys and girls, aged 9 to 11 years from 4 primary schools, were involved in 'What's Gender Got to do With it' in West Dunbartonshire<sup>11</sup>. Children expected boys to be dominant and aggressive in their play, while girls were expected to have gentle play, affection and mothering. The children strongly defended the view that men and women should be able to occupy their preferred job, while seeing some jobs as carried out predominantly by men and others by women.
- 4.11 Research on health issues show disparities between girls and boys, over issues such as body image, physical activity and drinking alcohol (see chapter 6).
- 4.12 Inspection reports on prisons raise concerns about suitable provision for young women (see section 8.17).

#### Migrant children and young people

4.13 A study<sup>12</sup> of the experiences of Eastern European migrant children in Scotland with 57 children and young people between the ages of 7 and 16 years found that their experiences of migration were varied. Most adapted well when they moved to Scotland and this was particularly the case if children and young people were younger. Many identified that they kept elements of their culture but also took on new Scottish ones such as a Scottish accent. Their experiences were, on the whole, positive and they felt included with the quality of services key to integration. However, migrant Roma children were more likely to experience discrimination.

#### Race and ethnicity

4.14 Young Scot's Access All Areas project was a three year initiative which sought to empower young people from ethnic minority, asylum seeker and faith communities<sup>13</sup>. Working across 16 local authority areas, it sought to involve young people in democratic processes and promote 'informed participation'. The study found a number of barriers for the young people, including safety in local communities and unequal access to health services, education and employment

#### Sexual orientation

4.15 Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) young people found that a range of discriminatory practices and attitudes negatively impacted on them, yet had inadequate knowledge of protection by hate crime legislation. They report being bullied due to their identities and poorly supported in schools, leading to negative impacts for their educational careers and future employment (see sections 7.27 and 7.34). Concerns about bullying and using public transport were even stronger for transgender young people. The LGBT National Youth Council 2010 Manifesto advocated for marriage equality across Scotland<sup>14</sup>.

#### Young Gypsy Travellers

- 4.16 Young Gypsy Travellers identified that they experience high levels of discrimination. Article 12 in Scotland is the lead organisation undertaking work in this area and has developed a work programme led by young Gypsy Travellers. In an analysis of media coverage, it was highlighted that media coverage of Gypsy Travellers gave rise to discrimination and stigma and fed inaccurate perceptions about their culture<sup>15</sup>. Workshops run by young Gypsy Travellers in a school setting with 168 school students focused on awareness raising and conflict resolution<sup>16</sup>. Evaluation after the workshops found that 84% of participants showed a demonstrable change in attitudes.
- 4.17 Article 12 in Scotland analysed survey responses from participants at the Gypsy/Travellers' Lives conference in 2009 and from a range of other surveys<sup>17</sup> over a period of a year. The surveys' analyses indicated that raising awareness in schools, better provision for health care, education and

addressing areas such as access to sites for Travellers were necessary. Discrimination and being stigmatised were ongoing challenges.

#### Access to information

- 4.18 Children and young people found it difficult to access information they needed. Only two-fifths (41%) of 11 to 16 year olds responding to the 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey<sup>18</sup> could 'always' easily find information they needed (but 62% of 17 to 25 year olds could). Most young people reported they had access to the Internet at home for personal use: 95% of 11 to 16 year olds and 86% of 17 to 25 year olds. Mobile phone access to the Internet had grown rapidly, to 44% for 11 to 16 year olds and 37% for 17 to 25 year olds.
- 4.19 Schools, residential and foster placements are places that adults block social networking sites. In workshops run by Young Scot<sup>19</sup> with 35 young people aged 11 to 19 such blocks within schools were criticised, especially those that excluded sites with educational value like YouTube. This was also raised by young people in foster and residential care, where access to social networking was similarly blocked. Other barriers were identified, especially for those in foster and residential care. These included costs, limited usage times and difficulties gaining contracts in their own right. Language inaccessibility was a challenge for those who had English as a second language.
- 4.20 Young people found it difficult to access information on post-school opportunities. This applied specifically to disabled young people. Certain groups of young people also highlighted difficulties in accessing health services: i.e. young parents and LGBT young people (see sections 6.7 and 6.8).

#### Respect for children and young people's views

#### Advocacy

- 4.21 The Scottish Government consulted with children and young people on draft principles and minimum standards of advocacy<sup>20</sup>. Responses were received from 112 children and young people aged from 6 to 25 years with 88 individual responses and 24 from groups. The analysis of individual responses found that two-thirds had had support to speak out from adults including social workers, family members and advocates. Children and young people wanted supportive adults to listen, help and be kind.
- 4.22 Research was undertaken by young people to explore views on the Who Cares? advocacy service<sup>21</sup>. While small scale, the study found that young people were positive about the support they received.
- 4.23 A review of advocacy support for Scottish Borders Children and Young People's Planning Partnership involved research with 29 children and young people<sup>22</sup>. Most young people did not have support from an independent advocate but from a range of people including professionals such as teachers, youth workers, social workers, friends and family. Those that were older

emphasised that it was beneficial to share experiences and support each other and that young people needed to have opportunities to develop their confidence so that they could speak out for themselves. Young people emphasised that positive, respectful relationships were essential to helping them speak out. It was important to speak to people they trusted, who listened and respected confidentiality.

4.24 Although there are limited studies on children and young people's views on advocacy support, a significant proportion of the evidence emphasises the importance of having trusted adults help children and young people speak out whether these were independent advocates, other professionals or family and friends.

## Children's Hearings System

- 4.25 A range of research and consultation has drawn on the views of children and young people in the Children's Hearing System. Much of this has focused on the experience of attending Hearings, with a significant focus on how children and young people voices are supported and heard.
- 4.26 SCRA explored the experience of attending Hearings in a national survey involving 630 individuals. This included 232 (37%) of whom were children and young people aged 5 to 17 years, along with in depth interviews with 13 children and young people<sup>23</sup>. Overall, children and young people, along with their parents, were supportive of the Children's Hearing System and its key principles. They had a level of understanding about what happened in Children's Hearings, especially when they were older. Many were provided with support in advance of Hearings. The research found that there was a need for greater continuity of Panel members between Hearings, improved communication and support for younger children, a reduction in the volume of information and for Hearings to be less 'court-like'. Children, young people and adults highlighted that there was a need for greater awareness of everyone's rights, particularly children's rights.
- 4.27 Other research undertaken by SCRA involved 21 young people involved in the Children's Hearing System aged between 11 and 17 years. It was felt that the process was fair, even though they might not always agree with the decisions made<sup>24</sup>. There were, however, barriers to children and young people's participation and more attention should be paid to how decisions were explained. Most felt that their lives had got better and that the Hearings could provide the impetus for change. The majority stated that it was their own commitment to change that had the biggest impact.
- 4.28 In research conducted by Who Cares? Scotland for SCRA<sup>25</sup>, over 100 young people between the ages of 9 and 17 years across Scotland participated in an online survey. It looked at what worked well and what was challenging when attending a Hearing. The majority of young people did not understand what the advance paperwork meant. Most understood why young people attended Hearings and 69% said that they were able to participate in the Hearings. While both positive and negative examples of decision making were given, it was felt that the environment could be more welcoming and positive towards

- young people. Young people expressed a desire to speak to Panel members on their own and felt the use of advocates should be promoted.
- 4.29 Young people employed as Modern Apprentices at SCRA have undertaken research on children and young people's views in the Children's Hearing System. One study analysed findings from existing research and consultation (this included evidence already highlighted in this review)<sup>26</sup>. The analysis identified that trust, being listened to, respectful relationships and attitudes to children were important for children and young people. Children and young people expressed concern about how information and decisions were communicated and the language that was used. Further research considered the physical environment at the Children's Hearings<sup>27</sup>. In line with other research, the way children were greeted and the facilities could be more welcoming.
- 4.30 The Children's Parliament facilitated a consultation for the Scottish Government with 29 children who had experience of Children's Hearings<sup>28</sup>. Children talked about the way information was communicated before, during and after the Hearings and said that they often did not understand what was happening or the decisions that were made. The physical environment of a Hearing needed to be comfortable and welcoming. Children stated that there were too many adults at Hearings and they often did not know who they were. They wanted adults to listen to them and only be there if they were able to do things for the child. Going to a Hearing was generally seen as a difficult experience that could be intimidating and confusing. Overall, children wanted Hearings to focus on their best interests, listen to them, provide information and ensure that they were treated with respect.
- 4.31 A review was undertaken of the Legal Representation Grant Scheme<sup>29</sup>, which allowed free legal representation in Children's Hearings for children and young people in certain situations. Fieldwork was undertaken in 2008 with 23 young people aged 13 and 17, recruited from four secure units across Scotland. The young people thought such representatives should argue for what the young person wants, even if that was not in the young person's best interests. Some young people did not know why their legal representative was present. While some young people preferred having the legal representative speak for them in hearings, others also spoke for themselves. The main reason young people were dissatisfied with their legal representative was that they had 'just sat there' and not represented their views adequately.
- 4.32 A number of common messages emerged. These focus on the need to improve information and preparation, issues relating to the adults involved in the Children's Hearings System, how decisions are made and communicated and whether children and young people are able to participate fully and give their views. At the same time, children and young people did identify positive experiences with examples of good practice and support from adults.

#### Child contact disputes in court

4.33 Research<sup>30</sup> on contact disputes in court concerning children mainly focused on analysing evidence from children in court papers and questionnaires and

interviews with law practitioners and parents. Interviews were undertaken with a small sample of two children. A significant number of children whose views were analysed from the court paper sample did not want contact with their non-resident parent. Where there was no fear of threat or harm, children generally wished to have contact with the non-resident parent.

#### **Participation**

- 4.34 Children and young people frequently asked for improved participation in individual decisions about their own lives and in decisions that affected them as a group. For example, four out of five young people responding to the SYP's Manifesto Consultation agreed with the statement, 'All young people should be involved in the services that affect them and should have opportunity to get involved in local decision making opportunities'<sup>31</sup>.
- 4.35 Young people felt listened to most by their parents and least by politicians. Of the 11 to 16 year olds responding to the 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey<sup>32</sup>, 90% thought that parents took account of their views a 'great deal' or a 'fair amount'. A majority also thought teachers did (68%) and friends (87%). Only 24% of young people thought politicians did.
- 4.36 There was mixed evidence on the opportunities young disabled people had to express their views. In a qualitative study for the National Review of Services for Disabled Children and Young People<sup>33</sup>, the majority of the 65 young people involved in interviews and focus groups reported having enough opportunities to express their views. They did not always agree with the decisions made but generally understood why they had been made. Of the 91 children and young people answering the questionnaire in 'I want to be treated the same as my brothers'<sup>34</sup>, two out of five children thought their views were always listened to in school; a further half thought their views were sometimes listened to<sup>35</sup>. The results were lower for health professionals, where one in five children felt always listened to, and two out of five felt sometimes listened to<sup>36</sup>.
- 4.37 Two further studies drew similar conclusions. Four workshops with 76 children and young people aged 5 to 18 informed SCCYP's participation and principles for practice 37 and a group of 8 young experts from Voice against Violence worked alongside national decision-makers to influence policy and practice on domestic abuse 38. Children and young people reported positive and negative experiences of participation, at individual and group levels. Positive experiences were more likely when: there is a culture of honesty and respect; everyone understands why it is important for children and young people to participate; extra support is provided; children and young people can take part in ways that suit them and are optional; and children and young people are supported. Negative experiences included: adults assuming they know what is best for children and young people; inaccessible language used by adults; 'tokenism', when views are gathered but there is little evident influence on decision-makers; lack of feedback to children and young people. Children and young people valued the chance to speak directly to decision-makers.

- 4.38 This mix of positive and negative experiences of participation is illustrated by Community Planning. The SYP undertook a small-scale survey with 42 Members of the Scottish Youth Parliament (MSYPs) and other young people who reported genuine commitment in some areas to involve young people, while in other areas involvement was "tokenistic, indirect, sporadic or non-existent" Similar to the young disabled people cited **in section 3.31**, the survey results also emphasised that young people should be widely involved in issues that interest them and not just 'youth' issues.
- 4.39 Young Scot's Access All Areas project<sup>40</sup> concluded that increasing opportunities, access and participation for young people from minority communities were essential to tackle inequality and discrimination. Young people wanted to be better supported to be active citizens. They wanted more of a say in how youth activities were being developed locally and nationally and how they could be more inclusive and meet their needs.
- 4.40 The SYP's Manifesto asks for the minimum age for voting in all elections and referendums should be lowered to the age of 16<sup>41</sup>. Over two-thirds (65%) of the 42,804 responses supported this statement, although one-quarter (25%) disagreed.

#### **Summary**

- 4.41 Issues of equality, discrimination, access and participation affect all aspects of children and young people's lives. There was a lack of substantial and detailed information on: the experiences of black and minority ethnic children and young people and the impact of racial discrimination; gender discrimination; and up-to-date experiences of age discrimination and whether attitudes have changed since 2008. The survey of LGBT young people provides evidence of discrimination, across a number of sectors. Transgender young people disproportionately reported discrimination.
- 4.42 There was a significant body of work on the Children's Hearing System with clear messages on how the process could be improved. There was less evidence that explored children and young people's views and experiences post-Hearing.
- 4.43 Children and young people frequently felt that they did not have enough opportunities to express their views and influence decisions affecting their lives. Positive experiences of participation were heavily dependent upon the attitudes that professionals had towards children and young people and the quality of relationships that were established. Trust, rapport, honesty and respect were all essential in influencing children and young people experiences.

#### 5 CIVIL RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS

#### Introduction

5.1 Many of the issues identified around civil rights and freedom related to children and young people's use of public space, both in terms of feeling safe and freedom of association. The right to privacy was highlighted as important to children and young people, although they did not always follow formal advice on Internet safety. Young people were concerned about equality issues such as sectarianism, with social networking sites one of the main avenues through which such attitudes were transmitted.

#### Corporal punishment, inhuman or degrading treatment

About half of children and young people thought children and young people should be legally protected from 'being smacked'. Just over half (56%) of 11 to 16 year olds in the 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey<sup>1</sup> agreed with this; 44% of 17 to 25 year olds did.

#### Freedom of association and peaceful assembly

- Young people identified being afraid to go out because of the fear of violence. In the 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey<sup>2</sup>, over one in ten young people reported they were really frightened: 16% of 11 to 16 year olds, and 14% of 17 to 25 year olds.
- 5.4 LGBT young people had concerns about harassment in public places, when they were perceived as lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender. This was one result from the 2012 online survey of LGBT young people aged 13 to 25, which had 273 full responses and 77 partial ones<sup>3</sup>. Half of young people were aware of their rights under hate crime legislation and just over half (54%) would feel comfortable about reporting such crimes. Again, just over half (54%) felt safe and supported by the police. More than three-quarters (79%) of LGBT young people felt safe using public transport but only half (52%) of transgender young people did.
- 5.5 Young people wanted the 'mosquito' device banned (this device makes an unpleasant high-pitched noise that typically only under 25 year olds can hear). Over two-thirds (67%) of those responding to the SYP's Manifesto consultation agreed with this statement, with 18% disagreeing and 16% unsure<sup>4</sup>. As discussed in **section 8.10** children and young people have also reported feeling significantly restricted and disempowered by dispersal powers, orders which disperse groups of two or more from designated public spaces.
- 5.6 Children criticised school policies that made them stay on site over lunch, for limiting their personal freedom (see section 6.27).

#### Freedom of religion

5.7 Young people were concerned about sectarianism in Scotland. This is evident from the SYP's manifesto consultation<sup>5</sup>, where 79% of respondents agreed with the statement 'Sectarianism in any form should not be tolerated and every young person in Scotland has the right to live without bigotry. We believe that part of the solution lies in the education of young people regardless of their faith'. A further survey was undertaken with 65 Members of the Scottish Youth Parliament (MSYP) and an additional 34 young people from Glasgow's East End through Young Scot. Young people were asked, 'On a scale of 1 to 5, how big a problem do you think sectarianism is?' (with 5 the 'biggest'). Forty-one per cent chose 4 and 31% chose 5. Text messaging and social networking were seen as particularly problematic for sectarianism.

#### **Confidentiality and privacy**

- 5.8 Children and young people saw confidentiality as an important right. The 29 young people (aged 15 to 21) involved in three discussion groups facilitated by ChildLine in Scotland<sup>6</sup> understood this but were less clear about their legal rights in practice. The children and young people did not see confidentiality as an absolute right and did not expect this right to be upheld in serious situations. Children and young people thought that each situation needed to be assessed individually.
- Just over one in 10 (13%) prioritised the statement 'help us be able to keep things private' in the voting for SCCYP's 'a RIGHT blether'<sup>7</sup>. Over 70,000 votes were cast across Scotland, of children and young people at school up to the age of 21.
- 5.10 Children and young people also expressed concerns about confidentiality and privacy in regards to advocacy (see section 3.20) and health (see chapter 6).
- 5.11 Despite the legal requirement for young people to be aged 13 or over to open a Facebook account, young people reported having an account under the age of 13. This was found in small-scale research by the Children's Parliament for a study for the Information Commissioner UK<sup>8</sup> and by Young Scot<sup>9</sup>.
- 5.12 Primary and secondary school groups participating in the reference groups for the Information Commissioner UK's research knew about privacy settings on social network sites and general rules about 'internet safety'. However, they did not always follow the recommendations from school. Parents' views were central to what primary school children actually did but not for secondary school pupils. The research generated many questions from children and young people about information held about them by various services, and what control they had over it being shared, whether they could see it and whether they could amend it.
- 5.13 A report by Young Scot<sup>10</sup> looked at the issue of Internet safety in five participative workshops with young people aged 11 to 18 years. The Internet was part of young people's everyday lives, as was social networking. Like other studies, the young people reported understanding issues around

security on-line. However, safety messages were often ignored, with many young people having 'random' friends, accessing social networking sites underage and 'hacking' parental controls.

#### Summary

5.14 The review has produced limited evidence on civil rights and freedoms. The right to online privacy was an emerging issue and may benefit from further research. While children and young people were familiar with messages about online safety and privacy, they may have less information and knowledge about confidentiality and rights to information more generally. There was limited evidence on children and young people's views relating to physical punishment. Children and young people's right to assembly was affected by the fear of violence and by mechanisms which seek to disperse them.

#### **6 FAMILY ENVIRONMENT AND ALTERNATIVE CARE**

#### Introduction

6.1 Family environment and alternative care is an area where a significant amount of research, consultation and participatory activities have been undertaken with children and young people. This evidence identifies that children and young people have positive experiences of the services and support they receive but there are areas where these are not meeting children's needs. This was especially true for children and young people with higher support needs (such as young carers and those affected by parental substance misuse). Generally, children and young people stated that having their views taken into account in decisions that affect them was centrally important.

#### Support for children and families

#### Young carers

- 6.2 Children and young people with caring responsibilities continued to want more support. Three sources provide overlapping results. At the 2012 Scottish Young Carers Festival, 70 children and young people were involved in a round table discussion<sup>1</sup>. In an East Lothian survey of all Primary 6 and Secondary 2 pupils in 2011<sup>2</sup>, 31% agreed with the statement 'I regularly help to take care of someone in my family who is physically or mentally ill or has problems with drugs or alcohol'. Twenty young people aged 12 to 23 were interviewed, from across Scotland, for an academic research study<sup>3</sup>.
- 6.3 Both the Young Carers Festival and the East Lothian Survey found that children and young people wanted more support at school. They wanted teachers to listen more and treat them fairly, for the school to know more and understand, while respecting their privacy.
- 6.4 Children and young people valued their young carers groups. They wanted more of them and funding to be more secure. They wanted more help for their parents and themselves, including having someone nearby the young person could call upon and medication and medical equipment being in order and secure.
- 6.5 Young carers wanted to spend more time out of their homes since money concerns prevented them socialising, attending school trips and going onto further education.
- 6.6 See also **section 6.33-6.35** on children and young people experiencing household substance misuses.

#### Young children

6.7 Family members and friendships were very important to young children. SCCYP's 'a RIGHT wee blether' in 2011<sup>4</sup> found that 98% of children

- mentioned a family member and 61% mentioned a friend in response to 'who is special to you?'.
- A group of 9 and 10 year olds from six primary schools in Fife, with other young people as mentors, explored what children in the early years need<sup>5</sup>. The Children's Parliament facilitated discussions to inform the report, 'Joining the dots: A better start for Scotland's children'<sup>6</sup>. The children identified the following issues: adults should keep children safe and healthy; adults should help children learn and grow; adults should be positive about and respectful of children; and adults should provide a loving and caring home for children.

#### Looked after children and young people

- 6.9 Who Cares? Scotland undertook a consultation with 116 young people on the proposals for the Children and Young People Bill<sup>7</sup>. Young people stated that they wanted to be listened to and heard, respected and loved. Generally, young people wanted positive relationships that provided support. They highlighted the need for more support both preparing for leaving care and after they had left care. Correspondingly, advocacy and throughcare workers were important. Young people emphasised that knowing about their rights was helpful in resolving problems and concerns, such as having contact with their families, during Children's Hearings and at Looked after Children (LAC) meetings.
- 6.10 Research undertaken by the University of Stirling explored feelings of belonging with 22 young people aged 10 to 22 who were looked after<sup>8</sup>. Personal items were highly significant for young people's identities as they moved through placements. Young people's sense of belonging was affected by frequent moves and was influenced by the places where they lived, such as residential units. Being able to make spaces their own was important, as was a need for privacy, security and sharing activities. Having insufficient financial resources had an impact on their transition to independent living
- 6.11 Barnardo's undertook a scoping study of the rights of looked after children with additional support needs<sup>9</sup>. Fieldwork took place in 2009, involving a focus group with five children in residential care and interviews with five children in foster care. These children felt they knew their rights in terms of home and care but not in relation to additional support in learning. They had varied awareness of what to do if they had concerns at school, and wanted information to be accessible and understandable. They wanted support so that they could speak for themselves. They were concerned that they would be bullied if they were noticeably receiving additional support at school.
- A series of short films 10 11 12 produced by the Centre of Excellence for Looked After Children in Scotland (CELCIS) with young people from Who Cares? Scotland, the Debate Project and the group, the Voice of Reason consider a range of experiences for young people in care. The films emphasise the importance of the corporate parent asking 'if this is good enough for your child?'. Children and young people wanted to be placed near their families and that young people generally experienced too many moves. Children and young people wanted supportive adults in their lives who would listen to them

- and who could bring about change. Children and young people who had additional needs often struggled with transitions in adult services poorly supported. Another film<sup>13</sup> made by the same group highlighted that stigma around care continued to be a significant issue.
- 6.13 Local authorities have evidenced different activities involving children and young people who are looked after. Dundee Champions Board<sup>14</sup> includes representation from young people and this has resulted in the involvement of a wide range of professionals including teachers, youth workers and housing officers. East Lothian Council has undertaken a range of consultations<sup>15</sup> to explore the views of children and young people who are looked after. Findings from questionnaires completed by 88 children and young people highlighted that young people had positive experiences around being looked after which included feeling safe, being involved in reviews, having information and getting help from social workers. More challenging experiences included not being able to see friends or family enough, not being able to do activities they liked frequently enough and not having information about their family background.

#### Residential care

- Who Cares? Scotland undertook a consultation with children and young 6.14 people as part of its thirtieth year celebration in 2008<sup>16</sup>. The research focused on children and young people in residential care with 147 young people participating in an online questionnaire, nine in focus groups and 49 participating in one to one interviews with the majority aged 12 to 15. Over half stated that being successful was having 'happy and caring relationships'. It was also about avoiding particular negative situations such as being charged with offences, being placed in secure care or imprisoned. Some of the children and young people felt that they were not able to be successful because of a lack of opportunities. They told family members about their successes more than anyone else and wanted to stay connected with their family. Having increased confidence and skills in coping and anger management were seen to be indicators of success. Children and young people stated that it was important to have control over their own lives. Having a member of staff in a residential unit that they were close to was important in providing support and motivation. Being viewed negatively because they were in care was viewed as a barrier to success.
- 6.15 A more recent consultation<sup>17</sup> was undertaken by Who Cares? Scotland with 95 children and young people living in different residential placements purchased by local authorities. Overall, children and young people stated that their placement was positively impacting on their lives. They were able to identify benefits including safety and being more engaged with education. Generally they felt more motivated and confident and stated that they felt cared for by staff. Less positive experiences were reported around involvement in planning for their placement moves and in planning for their future. Those who had made a complaint identified that some felt their complaint had been responded to while others did not or did not know.

- 6.16 Who Cares? Scotland undertook a consultation with 51 children and young people aged between 12 and 16 in order to explore experiences around food in residential care <sup>18</sup>. Most children and young people identified that they were served poor quality food, wanted more consideration of their individual needs and likes and dislikes, and wished to be more involved in discussions and decisions about food related issues.
- 6.17 A short film<sup>19</sup> of a play produced by young people at Kibble Education and Care Centre highlights the positive and negative experiences of being in care. These include: love, care and support from residential staff; the challenge of being moved around a lot; realising that sometimes young people were better off in care; and the stigmatising nature of being in care. Young people who took part highlighted the importance of creative activities such as drama and storytelling.
- 6.18 The evaluation<sup>20</sup> of a pilot which considered profiling for the recognition of prior learning for looked after young people found that young people enjoyed the activity of profiling with increased skills and confidence reported. Overall, young people felt supported and there was increased awareness of career options.

#### **Secure Care**

6.19 Research was undertaken by Who Cares? Scotland on young people's experiences of secure care<sup>21</sup>. It was undertaken in 2008 and therefore at the beginning of the period of this review. It was based on interviews with 76 young people, with the majority of participants being male. Although staff were welcoming on admission to secure care, young people said that they did not get enough information or were insufficiently consulted about the move to secure care. Sanctions within secure care were seen as necessary but young people were unhappy about the methods used. Young people welcomed contact with families, although they were concerned at the limited opportunities. The majority felt their education in secure care was good with leisure opportunities provided. However, young people highlighted that they often felt bored. Exit plans were relatively unknown to young people. Some had access to throughcare workers and many had support from agencies and workers in communities or residential care once they left secure care.

#### Foster care

6.20 Who Cares? Scotland was commissioned by CELCIS and Scotland Excel to undertake a consultation with young people with experience of local authority and independent foster care provision<sup>22</sup>. Fifty two young people participated in either a survey or group discussions. Young people highlighted that their experiences were varied and not consistent in quality. They talked of positive experiences, as well as situations where foster care could have been improved. Young people wanted their views to be heard about all aspects of their care and to be able to input into decisions. Support with education was appreciated as well as being able to participate in activities and go on holiday. The help they received from social workers, carers and advocates was important, particularly around managing transitions. Young people wanted

their experiences in foster care families to be the same as other members of their foster carers' families. The study found that reasonable expectations in foster care were still not being consistently met.

#### Looked after at home

6.21 CELCIS published a summary of research messages on home supervision in 2012<sup>23</sup>, which highlights the small amount of research undertaken on home supervision. It draws attention to early findings from ongoing research<sup>24</sup> with 23 children and young people across Scotland, which found that children and young people welcomed the mentoring, informal coaching and other forms of support that Home Supervision Requirements (HSR) gave. Children and young people did not always understand why they had a HSR. Continuity and stability were important. Other research<sup>25</sup> from a study including interviews with 10 young people found that children and young people complained about the frequent changes in social work and other staff. Although children and young people thought that HSRs could have benefits in terms of access to resources, there was scepticism about their impact.

#### Kinship care

6.22 A study was undertaken by the University of Stirling and Children 1<sup>st</sup> that explored the views of children and young people between the ages of 11 and 17 on their kinship care<sup>26</sup>. Children and young people were generally positive about their experiences of kinship care and their new families, with no wish to return home. They were able to identify what had made the move to living with their kinship carers easier. This included their new carers being familiar to them, that the move had taken place over time, and that they only moved a small distance and did not have to change schools. They did not see themselves as different to other children and young people and found their new lives more stable than previously. Sometimes there were challenges in adapting to new approaches to parenting and concerns about the health of older carers. For some, unplanned meetings with parents were difficult, along with missing contact with some of their extended family.

#### Leaving care

- 6.23 A conference held in 2009 by the Debate Project brought together 40 care leavers round Scotland<sup>27</sup>. The vast majority identified that they felt negative when leaving care, often feeling isolated, alone and uncertain about their future. Young people identified that they needed better options in accommodation as what was available was often unsuitable. They needed access to resources, both financial and practical as well as emotional support. They highlighted that having someone to listen to them or give them some help made them feel more included and the support of workers was crucial
- 6.24 The Debate Project made a short film<sup>28</sup> about the experiences of young people leaving care. This identified the challenges for young people who have left care including: being placed in unsuitable accommodation; low levels of benefits; the ways in which young mothers who are care leavers were viewed; and having to deal with major life transitions on their own.

- 6.25 Young care leavers in their submission<sup>29</sup> on the proposals for the Children and Young People Bill from the Debate Project highlighted the need for the UNCRC's Article 12 (the right of every child to have a say in all matters affecting them, and to have their views taken seriously) to be implemented appropriately. They felt their views were not consistently heard in the processes which affected them. This had a negative effect on their feelings of power and control in their lives, particularly in terms of their accommodation needs and the relationships that supported them. They also highlighted the need for young people who were looked after to be protected by children's rights up to the age of 21 or 25 years. The young people strongly wanted a duty to be placed on local authorities to provide support to care leavers up until the age of 25. The response highlights the need for young people to be able to choose their named person and the need for services to be 'joined up' in providing services. Generally, young care leavers emphasised the importance of their emotional needs being met, alongside ensuring that their practical needs such as housing are addressed.
- 6.26 Eleven young people were consulted about their past experiences of living in residential care by the Scottish Throughcare and Aftercare Forum<sup>30</sup>. The consultation explored rules, sanctions and culture and found examples of positive experiences although the consultation's focus was to identify those areas that had been negative or restrictive. Young people talked about bedrooms being locked and not being able to have friends over for sleepovers. There were restrictions which impacted on relationships with friends such as having friends over for meals and not being able to stay with friends unless police checks took place. Taking part in activities could be hindered due to health and safety requirements. Overall, young people thought that there were too many rules and that these could provoke negative reactions from other young people.
- 6.27 An initiative<sup>31</sup> involved care leavers in the co-production of designing and improving leaving care services. Helpful and meaningful ideas for care leaving services were identified, for Argyll and Bute, from workshops focused on the social and emotional care of young people leaving. This approach was viewed as a productive approach that could be used in other settings.

#### **Child Protection**

6.28 South Lanarkshire Council surveyed children and young people involved in the child protection process during 2012<sup>32</sup>. This involved 29 children aged from four to 14 years. All of those surveyed were able to say who their social worker was and most knew why they had a social worker: being kept safe was identified as the main reason. Those who could not say who was their social worker were younger in age. Children and young people stated that their social worker helped them with problems with their family and over half said that it helped to keep them safe. When they felt unsafe, the majority would talk to their parents or other family members, followed by the social worker, with smaller numbers identifying their friends or teachers. The majority reported a good relationship with their social worker and stated that it had improved their situation. Over two-thirds had been asked what they wanted to happen and the majority felt that their views had been heard.

- The findings from the South Lanarkshire consultation are complemented by research<sup>33</sup> undertaken in Renfrewshire on children and young people's experiences of a child protection investigation. Eleven children and young people aged 12 to 17 years were interviewed. None of the participants knew what to expect at the start of the investigation and the majority did not know that it was going to take place. Generally, children and young people were dissatisfied with the investigation, due to the lack of information and little understanding about the process. The majority identified that the child protection investigation was positive in its impact on their lives and had views on how to improve the process. This included: involving children and young people more when decisions were being made; ensuring that decisions were carried out or reasons given why this was not possible; giving children and young people the opportunity to attend child protection case conferences; providing information throughout; and facilitating families' involvement.
- 6.30 The perspectives of children with a parent in prison were explored in a study commissioned by SCCYP. Interviews were undertaken with 11 children and young people between the ages of four and 14<sup>34</sup>. The research identified that having a parent in prison had a profound impact on children and young people. The majority heard about their parent being imprisoned from a grandmother, who was also highly important for support generally. Children were very concerned about the parent who was in prison. The impact of imprisonment was greater on the child or young person, if he or she lived with the parent previously.

# Child sexual exploitation

6.31 There was little evidence on the views and experiences of children and young people and child sexual exploitation. This was confirmed in a recent study which reviews current research and evidence undertaken by Brodie and Pearce (2012) for the Scottish Government<sup>35</sup>.

### Child trafficking

6.32 There is a growing body of research on child trafficking<sup>36</sup>. However the review found that there was little that looked specifically at trafficking in Scotland and no work was identified that took account of the views and experiences of children and young people.

### Household substance misuse

- 6.33 Few studies explored directly children and young people's own experiences of parental alcohol and drug misuse, instead relying on adults' retrospective accounts. Other work has directed its attention on understanding prevalence rates across Scotland.
- 6.34 One study by Gillian et al (2009)<sup>37</sup> interrogated the ChildLine caller database<sup>38</sup>. The work revealed the corrosive effect of harmful parental drinking on family life. Negative impacts included severe emotional distress, physical abuse and violence and a general lack of care, support and protection. Children living with harmful parental drinking could experience

- isolation outside the home, while stigma and secrecy prevented them seeking help. Children were found to employ a range of strategies for 'getting by' including assuming practical and emotional caring responsibilities and getting 'out of the way' of a drinking parent.
- 6.35 Hill's (2011) doctoral research on children and young people's experiences of living with parental alcohol problems revealed that even young children 'know a lot' and 'keep things hidden' for many different reasons<sup>39</sup>. The study emphasised the negative impact of parental alcohol misuse and the diverse ways in which the issue is experienced and managed. This diversity, the study concluded, needs to be acknowledged by professionals. Children and young people wanted their experiences to be recognised but did not want to be treated differently. They appreciated time out of the home, as well as interventions delivered at their own pace and in confidence.
- 6.36 No studies on children and young people's experiences of other forms of substance misuse were identified post-2008.

## Parental guidance and responsibilities

- 6.37 No specific research on children and young people's views and experiences of parental responsibilities was identified, although the broad topic of parenting is related to other issues such as health, household substance misuse and domestic abuse.
- 6.38 The 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey<sup>40</sup> emphasised the important role parents have in young people's lives, with 90% believing that parents/carers take account of their views a 'great deal' or a 'fair amount'. Parents were an important source of information about rights and were the most frequently mentioned role model. They were also cited as those with the greatest influence on young people's attitudes and as someone that could be trusted and respected.
- 6.39 'A RIGHT wee blether' (2011)<sup>41</sup> asked young children who was special to them. Family was the most common theme with 98% of all children talking about a family member. Children consulted in the Children's Parliament (2012)<sup>42</sup> workshops said that the Scottish Government needed to make sure parents fully understood children's rights and acted on them. Parents and carers were also identified as key people who needed to know about children's human rights. For the children consulted, having protective and supportive parents, carers and guardians played an important role in making them feel healthy, happy and safe. Children were also aware that parents and carers can have their own worries or problems and they might need support to help them care for their children.

### Domestic abuse

6.40 Domestic abuse is an area where children and young people have significantly influenced the policy agenda. Work began pre-2008 when children and young people were consulted on the National Domestic Abuse Delivery Group Draft proposals<sup>43</sup>. A group of young people subsequently met

with Ministers to put forward their concerns about services supporting children affected by domestic abuse, their experiences of services and their recommendations for improvement (Houghton, 2008)<sup>44</sup>. This work demonstrated the need for the voices of children and young people experiencing domestic abuse to be heard and taken into account.

- 6.41 Two key initiatives have resulted. The first is Voice Against Violence (VAV). Launched in November 2009, it involved eight 'Young Experts' with first-hand experience of domestic abuse and different services. Acting as 'critical friends' of adults in power, the group sought to ensure that children and young people experiencing domestic abuse in Scotland had a voice and were heard in policy making. The process of using a peer education model of participation has been documented in 'Question Time' The group produced research and other resources, including a survey on domestic abuse of 610 young people in Scotland VAV was actively involved in the National Domestic Abuse Delivery Plan for Children and Young People VAV.
- 6.42 The second is the service model, Cedar (Children Experiencing Domestic Abuse Recovery), which provides a therapeutic 12 week group work programme for children and young people who have experienced domestic abuse, alongside a concurrent programme for their mothers. Evaluated using an action research approach that embedded children and young people's views into the process (Sharp et al, 2010)<sup>48</sup>, feedback was positive. Following engagement with Cedar, children and young people reported a better understanding of domestic abuse and safe behaviours, greater ability in managing emotions and a positive impact on their relationship with their mothers.
- 6.43 More recent doctoral research has explored children's participation in child contact in cases where there is a history of domestic abuse. This research involved in-depth interviews with 18 children; however, its findings are yet to be released. An initial analysis has been published that focuses on the processes of participation and the 'weight' given to children's views. The research concluded that, while children's views were taken account of, often the process of voicing their opinions was poor. The research calls for more empirical work on children's participation in family law proceedings<sup>49</sup>.

### **Summary**

- 6.44 The family and caring environment had a critical role for children and young people, both as a form of inclusion and as a means of ensuring positive outcomes and well-being.
- 6.45 Looked after children continued to face a number of everyday challenges including being listened to and their views taken into account, stigma, a weak sense of belonging and identity and a lack of quality support. At the same time they also had positive experiences of care.
- 6.46 For all children and young people, positive experiences of home and family were closely bound with the ability to input directly into decisions about their care. Particular value was given to support and mentoring that was inclusive

and respectful of their rights. Parents were of central importance to children and young people. Where this relationship breaks down (in the case of domestic abuse or parental substance abuse) it becomes more important to provide quality care and support that understands their experiences, but does not treat them differently.

6.47 There were a number of clear gaps in understanding children and young people's own views and experiences, particularly in relation to child trafficking, sexual exploitation and household substance misuse. Further knowledge on the role of the parent in children and young people's lives would also be helpful to better understand the parenting role and to consider how alternative forms of care can be improved.

# 7 BASIC HEALTH AND WELFARE

### Introduction

- 7.1 Children and young people continued to report barriers to accessing health services. These were especially enduring for minority groups who often found health professionals to be judgemental, unwilling to listen and lacking in understanding for their situation. Initiatives for improving access were both creative and wide ranging but were not delivered consistently.
- 7.2 Much of the evidence on children and young people's health relied on quantitative surveys. They reveal continued concerns for children and young people's health, in regards to obesity, low levels of physical exercise and misuse of drug and alcohol.
- 7.3 Wider health issues have been considered in terms of child poverty and homelessness. Evidence on children and young people's own experiences in the Scottish context was weak. Using statistical measures of children and young people's standards of living is critical but does not provide in-depth perspectives on children and young people's experiences.

### Health and health services

## Health for all children (Hall 4)

7.4 The review did not identify research or consultation on Hall 4's implementation from the perspective of children and young people (a service review was undertaken but from the perspective of health professionals). Research, rather, has focused broadly on measuring inequalities in key health outcomes.

### Inequality of access to health services

- 7.5 The review did not identify evidence on involving and engaging children and young people in improving access to healthcare services. 'Better Together'<sup>2</sup>, a programme aimed at securing better access to GP appointments, did survey patients on their experiences; however, this included only one response by a young person.
- 7.6 There is, however, some evidence on how specific needs groups were experiencing access to health services. In the film 'Youth Voices' (2010)<sup>3</sup>, young people from seven different agencies communicated their opinions, expectations and experiences of health services. Young people were often concerned, embarrassed or worried about visiting their GP, particularly in relation to discussing 'taboo' issues such as sexual and mental health. In some instances, health facilities were unwelcoming, with receptionists acting as unfriendly 'gatekeepers'. Positive experiences of health professionals were those who were patient, understanding and took time to make young people feel comfortable. Young people felt that health providers could do more to listen and treat them with greater respect.

- 7.7 Consultation with 22 young parents living in Highland<sup>4</sup> reported that the attitudes and behaviour of health visitors, doctors, social workers were, at times, judgemental and prejudiced. This is a significant finding given that many consultees were experiencing mental health difficulties. Positive experiences related to health professionals who were supportive and had a friendly attitude.
- 1.8 LGBT Youth conducted a national survey with LGBT young people covering health issues. Initial analysis of the 350 responses (the report is currently unpublished) found that 2 in 5 considered themselves to have mental health issues. Fifty six per cent of LGBT and 48% of transgender respondents said they felt safe and supported by the NHS in terms of their sexual orientation and gender identity. Similar proportions of young people felt comfortable talking about sexual health issues with their doctor. While positive experiences were reported, young people identified problems such as health professionals assuming they were straight, not catering to their needs, or demonstrating a lack of understanding of the specific issues affecting them. Overall the experiences of LGBT young people may not be as positive as other young people, a concerning finding given the high levels of mental health issues.
- 7.9 The Young Scot Access All Areas project<sup>6</sup> found that young people from minority groups felt that there were a number of barriers that restricted access to appropriate health provision in Scotland. The young people concluded that there was a need to raise awareness of how to access appropriate health information, physical activities and health care services. Moreover, the young people wanted more say in how health services were developed so they could be tailored more to suit the needs of minority groups in Scotland.
- 7.10 Young people involved in the Scottish Young Carers Festival felt they were not respected by the medical profession for their caring role.

### Initiatives for improving access

- 7.11 Despite the inequality in access identified, the review found evidence of initiatives seeking to promote youth-friendly health services. There was, however, limited information on precisely how and to what extent young people were involved in these projects.
- 7.12 'Walk the Talk' is a service managed by NHS Health Scotland<sup>8</sup> and has produced resources with the direct involvement of children and young people. This includes a series of 'tip cards'<sup>9</sup> developed in collaboration with Young Scot's Young People's Health Panel aimed at communicating young people's needs to health care professionals. The key messages were similar to those in 'Youth Voices': health services should be more accessible and welcoming for young people, while health professionals should be respectful, understanding and non-judgemental. Young people wanted to be involved, not only in decisions affecting their health, but in the type and form of health services provided.

- 7.13 Action for Sick Children developed a resource pack<sup>10</sup> to address the lack of awareness that children and young people had of their rights and responsibilities in health settings. Produced with children and young people's involvement (no details on the nature of involvement was provided), the resource provides a structured approach to discussing healthcare services and healthcare rights with children and young people.
- 7.14 Confidentiality and consent were the themes of a Walk the Talk project in 2009<sup>11</sup>. This used an on-line survey with 146 children and young people and roadshow events with 140 children and young people to test a confidentiality poster for use in primary care settings. An important resource was developed and emphasis was given to the active role that children and young people can have in developing health services.
- 7.15 The review revealed other examples of active participation in health services, such as the Young People's Advisory Group, established in 2012 to allow NHS Lothian to hear young people's views on health care<sup>12</sup>. No publications or reports were available on this initiative.

# Mental health and well being

- 7.16 NHS Health Scotland commissioned a consultation with children and young people to contribute to the development of a framework for mental health indicators. This consultation involved 70 children aged from 3 years to young people in their early 20s with a range of experiences, including young carers, young Gypsy Travellers, black and minor ethnic young people, young people with learning disabilities and younger children 13. The consultation focused on what contributed to children and young people's well being.
- 7.17 In the NHS Health Scotland consultation, children and young people identified that they were not consistently listened to by adults. Family and friends were important for all the children and young people, as well as adults who they trusted and/ or who were professionals. Young people of all ages from three years upwards were able to identify a range of situations that they viewed as not being fair, including being bullied, excluded or being discriminated against as well identifying positive activities that they enjoyed such as being with friends, play outside and taking parts in sports and clubs and using online media.
- 7.18 The Scottish Health Survey<sup>14</sup> highlighted that the vast majority of children and young people (87%) were satisfied with their life, while 44% were very happy. Thirty nine per cent of children and young people often felt confident. A minority of children and young people always felt confident, with the figure for boys twice as high as that for girls between the ages of 13 and 15. The survey showed that happiness, confidence and feelings of not be left out have increased since 1994, when a measure of happiness was first included in the survey.
- 7.19 A study<sup>15</sup> undertaken by Highland Children's Forum on sadness involved 310 children and young people aged between 5 and 14. The children and young people identified that, when they were experiencing loss through separation or

bereavement, other family members were also dealing with these experiences as well. Friendships could change and their experiences of loss could impact on their school work. Children and young people stated that it could mean that they did not go out and that they could get depressed and their mental health would be poorer.

7.20 The Junction project in Edinburgh undertook a survey<sup>16</sup> of 115 young people aged 14 to 17 years. Young people thought that their lives had 'ups and downs' with one in 10 young people aged 15 years and ethnic minority girls feeling negative about their lives. Thirty seven per cent of young people thought that their lives were fine at present, while 18% felt positive about their lives. One in four wanted someone to talk to about family issues. When they needed someone to talk to, young people wanted skilled adult staff and confidentiality.

## **Healthy lifestyles**

## Nutrition and obesity

- 7.21 The range of evidence on diet and nutrition relies heavily upon two quantitative datasets. The Scottish Health Survey 2011<sup>17</sup>, surveyed 1,987 children aged 0 to15 in 2010/11 (13 to 15 year olds answered questions directly, with a parent or guardian present). The survey of Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC)<sup>18</sup> undertaken in 2010 involved nationally representative samples (n=6,771) of children and young people in school years: Primary 7, Secondary 2 and Secondary 4. While evaluations of locally based healthy eating projects have been completed, there appears to be less research and consultation on children and young people's own, everyday, relationship to their nutrition and health.
- 7.22 The Scottish Health Survey<sup>19</sup> found that almost a third (31%) of children aged 2 to 15 were overweight or obese and that obesity was significantly associated with area deprivation. This was similar to the proportion reported in the HBSC survey<sup>20</sup>.
- 7.23 The Scottish Health Survey reported that just over one in ten children met the recommended daily intake of five or more portions of fruit and vegetables per day. Mean portions have not changed significantly since 2003. The HBSC, meanwhile, found that just over a third (36%) of young people ate fruit or vegetables daily<sup>21</sup>.
- 7.24 Research using the HBSC survey<sup>22</sup> concluded that fruit and vegetable consumption was more frequent among children with high family affluence. Looking at trends between 2002 and 2010, adolescent eating behaviours in Scotland had improved, yet persistent inequalities remained. The research concluded that initiatives directed at more deprived groups are still required.
- 7.25 The HBSC survey<sup>23</sup> also revealed young people's feelings about their weight. It found that girls were twice as likely as boys to be on a diet or doing something else to lose weight. A quarter of boys and two fifths of girls reported that they felt too fat. NHS Health Scotland<sup>24</sup> conducted a small study

into the awareness, knowledge and attitudes towards healthy weight. Twenty four depth interviews were conducted with young people aged 13 and 14, which concluded that unhealthy weight is not readily recognised by young people. While notions of an 'ideal' weight are influenced by the media, young people (especially girls) primarily assessed weight through comparison with peers. In terms of how health professionals approach a child's unhealthy weight, young people felt this should be done in a manner that avoided stigma.

- 7.26 Other small studies have focused on the role of the school environment on improving children's diets. The Glasgow Centre for Population Health<sup>25</sup> assessed the quality of popular foods purchased by pupils from outlets near school. Many secondary pupils who ate out of school at lunch time buy unhealthy convenience food of very poor nutritional quality.
- 7.27 The 'Big Eat' was a pilot project in which S1 pupils in eight Glasgow schools were encouraged to stay in school at lunchtime, eat healthily and take part in activities<sup>26</sup>. The project included focus groups with children across all pilot schools and overall the healthy food offered was praised. Complementary activities were well received and encouraged many to stay on site over lunch. Children were less supportive of projects with stay-on-site policies, arguing that they were unfair and impinged on their personal freedom.

# Physical activity

- 7.28 Children and young people's relationship to physical activity was found to be strongly related to social context, both at a macro and micro level. Area deprivation influenced involvement in physical activities, as did locality, social interactions and personal relationships.
- 7.29 The Scottish Health Survey 2011<sup>27</sup> found that 73% of children met the physical activity recommendations including school-based activity. Area deprivation was significantly associated with physical activity levels for boys, but not for girls. Furthermore, fruit and vegetable consumption was significantly associated with meeting the physical activity recommendations.
- 7.30 In terms of encouraging participation in physical activity, research for NHS Scotland<sup>28</sup> found that young people were more attracted to group rather than solitary activities. They were particularly enthused by events and projects that involved them working with friends to achieve a goal, thereby making exercise an enjoyable by-product. More could be done to communicate guidelines for exercise better according to age and stage. Young people described themselves as more receptive to hearing messages from adults outwith schools than from teachers or GPs, both of whom were considered to be more likely to lecture them. Friends, family and peers were important communicators on physical activity.
- 7.31 Active travel to school was the focus of a 2009 study by the Child and Adolescent Health Research Unit<sup>29</sup>. Focus group discussions were conducted with 66 students from four primary and three secondary schools. Personal safety, weather conditions and time/distance were the most commonly

perceived barriers to active school travel. To a lesser extent, image, physical discomfort and aspects of the physical environment also prevented children from walking or cycling to school. Enjoyment, confidence and especially social influences all had a positive impact on active travel behaviour. The study concluded that the effectiveness of policy interventions depended on developing better understandings of these social factors on children.

- 7.32 Research explored the relationship between girls and physical activity. The Fit for Girls programme is a joint initiative between the Youth Sport Trust and sportscotland, aimed at increasing physical activity participation among girls aged 11 to 16 years. The programme was launched in 2008 and was delivered to all Scottish secondary schools over three years. The Child and Adolescent Health Research Unit undertook an evaluation of the project, involving a questionnaire to all S2 girls in year one and focus groups in four case study areas<sup>30 31 32</sup>. The study found that health and fitness was important to girls and enjoyment was high. However, participation was low due to barriers associated with perceptions and attitudes to sport. Overall, the projects at a local level had a positive impact on girls' participation and enjoyment of sport. Giving girls a 'voice' in sport, the study concluded, was critical in tackling the factors that impact on girls' participation and engaging them in PE, physical activity and sport.
- 7.33 A further study examined adolescent girls walking behaviours, experiences and attitudes<sup>33</sup>. Drawing on focus groups discussions and a mapping exercise with 27 adolescent girls aged 11 to 14 from one urban and one rural school in Scotland, it revealed walking to be an important component of everyday activity and social interaction. Social context was critical to understanding why and how girls used walking and the study concluded that public health interventions could do more to take account of this.

### Drug misuse

- 7.34 The Scottish Schools Adolescent Lifestyle and Substance Use Survey (SALSUS) survey<sup>34</sup> monitors the prevalence and trends in smoking, drinking and drug use among young people at a Scottish level. In 2010, 37,307 S2 and S4 pupils completed the survey. In relation to drug use, 21% of 15 year olds and 5% of 13 year olds reported ever having used drugs. Cannabis was by far the most common drug, with very few reporting the use of other drugs. Fortytwo per cent of 15 year olds and 16% of 13 year olds reported being offered at least one drug and similar proportions felt it would be 'very easy' or 'fairly easy' to obtain drugs. Friends were the most commonly reported source. Of those who had taken drugs, very few reported that they had felt they needed help. Around three-quarters of young people agreed that their school provided them with the advice and support they needed to take important decisions about drugs.
- 7.35 In 2011, Young Scot undertook consultation into peer-led approaches to substance misuse education<sup>35</sup>. The work involved a national survey, local investigation days and a national discussion day. The survey found that teachers and parents are the main educators, while peers and the internet were less significant. Knowledge of 'peer education' was low, yet young

people felt that this would be a positive way of learning about substance misuse, as would learning from someone involved in drugs in the past. While school was an important site for learning, young people also emphasised the importance of providing local services outwith educational facilities. Allowing young people to be involved actively in ongoing national conversations about drugs was also considered critical.

### Alcohol

- 7.36 SALSUS<sup>36</sup> provides comprehensive data on young people's relationship to alcohol. It reported that 44% of 13 year olds and 77% of 15 year olds have had an alcoholic drink at some point, while 14% of 13 year olds and 34% of 15 year olds had consumed alcohol in the week before the survey. While reported alcohol consumption declined between 1990 and 2002, this trend has ended and consumption in 2010 had again increased. The three most common sources for purchasing alcohol were friends, shops and relatives. Thirteen year olds were most likely to report that they usually drink at home, while 15 year olds were more likely to drink at someone else's home or at a party. Drinking outside had declined slightly but still accounted for around a third of all 15 year olds.
- 7.37 The Edinburgh-based Health Opportunities Team (HOT) conducted a survey of 428 children and young people aged 11 to18 on their drinking habits, attitudes to alcohol and access to information and support<sup>37</sup>. Drinking was a social activity for children and young people, normally associated with friendships. While perceiving a connection between alcohol consumption and mental well-being, children and young people were far more likely to identify with the physical consequences of drinking. In terms of support and information, children and young people favoured those services that enabled them to express themselves and to be listened to in a way that was relevant to their lives.
- 7.38 A visual resource by the Glasgow Centre for Population Health (2012)<sup>38</sup> aimed to look at young people's relationship to alcohol through 'their eyes'. The research involved eight activity-based focus groups with young adults aged 16 to 30. Excessive alcohol use was regarded as an essential part of being an adult. Distinct gendered norms around drinking also existed. Female respondents described collective drinking as a strategy for reducing the risks of male violence whilst intoxicated. Male respondents, meanwhile, saw the risks of drinking as exclusion from commercial drinking establishments and threats of violence or arrest.
- 7.39 The Scottish Youth Commission on Alcohol was undertaken during 2009<sup>39</sup>, involving 16 'youth commissioners' aged 14 to 22 in a year-long investigation into Scotland's relationship to alcohol. As well as study visits and discussions with experts, over 3,000 young people were consulted in two national surveys and focus groups. Young people, it was emphasised, should be co-designers of alcohol strategies, with methods such as peer education and Youth Champions suggested as a means of establishing a permanent voice for young people in alcohol related polices. Suggestions were made for further

- research on topics such as pre-loading, the leisure needs of different age groups and passive drinking.
- 7.40 The role of alcohol education was emphasised in the 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey<sup>40</sup>. Around two-thirds of young people reported that alcohol education at school informed them about facts about alcohol, while two-thirds of 11 to16 year olds said education had either completely or partly made them consider not drinking alcohol. Focus groups conducted by the Youth Commissioners<sup>41</sup> concluded that young people struggled to recall details about alcohol education at school. It was concluded that alcohol education needs to be embedded better within existing strategies for education about health and well-being and training for learning professionals strengthened.
- 7.41 'Peer Learning Through Dialogue: Young People and Alcohol' (2010)<sup>42</sup> is an action research project with utilises 'dialogic techniques' to tap into young people's knowledge, experiences and needs, enabling them to 'co-design' their own learning. Young people, they found, recognised the way in which alcohol in Scotland was simultaneously glorified and vilified. Not only could young people generate a high level of relevant knowledge about alcohol but they used this to develop sensible coping strategies for themselves and peers. The project was developed by a group of teenage volunteers, the AlcoLOLs, and two public relations researchers, tested in a local school, presented at the Scottish Parliament to policy stakeholders concerned with alcohol, and subsequently extended to a number of schools across Edinburgh.
- 7.42 Much of the focus on alcohol education has been on young people. The Rory Learning Resource<sup>43</sup> aims to help build resilience and raise awareness of alcohol with children aged 5 to 11 years and to explore issues surrounding parental alcohol misuse. It was piloted in West Lothian in 2009 and an evaluation was undertaken to understand how it was experienced. This involved evaluation sheets from 870 pupils across P1 to P7, as well as writing and drawing exercises. There was clear evidence that the resource was successfully educating children on the effects of alcohol and encouraging them to think about how to talk to someone if they felt sad or lonely.
- 7.43 The Lloyds Foundation for Scotland Partnership Drugs Initiative (PDI) has been heavily involved in supporting and evaluating work that the voluntary sector is undertaking with children and young people affected by substance misuse. Working with Evaluation Support Scotland and six PDI funded groups, the 'Reversing the Trend' project aims to gain a better understanding of how preventative approaches can measure change. The outcomes of this project are yet to be released; however, the consultation emphasised that projects must put children and young people's voices at the heart of evaluation methods.

### **Smoking**

7.44 SALSUS<sup>44</sup> found that among 3% of 13 year olds and 13% of 15 year olds were regular smokers. Levels of smoking are now the lowest they have been

since the survey began in 1982. Cigarettes were purchased from a range of places, although it was most common for regular smokers to get someone else to buy them from a shop -- often an unknown adult. Around half of regular smokers reported buying cigarettes from a shop themselves. Almost two-thirds of regular smokers reported that they had tried to give up smoking. There was evidence of parental influence on smoking behaviour. Regular smokers were also more likely than occasional smokers to report that their families do nothing or encourage them to smoke.

- 7.45 Research on physical activity<sup>45</sup> found that smoking was a barrier to participation in physical activity by young people. Young smokers reported that smoking reduced their physical functionality, while non-smokers reported that friends who had taken up smoking had given up physical activity pursuits.
- 7.46 Researchers from the University of Edinburgh undertook qualitative research into children and young people's understandings and experiences of second-hand smoke (SHS) in the home and car<sup>46</sup>. A total of 38 children and young people aged between 10 and 15 with close family members who smoked were recruited from both socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged area. The study found that children and young people are aware of SHS as a health risk and took an active role in resisting family members smoking. At the same time they resisted the portrayal of smoking parents as irresponsible by describing them as 'responsible' smokers. The study emphasised the need for public health responses to take greater account of children and young people's views and their role in family health promotion.
- 7.47 In terms of attitudes to smoking, the SYP responded to the consultation on the provisions of the Tobacco and Primary Medical Services (Scotland) Bill<sup>47</sup>. The responses from an on-line survey of 83 young people found that 64% of respondents would be in favour of a ban on cigarette vending machines and 54% supported a ban on displays of tobacco products. Young people were strongly in favour of banning shopkeepers who sell cigarettes to underage young people. The SYP also consulted young people on standardised packaging of tobacco products<sup>48</sup>. It was agreed that tobacco companies should have to prohibit the use of logos, colours, brand images and promotional information on packaging to make tobacco smoking less appealing to young people. There was also support for a change in the law to require standardised packaging for tobacco products.

### Sexual health

7.48 The Scottish HBSC study<sup>49</sup> collects data from 15 year olds (S4) on reported sexual intercourse and contraception use. Friends and school were the most popular sources of information on sexual matters, with boys utilising the internet more than girls. Approximately three quarters of 15 year olds reported that it was easiest to discuss personal and sexual matters with friends. Almost a third of 15 year olds said that they have had sexual intercourse, with girls (35%) more likely to report sexual intercourse than boys (27%). Finally, the proportion of 15 year olds who used a condom during last intercourse increased between 2002 and 2006, from 70% to 79%, but then dropped to 72% in 2010.

- 7.49 No information was identified on young people's views and experiences of sexual health services Scotland. However, Healthy Respect is currently seeking the views of young people on why they do or do not access sexual health services. This forthcoming consultation is particularly interested in the views of young people who are less likely to attend a service, and who may be more vulnerable to poor sexual health outcomes<sup>50</sup>.
- 7.50 The SYP consulted 30 MSYPs aged 15 to 23 on National Guidance: Underage Sexual Activity<sup>51</sup>. The majority felt that whether under-age sexual activity was reported as a child protection issue depended on the particular situation. Most also felt that youth workers or practitioners should be able to support young people without the prior consent or knowledge of their parent or guardian. Eighty per cent were in favour of the minimum age remaining at 16.

# Survival and development

7.51 The review found little evidence on this topic.

# Disabled children and young people

- 7.52 A large minority of disabled children and young people did not feel listened to by health professionals. Out of 91 children and young people with disabilities and/ or long term conditions responding to a self-report questionnaire, only one-fifth of children and young people felt always listened to, and two-fifths felt sometimes listened to<sup>52</sup>.
- 7.53 Respondents who received personal support in schools welcomed it but felt they needed more support. Children and young people reported having insufficient personal support outwith school, to support respondents' friendships and socialising particularly in public spaces. Disabled children and young people often had to rely on parental support, which undermined their autonomy<sup>53</sup>.
- 7.54 Young disabled people were concerned about transitions from school. Young people involved in the 'Doran Review on Learning Provision for Children and Young People with Complex Additional Support Needs' thought care packages were complicated and insufficient to meet their needs<sup>54</sup>. Generally, young people with additional support needs wanted more information about post-school options<sup>55</sup>.
- 7.55 McConkey (2011) evaluated Action for Children's short breaks services in Glasgow, Edinburgh and Cardiff<sup>56</sup>. These services were for families whose children, up to the age of 19, had developmental disabilities and severely challenging behaviour. Five young people were interviewed, who used these services, and seven more children were observed. The report gives no further information about where the children were located. These young people reported enjoying the activities they experienced while on short breaks and the relationships they had with staff. The young people missed their families, being away from home and possessions.

### **HIV and AIDS**

Post-2008 research and consultation relating to children and young people's awareness and experiences of HIV and AIDs was extremely limited. One recent article<sup>57</sup> charts the health and social care needs of children and young people infected with, and affected by, HIV in Scotland. This included interviews with five children and young people infected with HIV and seven children and young people affected by parental HIV. The 'infected' children and young people sought to present themselves, their lives and HIV as 'normal'. This was judged to be an indicator of the presence of stigma. Significantly, none of the children and young people was able to talk about their illness outside a very small, strictly defined zone of safety. The 'affected' children and young people said that they lived with fear and uncertainty yet they also wanted to be seen as 'normal'. There was a consensus amongst all the children and young people that universal and specialist support should be available. The study concluded that given cuts to public resources it is difficult to envisage a future in which the needs of these children and young people will be prioritised.

## Standard of living

7.57 Evidence of children's and young people's views and experiences of child poverty and homelessness was scarce, with much of the available data being UK wide or based on statistical indicators.

# Child poverty

- 7.58 The Scottish Health Survey found that the general health of most children aged 0 to 15 was reported to be 'good' or 'very good' (95%) in 2010/2011. However, a statistically significant association between deprivation and the prevalence of long-term health conditions was identified.
- 7.59 One forthcoming study is being undertaken by Demos<sup>58</sup>. The first large-scale analysis of Scottish families' experiences of multiple disadvantage, it is using focus groups, diary-prompted interviews and ethnography to develop detailed knowledge of the challenges of families (including children and young people) suffering from multiple disadvantages.
- 7.60 The SYP (2009) have involved young people in their campaigns against poverty by undertaking on-line focus group to inform their response to Ending Child Poverty: Making it Happen<sup>59</sup>. Respondents agreed that ending child poverty must go beyond providing simplistic solutions such as providing employment. Childcare and support to disabled young people was highlighted as critical. Scotland should focus on children's public services and community safety as a means of reducing poverty in the Scottish context. In workshops held by the Children's Parliament (2012), 60 children said that stopping poverty would enable children to have their rights. Children also reported worrying that their family does not have enough money to pay bills and buy essential household items.

### Homelessness

- 7.61 The Scottish Parliament's Equal Opportunities Committee undertook an extensive evidence review of how to prevent homelessness amongst young people<sup>61</sup>. Only a small amount of research and consultation involved children and young people experiences of homelessness was identified.
- 7.62 One such study was by Shelter Scotland (2011)<sup>62</sup>, which surveyed 145 young homeless people (aged 16 to 24) across Scotland about their experiences of running away before they were 16. It found that young people who run away were at particular risk of experiencing homelessness later in life. Many had run away after being forced to leave and had run away multiple times. A large proportion had slept rough and reported issues at home, school and feelings of safety as factors influenced their behaviour.
- 7.63 Young people participating in the SYP Manifesto showed support for greater support to homeless children and young people, with 88% agreeing with the statement, "No child or young person should have to live without a home. More support must be given to those who are homeless [...]"63

# **Summary**

- 7.64 Children and young people, especially those from minority groups, continued to face barriers in accessing and using health services. Moreover, there is a lack of evidence on how, and to what extent, children and young people are experiencing recent policy measures aimed at tackling health inequalities.
- 7.65 Social context was important to children and young people's health. Physical exercise, nutrition and substance misuse were all closely connected to children and young people's geographical and social spaces. Deprivation continued to heavily influence health along with other factors such as social relationships impacting on individual health decisions (such as whether to participate in physical activity or consumption of alcohol). Peer education activities have focused on young people's relationship to alcohol and are a model for involving children and young people in co-designing their own health education.
- 7.66 Evidence gaps relate to children and young people's personal experiences of poverty and homelessness, as well as more comprehensive evaluations of sexual health education.
- 7.67 The evidence showed certain inequalities in access and/or outcomes for certain groups, such as LGBT young people and young parents.

# 8 EDUCATION, LEISURE AND CULTURE

### Introduction

8.1 Children and young people were happy at school overall. Both the staff and the physical spaces available for learning influenced these experiences. Support in education, both in and out of school, was important to children and young people, especially for those groups with higher support needs. There was a lack of quality advice, support and training available to young people making the transition out of school, as well as concern about the costs of further and higher education. Play and socialisation was particularly significant to children and young people.

## Education including vocational training and guidance

### School education

- 8.2 Over half of secondary school pupils found their school days happy<sup>1</sup>. Of the 11 to16 year old pupils responding to the 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey, 53% made this response in 2009, compared to 60% in 2007. Agreement was higher amongst 17 to 25 year olds (59%), slightly more than the 57% in 2007. In an East Lothian survey of all Primary 6 and Secondary 2 pupils in 2012/13², pupils reported high satisfaction with such questions as 'they have learned a lot in school' (98% in P6 and 96% in S2), and 'they enjoy being at school (89% in P6 and 83% in S2).
- 8.3 Disabled children and young people were also positive about school. The Long Term Conditions Alliance, Scotland and Scotland's Disabled Children Liaison Project<sup>3</sup> consulted with 91 disabled children and young people. About half said they were very or extremely happy at school, only slightly lower than the European average in the KIDSCREEN data which uses self-report measures to assess health and well-being. However, those who required help in school felt they needed more support to socialise with friends and take part in activities. Almost all of the children and young people with complex additional support needs involved in the focus groups for the Doran review<sup>4</sup> reported feeling safe and well cared for in their schools.
- 8.4 Looked after children reported positive attitudes towards school. For example, in one local authority, three-quarters of 30 looked after children interviewed<sup>5</sup> stated that they enjoyed school and attended almost all the time. A higher proportion in foster care reported attending regularly, than those living in residential care.
- 8.5 In consultations over the Curriculum for Excellence<sup>6</sup>, young people were involved in a range of group workshops (over 170 young people) and 29 responded to an on-line questionnaire. The young people supported the four capacities of the Curriculum for Excellence, arguing that learning was improved by cross-curricular connections, motivated teachers and a conducive atmosphere.

- 8.6 Both academic and vocational learning were advocated in the Curriculum for Excellence consultation<sup>7</sup>, by SYP<sup>8</sup> and by 'Listen and Learn' sessions held in East Lothian Council with over 200 young people<sup>9</sup>. Common themes were the need to improve and extend work experience, making more connections with employers, and better preparation for employment.
- 8.7 Children and young people stated that schools were good places for them to learn about information rights. In reference groups for research for the Information Commissioner UK<sup>10</sup>, both primary and secondary school groups advised this.
- 8.8 Children and young people noted the importance of a school's physical environment. For example, the Children's Parliament facilitated workshops with 71 children and young people in primary and secondary schools, and involved 160 in peer research<sup>11</sup>. Learning environments needed to be comfortable, light, spacious and airy. Open plan spaces, stated children and young people, could be difficult for concentration due to noise. Noise in mainstream classes was also noted by children with complex additional needs in the interviews conducted for the Doran Review<sup>12</sup>. Children and young people in eight out of the nine schools, though, liked their building's quality and their learning environments.
- 8.9 Staff were vital to children and young people's experiences of school. For example, children and young people with complex additional support needs involved in the Doran Review<sup>13</sup> felt school staff listened to them and valued their views. The most helpful staff were those children interacted with daily and who supported them. Mutually respectful relationships were appreciated, by children and young people involved with the Children's Parliament<sup>14</sup>. Most children and young people knew someone at school they could go to with a concern<sup>15</sup>.
- 8.10 Some groups of children and young people reported stigma or fear of stigma at school: i.e., young carers (**see section 5.3**), who are looked after<sup>16</sup>, who were involved with child protection, who are from Gypsy Traveller communities (**see section 3.16**), and/or who are lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender (**see section 3.14**).
- 8.11 While most looked after children and young people reported support for school, not all did. Of 30 children and young people interviewed in one local authority<sup>17</sup>, 18 said at least one person asked them about school on a regular basis. Just over half (16) could identify at least one person who was proud of their achievements. Under half of the children and young people who received homework said they had no one to help them with their homework. One-quarter did not have a quiet space to study where they lived these children and young people tended to live in residential units. More positive results were found in the viewpoint questionnaire undertaken annually in East Lothian Council. For example, of the 27 respondents in 2012<sup>18</sup>, over three-quarters reported a carer helping them with their homework.
- 8.12 Young carers wanted more support in school (see 5.3).

### Behaviour in school

8.13 Young people could be critical of other young people's 'bad' behaviour at school. For example, secondary school pupils in East Lothian criticised what they saw as preferential treatment of those who behaved badly in school. This view was expressed in the workshops held in 3 secondary schools, which included 'hard to reach' young people, school council members and senior pupils as part of their 'Listen and Learn' strategy<sup>19</sup>.

### School uniforms

- 8.14 Young people wanted a school uniform that was comfortable and affordable. Responding to a SYP online survey in 2012<sup>20</sup> that received 151 responses, 72% supported a Public Petition on reforming uniform policy. One-third of young people wanted the policy to be enforced strictly, while 41% thought some personal choice and flexibility should be allowed. Responses varied on whether the uniform policy should be 'gender-specific', with acknowledgement that boys wearing a traditionally female uniform item might well be bullied.
- 8.15 Just over half (55%) of young people reported being consulted on their school uniform policy. About one-quarter (26%) of these young people reported changes being made as a result of such consultation.

# Participation in school

- 8.16 Most secondary school pupils felt teachers took account of their views. Over two-thirds (68%) of those responding to the 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey felt teachers took account of their views a great deal or a fair amount. Just under one in five (17%) young people prioritised the statement 'help improve the ways our ideas are listened to, and acted on' in 'where we learn', within the voting of SCCYP 'a Right blether'<sup>21</sup>.
- 8.17 Approximately 100 children and young people were involved in case study research, as part of a larger study of pupil participation<sup>22</sup>. Children and young people valued participation, from interactive learning to contributing to the wider community and formal decision-making. They wanted to contribute to curricular choices, evaluating teaching and school planning. Children and young people could give examples where their participation had resulted in changes (such as the behaviour policy). Participation engendered ownership and pride in their school communities.
- 8.18 Primary schools were reported to have more participative opportunities than secondary schools<sup>23</sup>. A difference can also be seen in pupil responses in the East Lothian survey 2012/13<sup>24</sup>: 88% of P6 pupils agreed that 'they contribute to how decisions are made in schools' while only 68% of S2 pupils agreed.

### Pupil (or school) councils

8.19 Large-scale quantitative and qualitative research was undertaken on pupil (or school) councils in Scotland, involving a survey of all secondary, special and independent schools and a representative sample of primary schools, and six

case studies<sup>25</sup>. According to pupil councillors, pupil councils were to represent pupils' views and make their schools better. This contrasted with adult advisers to pupil councils, who focused more on processes than outcomes. Pupil councils discussed, made decisions and had an impact on a number of issues – from play areas to snacks to school uniforms. They were rarely involved in teaching matters. Pupil councillors reported having little training for their roles.

- 8.20 Communication between the pupil council and the wider community was often seen as irregular and ineffective. From the case study surveys of pupils not on councils, two-thirds wanted more information from and about their pupil council. Most of these pupils (59%) thought their pupil council tried to make school a better place but only a third (34%) thought their pupil council actually did.
- 8.21 Pupil councils thought they did not achieve their goals because of: lack of money, lack of time, irregular attendance by pupil councillors or adult advisers, and 'being let down by schools'.

# **Bullying**

- 8.22 Children and young people were aware of school-based initiatives generally to tackle bullying but initiatives were not always successful.
- 8.23 Research undertaken by the Scottish Borders Youth Commission<sup>26</sup> found varied practice across schools, in prevention, management and recording of bullying incidents. Young people undertook the research for the Commission, which involved a range of methods and over 500 children and young people. Key recommendations and findings of the Youth Commissioner were:
  - To amend current definitions of bullying that require intent and aggression. Labelling people as 'bullies' and 'victims' was unhelpful.
  - To include parents, pupils and school staff<sup>27</sup> in a whole school approach.
  - To target prejudice-based bullying specifically and to promote diversity positively.
  - To explore appropriate consequences and responses for children and young people demonstrating bullying behaviour.
  - To develop understanding of cyber bullying. Staff and young people were not confident discussing cyber bullying.
- 8.24 Responding to a respectme survey of children and young people aged 8 to 19 across 29 Scottish local authorities<sup>28</sup>, 16% reported being cyberbullied. Most (63%) knew who had done this and in 40% of these occasions the bullying carried on into school. A quarter of respondents were worried about cyberbullying when they were online.
- 8.25 For most of the 35 participants (aged 11 to18 years) speaking to Young Scot on child Internet safety<sup>29</sup>, the term 'cyberbullying' was familiar. Some had experienced it and most felt they knew how to report concerns online.

- 8.26 In contrast to generalised bullying initiatives in schools, initiatives to address homophobia, biphobia and transphobia were not well known to young people. When responding to a questionnaire for LGBT young people<sup>30</sup>, less than one third (31%) were aware that antiphobia education had been introduced in schools. Just under half of the young people said they would not feel confident reporting such bullying.
- 8.27 Certain groups of children and young people were particularly concerned about being bullied. Over two-thirds (69%) of LGBT young people responding to a survey<sup>31</sup> had experienced homophobic or biphobic bullying at school. The results for transphobic bullying were even higher. This negatively impacted on their education and employment experiences.
- 8.28 Looked after children reported bullying. Of the 30 young people interviewed in one local authority, just under half said they had been bullied<sup>32</sup>.

# Post-School: Information and guidance, further and higher education, vocational training and work experience

- 8.29 From the 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey<sup>33</sup>, three-quarters (74%) of 11 to 16 year olds and two-thirds (65%) of 17 to 25 year olds thought their job prospects were good in 2009. This is higher than comparable figures for 2005 and 2007.
- 8.30 Young people wanted more information and preparation about post-school options and more quality and substantial work experience<sup>34</sup>. For example, employment was the most prevalent concern in the workshops held in East Lothian council, with nearly 200 secondary school pupils<sup>35</sup>. Of the 74,059 children and young people voting in SCCYP's consultation 'a RIGHT blether'<sup>36</sup>, 40% voted for the statement 'help to create more experiences for us to learn skills for jobs'.
- 8.31 The SYP highlighted issues in its Manifesto, and subsequent sittings<sup>37</sup>. Careers services were described as patchy and inconsistent. Information from Skills Development Scotland should be promoted, as it was positively received by those who had accessed it. More than education should be valued: for example, apprenticeships and training should be promoted. The Scottish Government's 'Opportunities for All' guarantee of a place in education and training, for all 16-19 year olds, was welcomed.
- 8.32 Young people expressed concerns about tuition fees and associated costs of attending further education and/or university. For example, this was a frequent concern raised by young people within, and consulted by, the SYP<sup>38</sup>.
- 8.33 Employers should be more involved in supporting young people. For example, 143 young people responded to a SYP survey online, followed by a Scottish Government consultation event<sup>39</sup>. Young people suggested that employers should ask whether a job actually needs a degree. Businesses should sponsor more students in education.

- 8.34 LGBT young people faced particular challenges. From the results of a survey of LGBT young people<sup>40</sup>, poor experiences of school led to lowered confidence, poor attendance and/or leaving early. Those young people aged 16 and above were worried about workplace discrimination. Under one in five (19%) of LGBT young people not in education were unemployed; 43% of transgender young people not in education were unemployed
- 8.35 Research which looked at abuse and violence in the workplace included a small number of 16 to 18 year olds within its survey of young workers<sup>41</sup>. The majority of participants in the study were young women. The study found that young people experienced verbal abuse routinely and that these incidents were generally under-reported. Young people had low expectations about working conditions.

## Rest, leisure, recreation and cultural and artistic activities

### Play, leisure and recreation

- 8.36 A consultation was undertaken by the Children's Parliament for the International Play Association with 379 children aged between 2 and 13 across 14 local authorities<sup>42</sup>. Children played indoors and outdoors and wanted to play with their friends as well as play by themselves. They liked toys but did not think that they were always necessary in order to play. Having the opportunity to be imaginative and being outdoors supported their play, while older children wanted to be able to meet their friends and socialise. Play outdoors could be affected by such factors as feeling safe, litter and cars. Not being able to play impacted on children's well-being and made them sad.
- 8.37 The 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' survey<sup>43</sup> found that young people engaged in a wide range of social activities. For those aged 11 to 16 years, using the internet (81%) and watching TV (77%) were frequent activities, with going to see friends (71%) and using social networks (63%) and playing computer games (57%) also popular. The proportion of those who attended youth clubs has dropped from previous 2007 survey figures, down from 34% to 23% with participation in uniformed clubs slightly increasing to 11% from 9%. The majority of young people took part in sporting and other activities.
- 8.38 For Scotland's Disabled Children (fSDC) undertook consultative activities with disabled children and their families using a range of methodologies<sup>44</sup>. Young people enjoyed having friends and a range of activities from swimming to socialising, but many reported feeling isolated and found difficulties in supporting such activities. These included the lack of accessible public transport (both physical and attitudinal), unmet needs for personal support, and not feeling safe in their local area. Not having enough money to be with their friends was also a significant issue.
- 8.39 Most young people wanted funding for youth projects and groups to be a priority for local authorities. In their survey for the SYP's Manifesto<sup>45</sup>, 73% of respondents agreed with the statement.

- 8.40 Earlier sections highlight the importance of leisure and recreation to young people. Young carers, those affected by parental substance misuse and looked after children all highlighted the importance of spending time with friends.
- 8.41 Other major initiatives such as CashBack for Communities<sup>46</sup> (which uses the proceeds of crime to fund diversionary activities for young people) and No Knives, Betters Lives<sup>47</sup> (a national initiative which works with local organisations to provide information and support to young people on the effects of knife crime) are funding a wide range of sporting, cultural, educational and mentoring activities for children and young people across Scotland. These projects are, however, in their formation years and as yet no comprehensive external research or evaluation has been published on their outcomes.

### **Culture**

8.42 The Big Noise Orchestra in Raploch, Stirling, established by Sistema Scotland, was evaluated<sup>48</sup> to explore the outcomes for children and their families. Children and young people enjoyed taking part in Big Noise and found the sessions fun and engaging and acknowledged the benefits for their families in sharing their activities.

## **Summary**

- 8.43 Overall, positive experiences of school were reported, although these often depended on the attitudes of and relationships with staff members. Those with the highest level of needs were also those that reported the greatest need for better quality support. Participative opportunities suffered from a lack of consistency. When they were available they were experienced positively, with children and young people having enhanced ownership and pride in their school and learning.
- 8.44 Further research into how young people, particularly those transitioning from school into employment or further education, are coping with the current economic situation would be beneficial. Children and young people highlighted youth work projects and groups as being a priority, yet little is known about the impact of the recession on service availability and delivery.

### 9 SPECIAL PROTECTION MEASURES

### Introduction

9.1 Children and young people facing special protection measures valued support that was delivered by trusted adults with whom they could develop positive relationships. In terms of youth justice interventions, support for punitive measures was generally low, while holistic approaches that took account of individual, social and economic factors influencing antisocial behaviour and offending were valued. Experiences of detention were varied, being significantly influenced by the location of the placement. The evidence highlights the importance of delivering interventions that are child-focused. Positive future outcomes depended heavily on quality education, support and care.

# Children in situations of emergency

9.2 The Scottish Guardianship Service is run by the Scottish Refugee Council and Aberlour Child Care Trust and supports young people who are asylum seekers. The first evaluation<sup>1</sup> of its pilot found that young people had a very positive experience of being supported by Guardians within the service and that these adults were trusted with relationships valued by young people. The reliability of Guardians was highly praised, helping young people with their asylum claims as well as with access to health, education and welfare services. Wider fun and creative activities were particularly appreciated by young people. Young people were concerned about their future lives and wanted to be able to talk about these concerns.

### Children in conflict with law

- 9.3 Support for punitive, enforcement led approaches amongst children and young people was low. Correspondingly, the most effective youth justice interventions were considered to be those that take account of the individual, social and economic contexts in which antisocial behaviour and crime take place. The most valued interventions were those that allowed respectful interactions with youth justice professionals to be developed.
- 9.4 While there is a growing body of work on the Children's Hearing system process, children and young people's views and experiences of treatments and interventions remain largely under-researched. For information on Home Supervision Requirements, see **section 6.21**.

## Youth justice

9.5 There have been strategic developments in youth justice since 2008, which seek to maximise diversion from the criminal justice system. The Edinburgh Study of Youth Transitions and Crime<sup>2</sup> has been influential in promoting this policy approach. This longitudinal programme of research on pathways into and out of offending involved a cohort of around 4,300 young people and collected data prior to 2008.

- 9.6 Research emphasised the need for approaches to youth justice to recognise the complex interaction of individual, social and economic factors influencing young people's involvement in crime and antisocial behaviour. Research into youth 'gangs' and knife carrying, for example, highlighted the important role that gang membership had for young people in terms of belonging, status and identity <sup>3</sup>. Of the 95 young people interviewed, most were aware of the physical and social harm caused by knife carrying suggesting that educational programmes alone will be ineffectual. Fifty seven per cent of young people in the consultation for the SYP Manifesto supported the statement "the solutions for solving the problem of knife crime lie in working with young people to tackle the roots causes, not by imposing a mandatory jail sentence"<sup>4</sup>.
- 9.7 Newman (2011) <sup>5</sup> conducted a local study into young people at risk of offending, with the aim of better understanding the factors influencing their behaviour. A total of 14 young people from Highland gave their stories, revealing a complex range of challenges, including substance abuse, chaotic family life, the normalisation of fighting, poor mental and physical health and marginalisation from education and leisure. A key theme related to the lack of planning in support provision and the lack of involvement young people had in decisions affecting them. Professionals did not listen to young people's needs, which added to, rather than alleviated, their problems.
- 9.8 Young people expressed low levels of support for enforcement-led interventions. Drawing on interviews with 20 young people from five local authority areas, <sup>6</sup> found that young people did not regard punitive tools such as Anti Social Behaviour Orders (ASBO) as an effective deterrent. Police were criticised for being overly reactive. Media reporting helped perpetuate negative public perceptions of young people. In workshops by the Children's Parliament<sup>7</sup>, children stated that Ministers need to "make sure that children in Scotland are treated well and stop people stereotyping all children and young people as trouble".
- 9.9 These findings are supported by more recent research. Focus groups in research by McMillan and Robertson (2011)<sup>8</sup> found that young people were critical of dispersal orders and felt significantly curtailed and disempowered by the powers. In the consultation for the SYP Manifesto<sup>9</sup>, 67% young people supported the statement, "The 'Mosquito' ... should be banned". Deuchar (2010)<sup>10</sup>, meanwhile, reported the experiences of 20 young men aged 14 to19 in Glasgow. They felt they were subjected to intense and unnecessary surveillance by the police and other agencies resulting in feeling oppressed and marginalised within their local communities.
- 9.10 Children and young people valued interventions that involved friendly and respectful interactions with youth justice professionals. The Lothian Police Service, for example, asked children aged 8 to 14 their views on the police. Working with the Children's Parliament 11, 140 children completed a visual questionnaire and 24 took part in a consultation day. While both positive and negative views of the police were expressed, a common theme was a desire to have more opportunity to talk and interact with police in non-punitive ways.

9.11 Research on community wardens in Dundee utilised ethnography and interviews with 25 young people aged between 13 and 18<sup>12</sup>. The wardens successfully created opportunities for positive and meaningful encounters with both places and people. Young people were also broadly positive about the introduction of campus police officers in schools<sup>13</sup>. Using a case study approach to collect pupil experiences, the review found that pupils enjoyed contact with the campus officers and felt it made the school environment safer. However, while relations with campus officers were positive, the approach did not shift negative attitudes to police in the wider area.

# The Children's Hearing System

- 9.12 Research on Children's Hearings has focused largely on how the system works and children and young people's participation herein (see section 3.24-3.31 for details). There was little evidence on how the Hearing System affects long term offending outcomes, from children and young people's perspectives, nor on children and young people's experiences of the treatment or interventions resulting from a hearing.
- 9.13 Doctoral research on secure accommodation<sup>14</sup> found that mechanisms for allowing young people to participate in decision making could be significantly strengthened. Ongoing problems with securing and maintaining suitable educational placements for looked after young people were reported and that those referred to secure seem to have high rates of educational difficulty and exclusion. The study concludes that professionals must be willing to listen to how young people feel and what they need.
- 9.14 A body of work is available on community-based youth justice interventions intensive support and monitoring service (ISMS), restorative justice, acceptable behaviour contracts, youth courts. However, this all falls into the period before 2008.

# Children and young people in detention

- 9.15 Experiences of detention were found to be heavily dependent on which unit young people were placed in, with overcrowding and lack of educational opportunities, support and through care being reported in certain locations. Separation from adult prisoners was found to significantly influence how young people experienced detention.
- 9.16 An inspection in 2009<sup>15</sup> looked specifically at three units: Friarton Hall (part of Perth prison although physically detached from it), Darroch Hall (in Greenock prison) and the all-female Bruce House (in Cornton Vale). The inspection involved discussions, focus groups and interviews with young people; however, it was difficult to identify their direct views within reports. Almost all of the comments of the young offenders in Greenock and Perth were positive, while almost all from Cornton Vale were negative. At Cornton Vale, young offenders lived most of their daily lives with adults. The facility was described as overcrowded and leisure, educational and dining facilities were extremely poor. Young prisoners in Greenock and Perth, meanwhile, reported feeling safe, first-class relationships with staff, excellent food and plentiful

opportunities for work and education. Not only did these smaller units create a sense of community and belonging but the staff were specifically trained in working with young people. Most male young offenders are held in Polmont Young Offenders Institute, which was most recently inspected in 2012<sup>16</sup>. While the facility was found to be functioning adequately, more needed to be done to engage young people positively in education, support and through care.

- 9.17 Action for Children and Barnardo's Scotland conducted two focus groups with 11 young people aged 16-22 currently imprisoned within HMYOI Polmont 17. The study sought to examine the issues facing young offenders when leaving prison. Young people faced many barriers, such as managing substance misuse, peer pressure (both to conform and return to offending), difficulty finding employment and more generally adjusting to life back in their own communities. Knowledge support and levels of support accessed varied significantly. Young people supported the concept of mentoring, emphasising that a successful mentor must have certain qualities: non-judgemental, understanding and trustworthy.
- 9.18 In the consultation for the SYP Manifesto, 65% supported compulsory education and training opportunities and the twinning of young offenders' institutions with further education colleges as a means of improving reintegration and reducing re-offending<sup>18</sup>.
- 9.19 From the limited data available, it would appear that community based interventions were positively experienced by young people. One such project is 'Time for Change' 19 .Piloted during 2010/11, it offered a community based alternative to secure accommodation and/or custody for young women aged between 14 and 18 years, deemed to be vulnerable and at high risk of further involvement with offending and related behaviour. Fourteen young women were interviewed as part of the evaluation. They all reported a positive worker-service user relationship. Young women valued the service far above statutory measures (such as the Children's Hearing System and social work), emphasising workers' excellent knowledge, flexibility, accessibility and positive support.

### **Summary**

- 9.20 There is little evidence on children and young people's views and experiences of special protection measures. Since 2008 major innovations in policy direction have been undertaken, particularly in the realm of youth justice. There is however, little evidence as to how this is being experienced by children and young people.
- 9.21 Young people's experiences of detention are reported through inspection reports. While improvements were clearly filtering into some units, many young people in detention continued to have a poor experience and little support in terms of transitioning back into their communities. Inspection Reports did not specifically draw out young people's views and experiences. Gender appeared to be an issue in terms of how detention was experienced and this would benefit from closer attention.

- 9.22 Children and young people's views and experiences of diversionary and prosocial projects (specifically those funded through CashBack for Communities) and community-based youth justice interventions (ISMS, restorative justice) would benefit from additional research.
- 9.23 Research on the Children's Hearing System focused specifically on the Hearing process. Rather less is understood about how the measures and requirements set by a Hearing are experienced and followed through and whether they have any lasting impact on outcomes and wellbeing.
- 9.24 Other specific gaps in evidence relate to: youth courts; legal aid and advice and assistance; child witnesses; the age of criminal responsibility; remand and under 18s; criminal proceedings and sentencing.

## 10 CONCLUSIONS

### Overall conclusions

10.1 The review explored evidence on the views and experiences of children and young people in Scotland between January 2008 and April 2013. Overall, the review identified a wealth of evidence undertaken by a wide range of organisations covering extensive areas of children and young people's lives, demonstrating a significant commitment to engaging with children and young people. A number of gaps of evidence were identified that would benefit from further exploration.

## General measures of implementation

10.2 The review found low levels of awareness and knowledge of both human rights institutions and the UNCRC. Large-scale initiatives have sought to improve levels of awareness. While the full impact of these is yet to be understood, they demonstrate the importance of rights-based practices. Measures to make the UNCRC more widely known have focused on the educational sector and rather less on how well the UNCRC is embedded into the working practices of other children's services. Although 'child friendly' reporting is taking place, it is unknown how these reports are received. Overall, children and young people had little direct involvement in the implementation and monitoring of the UNCRC.

# General principles

- 10.3 Issues of equality, discrimination, access and participation affected all aspects of children and young people's lives. There was a lack of substantial and detailed information on: the experiences of black and minority ethnic children and young people and the impact of racial discrimination; gender discrimination; up-to-date experiences of age discrimination and whether attitudes had changed since 2008. The survey of LGBT young people provides evidence of discrimination and transgender young people disproportionately reported discrimination.
- 10.4 There was a significant body of work on the Children's Hearing System with clear messages on how the process could be improved. There was less evidence that explored children and young people's views and experiences post- Hearing.
- 10.5 Children and young people frequently stated that they did not have enough opportunities to express their views and influence decisions affecting their lives. Positive experiences of participation were heavily dependent upon the attitudes that professionals had towards children and young people, and the quality of relationships that were established. Trust, rapport, honesty and respect were all seen to be essential in influencing children and young people experiences.

## Civil rights and freedoms

10.6 The review found limited evidence on civil rights and freedoms. The right to online privacy is an emerging issue and would benefit from further research. While children and young people were familiar with messages about online safety and privacy, they may have less information and knowledge about confidentiality and rights to information more generally. There was limited evidence on children and young people's views relating to physical punishment. Children and young people's right to assembly was affected by the fear of violence and by mechanisms which seek to disperse them.

## Family environment and alternative care

- 10.7 The family and caring environment had a critical role for children and young people, both as a form of inclusion and as a means of ensuring positive outcomes and well-being.
- 10.8 Looked after children continued to face a number of everyday challenges including being listened to and their views taken into account, stigma, a weak sense of belonging and identity, and a lack of quality support. At the same time they also largely reported positive experiences of care.
- 10.9 For all children and young people, positive experiences of home and family were closely bound with the ability to input directly into decisions about their care. Particular value was given to support and mentoring that was inclusive and respectful of their rights. Parents were of central importance to children and young people. Where this relationship broke down (in the case of domestic abuse or parental substance abuse), it became more important to provide quality care and support that understood their experiences, but did not treat them differently.
- 10.10 There are a number of clear gaps in understanding children and young people's own views and experiences, particularly in relation to child trafficking, child sexual exploitation and household substance misuse. Further knowledge on the role of the parent in children and young people's lives would help understand the parenting role and to consider how alternative forms of care could be improved.

## Basic health and welfare

- 10.11 Children and young people, especially those from minority groups, continued to face barriers in accessing and using health services. Moreover, there was a lack of evidence on how, and to what extent, children and young people were experiencing recent policy measures aimed at tackling health inequalities.
- 10.12 Social context was important to children and young people's health. Physical exercise, nutrition and substance misuse were all closely connected to children and young people's geographical and social spaces. Deprivation continued to heavily influence health along with other factors such as social relationships impacting on individual health decisions (such as whether to participate in physical activity or consumption of alcohol). Peer education

- activities have focused on young people's relationship to alcohol and are a model for involving children and young people in co-designing their own health education.
- 10.13 Evidence gaps relate to children and young people's personal experiences of poverty and homelessness, as well as more comprehensive evaluations of sexual health education.
- 10.14 The evidence shows certain inequalities in access and/or outcomes for certain groups, such as LGBT young people and young parents.

## Education, leisure and culture

- 10.15 Overall, positive experiences of school were reported, although these often depended on the attitudes of and relationships with staff members. Those with the highest level of needs were also those that reported the greatest need for better quality support. Participative opportunities suffered from a lack of consistency. When they were available they were experienced positively, with children and young people having enhanced ownership and pride in their school and learning.
- 10.16 Further research into how young people, particularly those transitioning from school into employment or further education, are coping with the current economic situation would be beneficial. Children and young people highlighted youth work projects and groups as being a priority, yet little was known about the impact of the recession on service availability and delivery.

# Special protection measures

- 10.17 There was little evidence on children and young people's views and experiences of special protection measures. Since 2008 major innovations in policy direction have been undertaken, particularly in the realm of youth justice. There is, however, little evidence as to how these are being experienced by children and young people.
- 10.18 Young people's experiences of detention were reported through inspection reports. While improvements were clearly filtering into some units, many young people in detention continued to have a poor experience and little support in terms of transitioning back into their communities. Inspection reports did not specifically draw out young people's views and experiences. Gender appeared to be an issue in terms of how detention was experienced and this would benefit from closer attention.
- 10.19 Children and young people's views and experiences of diversionary and prosocial projects (specifically those funded through CashBack for Communities) and community-based youth justice interventions (ISMS, restorative justice) would benefit from additional research.
- 10.20 Research on the Children's Hearing System focused specifically on the Hearing process. Rather less was understood about how the measures and

- requirements set by a Hearing were experienced and followed through and whether they have any lasting impact on outcomes and wellbeing.
- 10.21 Other specific gaps in evidence relate to: youth courts; legal aid and advice and assistance; child witnesses; the age of criminal responsibility; remand and under 18s; criminal proceedings and sentencing.

## Gaps in evidence

- 10.22 The review team identified that there were gaps where there was less evidence or where additional evidence would provide helpful information relating to each of the UNCRC clusters. These are summarised below.
- 10.23 In the UNCRC general principles cluster, there was a lack of substantial and detailed information on: the experiences of black and minority ethnic children and young people and the impact of racial discrimination (see section 4.13); gender discrimination (see section 4.10); up-to-date experiences of age discrimination and whether attitudes have changed since 2008 (see section 4.5).
- 10.24 In civil rights and freedoms (see section 5.14), the review produced limited evidence. This would benefit from further exploration. Online privacy is an emerging issue and may benefit from further research. There was limited evidence on children and young people's views relating to physical punishment.
- 10.25 In family environment and alternative care, a number of gaps existed in relation to child trafficking (see section 6.32) and household substance misuse (see section 6.33). Further knowledge on the role of parents in children and young people's lives would aid understanding of the parenting role and how alternative forms of care can be improved (see section 6.37).
- 10.26 In basic health and welfare (see section 7), there was a lack of evidence on how children and young people are experiencing recent policy measures aimed at tackling health inequalities. Evidence gaps also existed around children and young people's personal experiences of poverty and homelessness (see section 7.58-7.63), as well as more comprehensive evaluations of sexual health education (see section 7.48).
- 10.27 In education, leisure and culture, further research into how young people, particularly those transitioning from school into employment or further education, are coping with the current economic situation would be beneficial. In addition there was little known about young people's experience of youth work provision (see section 8.43).
- 10.28 In special protection measures (see section 9), there was generally little evidence on children and young people's experiences of special protection measures, particularly in youth justice. This included specific areas including: detention, children and young people's experiences of diversionary and prosocial projects; the follow up to the Hearing process; youth courts; legal aid

- and advice and assistance; child witnesses; the age of criminal responsibility; remand and under 18s; criminal proceedings and sentencing.
- 10.29 Evidence was limited for several specific groups of children and young people. Across all clusters, there was less evidence that drew on the views and experience of younger children. This included children under the age of 5 years as well as those up to the age of 9 years. In areas such as alternative care, there was less evidence on the views of younger children, for example, those under 9 years of age.
- 10.30 A number of pieces of evidence did highlight the views and experiences of black and minority ethnic children and young people. Overall, however, these children and young people were underrepresented in the evidence in all the UNCRC cluster areas. Research was limited on children and young people's experiences of migration to Scotland.
- 10.31 The importance of transitions between services and institutions such as school, care and prison was shown by the evidence, highlighting the interconnections between UNCRC reporting clusters. Further exploration on the views and experiences of children and young people on transitions would provide further insights
- 10.32 There was a substantial body of evidence on participation especially around Children's Hearings, looked after children and schools. There was, however, less evidence in other areas such as children and young people's views on family court proceedings or early years. More evidence in these areas would provide further insights.
- 10.33 The evidence has shown that children and young people's experiences depend on the quality of the relationship they have with professionals. This is an area that would benefit from in-depth exploration.

## Recommendations for moving forward

10.34 The following recommendations consider ways in which the findings from the review can be taken forward. In addition to identifying gaps in evidence, several overarching issues emerged from the process of gathering the views and experiences of children and young people in Scotland.

### Exploring gaps in evidence

- 10.35 The Scottish Government should consider areas for further participatory work with children and young people from the gaps in evidence across the UNCRC clusters.
- 10.36 Organisations and services working with children and young people should also consider if there are gaps which could be explored through their research, consultation and participatory activities
- 10.37 The low level of knowledge and understanding of the UNCRC among children and young people suggests that national promotion of publications and activities related to the UNCRC could be delivered more effectively. This

could, in turn, have wider benefits including increased participation by children and young people in contributing their views.

## Developing the evidence base

- 10.38 Large-scale quantitative surveys like 'Being Young in Scotland 2009' were valuable sources for this review. Continued investment in such surveys should be considered as one approach to gathering children and young people's views. For example, the longitudinal social survey 'Growing up in Scotland' is now engaging children directly and could be maximised as a source of robust quantitative information.
- 10.39 There is likely to be small-scale research undertaken in further and higher education on the cluster areas. Academic contacts were used for the search for evidence but it seems likely that not all evidence was accessed. Strategically gathering research findings on a regular basis would contribute to the body of evidence.
- 10.40 Research, consultation and participatory activities currently being undertaken by local authorities are under-represented in this review. There may be evidence that was not submitted due to time constraints or information requests not reaching the relevant practitioner. There is therefore an opportunity for local authorities and individual practitioners to contribute their knowledge and have this work recognised and shared more widely.

## Gathering evidence

- 10.41 The review found that some activities that involve children and young people were not always being systematically documented, recorded or reported so that they could be easily shared or disseminated. In some instances, this meant that evidence could not be included. This suggests that organisations could develop their approaches to documenting the views of children and young people so that the findings are accessible to a wider audience.
- 10.42 In some of the evidence, there was little detail about: the context for the research, consultation or participatory activities; information on the sample; or detailed analysis of data. Across much of the evidence there was little discussion of ethics (how children and young people are involved in respectful ways, how their consent was sought and how they are protected from harm). Including more methodological and ethical information within reports would help others to better understand and analyse the findings from engaging with children and young people. In addition, organisations would gain further recognition for their work.
- 10.43 Generally, improvements could be made in the collection and presentation of evidence in the future so that it can better inform national and local policy and practice. Developing a stronger regularly reported evidence base would contribute to the Scottish Government's delivery of national outcomes and the implementation of the UNCRC.

10.44 The review found that there were different understandings of rights based approaches to services. In its ongoing work, the Scottish Government should consider how to work with both national and local organisations to demystify the rights based approach. Organisations should be supported to explore how children's rights span their entire service and are embedded in all aspects of children and young people's lives.

### Conclusion

10.45 The review provides a rich snapshot of children and young people's views gathered by organisations between 2008 and 2013. As a resource, the review assists understanding of how policy impacts on the realisation of children's rights, from the viewpoints of children and young people themselves. At the same time, the review can provide a baseline for future research, consultation and participation activities.

## 11 REFERENCES

References are first provided as endnotes, for each chapter, starting from chapter 3. A full reference list is then provided.

# **3 General Measures of Implementation**

- 1 YouthLink Scotland (2009) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor(a).pdf
- 2 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2011) a RIGHT blether, National Vote Results, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult%20Reports/a-right-blether/national vote results.pdf.
- Young Scot and Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) Scottish Government Children and Young People Bill Young People's Consultation, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/Children-and-Young-People-Bill-Young-People-Consultation-Final-Report.pdf.
- 4 Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) A Scotland for Children A Consultation on the Children and Young People Bill Response from the SYP, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Children%20and%20Young%20People %20Bill SYP%20Response.pdf.
- 5 York Consulting (2011) Evaluation of a RIGHT blether, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/A\_Right\_Blether/Evaluation\_of\_a\_Right\_Blether Report.pdf.
- 6 Children's Parliament (2011) Children say what they think about the Scottish Government Rights of Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-CHILDRENS%20RESPONSE-Rights-of%20Children-and-Young%20People-Bill.pdf.
- 7 Young Scot (2011) Rights Of Children And Young People (Scotland) Bill Consultation With Young People, Edinburgh: Scottish Government.
- 8 Children's Parliament (2012) How does your garden grow? A report for children on a consultation for the Scottish Government on the Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-How-does-your-garden-grow-C+YP-Bill.pdf.
- 9 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-.
- 10 Young Scot and Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) Scottish Government Children and Young People Bill Young People's Consultation, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/Children-and-Young-People-Bill-Young-People-Consultation-Final-Report.pdf.
- 11 Children's Parliament (2011) Children say what they think about The Scottish Government Rights of Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-CHILDRENS%20RESPONSE-Rights-of%20Children-and-Young%20People-Bill.pdf.
- 12 York Consulting (2011) Evaluation of a RIGHT blether, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/A\_Right\_Blether/Evaluation\_of\_a\_Right\_Blether\_Report.pdf.

- 13 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2011) a RIGHT blether, National Vote Results, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult%20Reports/a-right-blether/national vote results.pdf.
- 14 Young Scot and Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) Scottish Government Children and Young People Bill Young People's Consultation, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/Children-and-Young-People-Bill-Young-People-Consultation-Final-Report.pdf.
- 15 Youthlink Scotland (2009) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor(a).pdf
- 16 Children's Parliament (2011) Children say what they think about The Scottish Government Rights of Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-CHILDRENS%20RESPONSE-Rights-of%20Children-and-Young%20People-Bill.pdf.
- 17 Children's Parliament (2012) How does your garden grow? A report for children on a consultation for the Scottish Government on the Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-How-does-your-garden-grow-C+YP-Bill.pdf.
- 18 Children's Parliament (2012) Consultation on a proposal for a Children and Young People Bill, Edinburghttp://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/Consultation-Response-CYP-Bill-Childrens-Parliament.pdf.
- 19 Young Scot (2011) Rights Of Children And Young People (Scotland) Bill Consultation With Young People, Edinburgh: Scottish Government.
- 20 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-.
- 21 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2011) a RIGHT blether, National Vote Results, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult%20Reports/a-right-blether/national vote results.pdf
- 22 Similarly, 'a RIGHT wee blether' (2011) provided a vehicle for young people to express their views, opinions, likes and dislikes. The project developed a range of materials that adults can utilise to increase children's knowledge and understanding about the UNCRC
- 23 York Consulting (2011) Evaluation of a RIGHT blether, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/A\_Right\_Blether/Evaluation\_of\_a\_Right\_Blether\_Report.pdf
- 24 Children's Parliament (2009) Rights at School, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/rights-at-school/cp-listen-report.pdf
- 25 Children's Parliament (date unknown) Participants' views of the Do the Right Thing Local Project, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/do-the-right-thing/CP-DTRT-Participants-views.pdf
- 26 West Dunbartonshire Council (2012) Final project report 2011/12: Collaboration and Peer Support in Global Citizenship, West Dunbartonshire Council
- 27 Article 12 in Scotland (2012) A day to have your say on the future of human rights in the UK, http://www.vik.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/06/Invitation-CYP-2.pdf
- 28 Glasgow Association of Mental Health (2010) Young Carers Charter of Rights: Peer Education & Skills Training on UNCRC 2010, http://www.gamh.org.uk/media/1194/gamhyoungcarersuncrcreport.pdf

- 29 Glasgow Association of Mental Health (2010) Young Carers Charter of Rights: Peer Education & Skills Training on UNCRC 2010, http://www.gamh.org.uk/media/1194/gamhyoungcarersuncrcreport.pdf
- 30 Young Scot and Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) Scottish Government Children and Young People Bill Young People's Consultation, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/Children-and-Young-People-Bill-Young-People-Consultation-Final-Report.pdf
- 31 Young Scot and Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) Scottish Government Children and Young People Bill Young People's Consultation, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/Children-and-Young-People-Bill-Young-People-Consultation-Final-Report.pdf
- 32 Who Cares? Scotland (2012) Position statement: Children and Young People Bill / September 2012, http://www.whocaresscotland.org/professionals/publications-briefings-research/.
- 33 Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) A Scotland for Children A Consultation on the Children and Young People Bill Response from the SYP, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Children%20and%20Young%20People %20Bill SYP%20Response.pdf
- 34 Young Scot and Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) Scottish Government Children and Young People Bill Young People's Consultation, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/Children-and-Young-People-Bill-Young-People-Consultation-Final-Report.pdf.

# 4 General principles

- 1 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2011) a RIGHT blether, National Vote Results, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult%20Reports/aright-blether/national\_vote\_results.pdf
- 2 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-
- 3 YouthLink Scotland (2009) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor(a).pdf
- 4 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-
- 5 YouthLink Scotland (2009) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor(a).pdf
- 6 East Lothian Council (2012) Listen and Learn 2012, Report to Council Committee for Education, http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/5112/education committee
- 7 LGBT National Youth Council (2010) NYC Manifesto Scottish Edition, https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/files/documents/01\_LGBT\_NYC/LGBT\_Policy\_Priorities/2010and2011\_Elections/NYC\_Scottish\_Manifesto.pdf.
- 8 Young Scot (2011) Pro-social behaviour project, http://www.youngscot.net/what-we-do/project-directory/pro-social-behaviour.aspx
- 9 Williams, V., James, N., Barclay, M., Stalker, K., Watson, N., and Hudson, K. (2012) The Conversations Project: a report to the Steering Group of the National Review of Services for Disabled Children and Young People, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/06/1592/0

- 10 Williams, V., James, N., Barclay, M., Stalker, K., Watson, N., and Hudson, K. (2012) The Conversations Project: a report to the Steering Group of the National Review of Services for Disabled Children and Young People, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/06/1592/0; The Long Term Conditions Alliance, Scotland and Scotland's Disabled Children Liaison Project (2011) I want to be treated the same as my brothers, http://www.fsdc.org.uk/assets/files/Quality%20of%20Life%20Full%20Report.pdf
- 11 Macnab, M. (2012) Findings from the 'What's Gender Got to do With it?'
- 12 Sime, D., Pietka, R. and Fox, E. (2011) At Home Abroad: The Life Experiences of Eastern European Migrant Children in Scotland: Summary, http://www.migrantchildren.net/docs/At%20Home%20Abroad%20-%20Report.pdf
- 13 Young Scot (2011) Access All Areas, http://www.youngscot.net/media/12106/aaa\_report.pdf
- 14 LGBT National Youth Council (2010) NYC Manifesto Scottish Edition, https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/files/documents/01\_LGBT\_NYC/LGBT\_Policy\_Priori ties/2010and2011\_Elections/NYC\_Scottish\_Manifesto.pdf. See also Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-
- 15 Article 12 in Scotland (2012): Young Gypsy Travellers' Lives: Discrimination and the media, Montrose: Article 12 in Scotland
- 16 Article 12 in Scotland (2012) Awareness-raising/Conflict resolution workshops, Montrose: Article 12 in Scotland
- 17 Cadger, B. (2010) Getting it right for young Gypsy/Travellers: Survey Report, http://www.article12.org/pdf/Survey%20report\_final.pdf
- 18 YouthLink Scotland (2009) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor(a).pdf
- 19 Young Scot (2011) Child Internet Safety: Consultation with Young People: Final Report, Edinburgh: Young Scot
- 20 Griesbach, D. and Waterton, J. (2012) Improving Advocacy for Children and Young People: An Analysis of Consultation Responses, Edinburgh: Scottish Government
- 21 Smith, S., Paton, J., Dooley, L., and Millar, D (2011) Young People's Research: Who Cares? Scotland's advocacy services, http://www.iriss.org.uk/sites/default/files/community\_research\_young\_peoples\_pres\_iriss\_2011.pdf
- 22 Elsley, S. (2013) There for you: Review of Advocacy Provision for Children and Young People in the Scottish Borders, Melrose: Scottish Borders Children and Young People's Planning Partnership
- 23 Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (2009) The views and experiences of children and young people involved in the Children's Hearings System in Scotland, Stirling: Scottish Children's Reporter Administration
- 24 Whitehead, I., Hanson, L. and Henderson, G. (2011) The Children's Hearing System: understood and making a difference: young people's views ,Stirling: Scottish Children's Reporters Administration
- 25 Who Cares? Scotland and Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (2011)
  Hearing Scotland's Children: The experts views of Scotland's children and young people on their experiences of the Children's Hearing System,
  http://www.scra.gov.uk/cms\_resources/Who%20Cares%20Report.pdf

- 26 Montgomery, Z. (2012) Let's all make a change for young people: A young person's review of research on children's views of the Children's Hearings System,
  - http://www.scra.gov.uk/cms\_resources/Let's%20all%20make%20a%20change%202012.pdf
- 27 Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (2012) Fit for us...Making our system fit for children and young people, http://www.scra.gov.uk/cms\_resources/Fit%20For%20Us%202011.pdf
- 28 Children's Parliament (2010) Children's Hearings Reform: The Views of Children, Edinburgh: Children's Parliament
- 29 Ormston, R. and Marryat, L. (2009) Review of the Children's Legal Representation Grant Scheme, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/06/30092325/0.
- 30 Mackay, K. (2013) Hearing children in court disputes between parents: CRFR Briefing, Edinburgh: CRFR
- 31 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-
- 32 YouthLink Scotland (2009) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor(a).pdf
- 33 Williams, V., James, N., Barclay, M., Stalker, K., Watson, N., and Hudson, K. (2012) The Conversations Project: a report to the Steering Group of the National Review of Services for Disabled Children and Young People, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/06/1592/0
- 34 The Long Term Conditions Alliance, Scotland and Scotland's Disabled Children Liaison Project (2011) I want to be treated the same as my brothers, http://www.fsdc.org.uk/assets/files/Quality%20of%20Life%20Full%20Report.pdf
- 35 Out of 53 respondents. A third were in mainstream special schools, a third were in a special school or unit, and the rest in other settings.
- 36 Out of 62 respondents.
- 37 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2013) Children and Young People's Views on Participation and Principles for Practice, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult Reports/Childrens participation report 120313.pdf.
- 38 Voice against Violence (2012) One Voice at a Time, http://voiceagainstviolence.org.uk/one-voice/
- 39 Scottish Youth Parliament (2012 ) Community Empowerment and Renewal Bill: response from the SYP,
  - http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Community%20Empo
- 40 Young Scot (2011) Access All Areas, http://www.youngscot.net/media/12106/aaa report.pdf
- 41 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-

# 5 Civil rights and freedoms

- 1 YouthLink Scotland (2009) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor(a).pdf
- 2 YouthLink Scotland (2009) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor(a).pdf

- 3 Dennell, L., Lee, B., and Logan, C. (2013) Life in Scotland for LGBT Young People: Safety Report, forthcoming
- 4 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-
- 5 See Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Offensive Behaviour at Football and Threatening Communications (Scotland) Bill: SYP Response, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/SYP%20Response OBFTC%20Bill.pdf
- Wales, A. and Hill, L. (2011) Roundtable report: Finding the balance: children's right to confidentiality in an age of information sharing, http://www.togetherscotland.org.uk/pdfs/Finding%20the%20Balance%20Children's%20right%20to%20confidentiality%202011%20Final.pdf
- 7 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2011) a RIGHT blether, National Vote Results, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult%20Reports/a-right-blether/national vote results.pdf
- 8 Ewart, C. and Tisdall, E.K.M. (2011) Phase 1 Report: Embedding information rights in the primary and secondary education systems in the UK, http://www.ico.gov.uk/about\_us/research/~/media/documents/library/Corporate/R esearch\_and\_reports/; Ewart, C. and Tisdall, E.K.M. (2012) Phase 2 report: Embedding information rights in the primary and secondary education systems in the UK,
  - http://www.ico.gov.uk/about\_us/research/~/media/documents/library/Corporate/Research\_and\_reports/embedding\_information\_rights\_phase\_2\_report.ashx
- 9 Young Scot (2011) Child Internet Safety: Consultation with Young People: Final Report, Edinburgh: Young Scot
- 10 Young Scot (2011) Child Internet Safety Consultation with Young People: Final Report, Edinburgh: Young Scot

#### 6 Family environment and alternative care

- 1 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2012) Tell Tam at the Scottish Young Carers Festival 2011, Edinburgh: SCCYP
- 2 East Lothian Council (2012) Listen more, assume less 5, http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/downloads/file/6405/listen\_more\_assume\_less\_5.
- 3 Barry, M. (2011) I realised that I wasn't alone': the views and experiences of young carers from a social capital perspective, Journal of Youth Studies, 14(5), 523-539.
- 4 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2012) A RIGHT wee blether, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult Reports/A Right Wee Blether final.pdf
- 5 The Children's Parliament (2010) The Best Start in Life, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/best-start/cp-best-start-in-life-report.pdf.
- 6 Deacon, S. (2011) Joining the Dots, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/343337/0114216.pdf
- 7 Who Cares? Scotland (2012) Young people's views: Summary of full report: Supporting information from young people in care and care leavers for the Children and Young People Bill- from young people with experience of being in care in Scotland,

- http://www.whocaresscotland.org/download/publications/f\_511b9dcdb6848/Cach ed
- 8 Wilson, S. and Milne, E. J. (2012) Young People Creating Belonging: Spaces, Sounds and Sights, http://www.aberlour.org.uk/assets/0000/9688/Young\_People\_Creating\_Belonging Sight and Sound Project Report.pdf
- 9 Cundy, J. and Duffy, M. (2010) Looked after Children with Additional Support Needs in Scotland: A scoping study, http://www.barnardos.org.uk/looked\_after\_children\_with\_additional\_support\_nee ds in scotland - 2010.pdf
- 10 CELCIS (2012) Corporate Parent: Would this be good enough for your child, http://www.celcis.org/resources/entry/corporate\_parent\_would\_this\_be\_good\_enough\_for\_your\_child
- 11 CELCIS (2012) If I could change one thing, http://www.celcis.org/resources/entry/if\_i\_could\_change\_one\_thing
- 12 CELCIS (2012) Young People discuss advocacy, human rights, diversity and disability, http://www.celcis.org/resources/entry/diversity\_and\_disability
- 13 CELCIS (2012) If I could change one thing, http://www.celcis.org/resources/entry/if\_i\_could\_change\_one\_thing
- 14 Dundee Looked After Children Champions Board (2012) http://awards.cosla.gov.uk/2013/03/achieving-better-outcomes-dundee-city-council-dundee-champions-board/
- 15 East Lothian Council (2010) Listen more and assume less too: The views of children and young people in East Lothian. Report by the Involvement Officer, East Lothian Council
- 16 Siebelt, L and Morrison E (2008) Caring about Success: Young People's Stories, Glasgow: Who Cares? Scotland
- 17 Macdonald, C., Cruickshank, C. and Ray, L. (2013) Consultation with Children and Young People: Strategy for Children's Residential Care, Glasgow: Who Cares? Scotland
- 18 McManus, K. and Morrison, E. (2011) 'It's no like one of those café places where you can order anything you want': children's and young people's views and experiences of food and nutrition in residential care, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/341963/0113770.pdf
- 19 Kibble (2012) Please listen: a play about being in care from CELCIS http://www.celcis.org/resources/entry/please\_listen\_a\_play\_about\_being\_in\_care
- 20 Henessey, A. and Connelly, G. (2012) Recognition of Prior Learning and Looked after Young People, http://www.celcis.org/resources/recognition\_of\_prior\_learning\_and\_looked\_after\_young\_people
- 21 Barry, M. and Moodie, K. (2008) This isn't the road I want to go down: Young people's perceptions and experiences of secure care, Glasgow: Who Cares? Scotland
- 22 Who Cares? Scotland (2012)The expert views of children and young people on their experiences of foster care in Scotland, http://www.celcis.org/media/resources/publications/WhoCaresReport.pdf
- 23 Gadda, A. and Fitzpatrick, J.P. (2012) Home Supervision Requirements: Messages from Research,

- http://www.celcis.org/media/resources/publications/Home-Supervision-Requirements-messages-from-research.pdf
- 24 Fitzpatrick, J. P. (unpublished) ongoing PhD study, Glasgow: Strathclyde University
- 25 Gadda, A. (2012) Looking After Young People? An Exploratory Study of Home Supervision Requirements in Scotland, Edinburgh: The University of Edinburgh
- 26 Burgess, C., Rossvoll, F., Wallace, B., and Daniel, B. (2008) 'It's Just like another home, just another family, so it's nae different.' 'Children's Voice in Kinship Care': the report of a research study about the experience of children in kinship care, http://www.children1st.org.uk/shop/files/SPR-PUB-013.pdf
- 27 Debate Project (2009) Life after care conference 2009: Young People's Views on Leaving Care, http://www.scottishthroughcare.org.uk/docs/managefiles/Debate\_Project\_Life\_Aft er Care Conference 2009 Report.pdf
- 28 Debate Project (2013) Picking up the pieces-leaving care experiences, http://www.celcis.org/resources/entry/picking\_up\_the\_pieces\_leaving\_care\_experiences
- 29 Debate Project (2012) Consultation on a Proposal for a Children and Young People Bill, http://www.scottishthroughcare.org.uk/docs/forum/childrens\_bill\_-\_DP\_response\_submitted.pdf
- 30 Copsey, A. (2012) Institutional Barriers in Residential Care: Consultation with Young Care Leavers, CELCIS and Scottish Throughcare and Aftercare Forum, http://www.scottishthroughcare.org.uk/docs/research/InstitutionalBarriersinReside ntialCare.pdf
- 31 IRISS (2012) Redesigning support for care leavers: Exploring the use of coproductive methods to collaboratively design and improve leaving care services, Glasgow: IRISS
- 32 South Lanarkshire Council (2012) Consultation with children and young people involved in the child protection process (June-August 2012), South Lanarkshire Council
- 33 Woolfson, R., Heffernan, E., Paul, M. and Brown, M. (2010) Young People's Views of the Child Protection System in Scotland, British Journal of Social Work, 40. 2069-2085
- 34 Loureiro, T. (2010) Perspectives of children and young people with a parent in prison, http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/1215/1/perspectives%20of%20cyp%20with%20a%20parent %20in%20prison.pdf
- 35 Brodie, I. and Pearce, J. (2012) Exploring the Scale and Nature of Child Sexual Exploitation in Scotland, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/10/9300
- 36 See http://withscotland.org/resources/recent-trafficking-documents [accessed 21/04/13] for recent documents.
- 37 Gillan, E., Wales, A., Hill, L. and Robertson, F. (2009) Untold damage: Children's accounts of living with harmful parental drinking, http://www.shaap.org.uk/UserFiles/File/Reports%20and%20Briefings/Untold%20 Damage%20full%20report.pdf
- 38 While this did not involve primary research or with, the Childline database does reflect the direct experiences and views of children and young people. These data are important; however, the rise of mobile phone and on-line services have presented difficulties in interpreting it at a sub-UK level.

- 39 Hill, L. (2011) Revealing lives: a qualitative study with children and young people affected by parental alcohol problems, Edinburgh: University of Edinburgh
- 40 Youthlink Scotland (2009) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor(a).pdf
- 41 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2012) A RIGHT wee blether, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult Reports/A\_Right\_Wee\_Blether\_final.pdf
- 42 Children's Parliament (2012) How does your garden grow? A report for children on a consultation for the Scottish Government on the Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-How-does-your-garden-grow-C+YP-Bill.pdf
- 43 Smith, C., Grimes, M., Morrison, F., Houghton, C. and Stafford, A. (2008)
  Consultation With Children And Young People With Experience Of Domestic
  Abuse On Scottish Government National Domestic Abuse Delivery Group Draft
  Proposals, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/228227/0061832.pdf.
- 44 Houghton, C. (2008) Making a Difference: Young People Speak to Scottish Ministers about their Priorities for the National Domestic Abuse Delivery Plan for Children and Young People, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/228207/0061829.pdf
- 45 Voice Against Violence (2012) Question time: A peer education project starring young experts on domestic abuse (and adults in power), http://voiceagainstviolence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/VAV-Question-Time-Peer-Education-Project-Report.pdf.
- 46 Voice Against Violence (2012) Shaping the future one voice at a time: Tackling domestic abuse through the voice of the young, http://voiceagainstviolence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/03/Shaping-the-Future-Voice-Against-Violence-Survey-Report.pdf.
- 47 Scottish Government (2011) The National Domestic Abuse Delivery Plan for Children and Young People (2008-2011): Final Summary Report, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/1137/0121150.pdf
- 48 Sharp, C., Jones, J., Netto, G. and Humphreys, C. (2010) Through the Eyes of a Bairn, http://www.scottishwomensaid.org.uk/tmp/CedarReport.pdf
- 49 Tisdall, E.K.M. and Morrison, F. (2012) 'Children's Participation in Court Proceedings when Parents Divorce or Separate: Legal Constructions and Lived Experiences', in Freeman, M. (ed) Law and Childhood Studies, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 156-173

#### 7 Basic health and welfare

- 1 NHS Quality Improvement Scotland (2010) Service review: Health for all Children 4, Edinburgh: Scottish Government
- 2 Scottish Government (2012) Better Together: Patient Opinion Evaluation, http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/our\_work/patient\_experience/bett er\_together\_resources/patient\_opinion\_service\_report.aspx
- 3 NHS Health Scotland (2010) Youth Voices, http://www.walk-the-talk.org.uk/
- 4 Highland Children's Forum (2012) Recipe for Parenthood: Views from young parents, http://www.forhighlandschildren.org/index\_29\_373471523.pdf
- 5 LGBT Youth Scotland (forthcoming) Life in Scotland for LGBT Young People: Health Report, Edinburgh: LGBT Youth Scotland

- 6 Young Scot (2011) Access All Areas, http://www.youngscot.net/media/12106/aaa\_report.pdf
- 7 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2012) Tell Tam at the Scottish Young Carers Festival 2011, Edinburgh: SCCYP
- 8 http://www.walk-the-talk.org.uk/
- 9 NHS Health Scotland (2011) Providing youth-friendly health services, Edinburgh: NHS Health Scotland
- 10 Action for Sick Children (2010) Children and Young People's Healthcare Rights: A Resource Pack, http://www.ascscotland.org.uk/default.asp?page=21
- 11 Health Rights Information Scotland and Consumer Focus Scotland (2009) Report on a consultation with young people and primary care health professionals on behalf of the Walk the Talk working group, Health Rights Information Scotland and Consumer Focus Scotland
- 12 See: http://www.nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk/MediaCentre/PressReleases/2012/Pages/Youn gpeoplewanted-.aspx
- 13 Elsley, S. and McMellon, C. (2010) Checking it out: A consultation with children and young people on a draft framework for children and young people's mental health indicators, Edinburgh: NHS Scotland
- 14 Currie, C., Levin, K., Kirby, J., Currie, D., van der Sluijs, W. and Inchley, J. (2011) Health Behaviour in School-aged Children: World Health Organization Collaborative Cross-National Study (HBSC): findings from the 2010 HBSC survey in Scotland, http://www.st-andrews.ac.uk/cahru/publications/reports\_downloads/HBSC\_National\_Report\_20 10\_LowRes.pdf
- 15 Newman, G. (2011) Ideas about Sadness: Views of Children and Young People, http://www.highlandchildrensforum.org/userfiles/file/Ideas%20about%20sadness %20final.pdf
- 16 The Junction (2009) Young People's Health and Well-being- their needs and the services they want, Edinburgh: The Junction
- 17 Scottish Government (2012) Scottish Health Survey 2011: Volume 2 Children, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0040/00402627.pdf
- 18 Currie, C., Levin, K., Kirby, J., Currie, D., van der Sluijs, W. and Inchley, J. (2011) Health Behaviour in School-aged Children: World Health Organization Collaborative Cross-National Study (HBSC): findings from the 2010 HBSC survey in Scotland, http://www.st-andrews.ac.uk/cahru/publications/reports\_downloads/HBSC\_National\_Report\_20 10 LowRes.pdf
- 19 Scottish Government (2012) Scottish Health Survey 2011: Volume 2 Children, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0040/00402627.pdf
- 20 Currie, C., Levin, K., Kirby, J., Currie, D., van der Sluijs, W. and Inchley, J. (2011) Health Behaviour in School-aged Children: World Health Organization Collaborative Cross-National Study (HBSC): findings from the 2010 HBSC survey in Scotland, http://www.st-andrews.ac.uk/cahru/publications/reports\_downloads/HBSC\_National\_Report\_20 10\_LowRes.pdf
- 21 Currie, C., Levin, K., Kirby, J., Currie, D., van der Sluijs, W. and Inchley, J. (2011) Health Behaviour in School-aged Children: World Health Organization Collaborative Cross-National Study (HBSC): findings from the 2010 HBSC survey

- in Scotland, http://www.st-andrews.ac.uk/cahru/publications/reports\_downloads/HBSC\_National\_Report\_20 
  10 LowRes.pdf
- 22 Levin, K. A, Kirby, J., Currie, C., and Inchley, J. (2012) Trends in adolescent eating behaviour: a multilevel cross-sectional study of 11–15 year olds in Scotland, 2002–2010, Public Health, 34, 523-531
- 23 Currie, C., Levin, K., Kirby, J., Currie, D., van der Sluijs, W. and Inchley, J. (2011) Health Behaviour in School-aged Children: World Health Organization Collaborative Cross-National Study (HBSC): findings from the 2010 HBSC survey in Scotland, http://www.st-andrews.ac.uk/cahru/publications/reports\_downloads/HBSC\_National\_Report\_20 10 LowRes.pdf
- 24 Reid, M. (2009) Debrief of a study to identify and explore parental, young people's and health professionals' attitudes, awareness and knowledge of child healthy weight, http://www.healthscotland.com/uploads/documents/10002-RE036FinalReport0809.pdf
- 25 Glasgow Centre for Population Health (2012) Exploring the Nutritional Quality of 'Out of School' Foods Popular with School Pupils, http://www.gcph.co.uk/assets/0000/3361/GCPH BP 35 FINAL web.pdf
- 26 Scottish Centre for Social Research (2011) The 'Big Eat In' Follow-up Study: Final Report,
  - http://www.gcph.co.uk/assets/0000/2971/BEIFU\_\_Final\_Report\_nov\_2011.pdf
- 27 Scottish Government (2012) Scottish Health Survey 2011: Volume 2 Children, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0040/00402627.pdf
- 28 Nicholson, L. (2012) Development of key themes for physical activity promotion for the early years, children and young people, Edinburgh: NHS Health Scotland
- 29 Kirby, J. and Inchley, J. (2009) Active travel to school: views of 10-13 year old schoolchildren in Scotland, Health Education, 109(2), 169-183
- 30 Inchley, J., Mitchell, F. and Currie, C. (2011) Fit for Girls Evaluation: Interim Report 2, Edinburgh: Child and Adolescent Health Research Unit
- 31 Inchley, J., Mitchell, F. and Currie, C. (2011) Fit for Girls Evaluation: Interim Report 2, Edinburgh: Child and Adolescent Health Research Unit
- 32 Sportscotland (2012) Fit for Girls: Final Summary Report, http://www.youthsporttrust.org/media/999732/fitforgirlsexecutivesummary2012.pd f
- 33 Kirby, J. and Inchley, J. (2013) Walking behaviours among adolescent girls in Scotland: a pilot study, Health Education, 113(1), 28-51
- 34 NHS, National Statistics and Ipsos (2010) Scottish Schools Adolescent Lifestyle and Substance Use Survey (SALSUS) National Report 2010, Edinburgh: Scottish Government
- 35 Young Scot and Scottish Government (2011) Peer Led Approaches To Substance Misuse Education: Young People's Consultation, Final Report, http://www.youngscot.net/media/24133/sme\_report\_-final.pdf
- 36 NHS, National Statistics and Ipsos (2010) Scottish Schools Adolescent Lifestyle and Substance Use Survey (SALSUS) National Report 2010, Edinburgh: Scottish Government
- 37 Zhong, E. C. (2010) Young People's Views on Alcohol Use and Emotional Health, Edinburgh: Health Opportunities Team

- 38 Hackett, C., Seaman, P. and Edgar, F. (2012) Alcohol: Through our eyes. Young people's representations of drinking in Scotland, Glasgow: Glasgow Centre for Population Health
- 39 Scottish Government (2008) Scottish Youth Commission on Alcohol, Edinburgh: Scottish Government
- 40 Youthlink Scotland (2009) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor(a).pdf
- 41 Scottish Government (2008) Scottish Youth Commission on Alcohol, Edinburgh: Scottish Government
- 42 Peer Learning Through Dialogue: Young People and Alcohol, http://www.qmu.ac.uk/mcpa/CDial/default.htm
- 43 Alcohol Focus Scotland (2009) Evaluation of Rory Learning Resource Pilot, Alcohol Focus Scotland
- 44 NHS, National Statistics and Ipsos (2010) Scottish Schools Adolescent Lifestyle and Substance Use Survey (SALSUS) National Report 2010, Edinburgh: Scottish Government
- 45 Nicholson, L. (2012) Development of key themes for physical activity promotion for the early years, children and young people, Edinburgh: NHS Health Scotland
- 46 Rowan-Dewar, N., Amos, A., Cunningham-Burley, S. (2012) A Qualitative Study Of Children And Second-Hand Smoke Exposure In The Home And Car, http://www.cso.scot.nhs.uk/Publications/ExecSumms/2012/PHAmos.pdf
- 47 Scottish Youth Parliament (2009) SYP Consultation Response Tobacco and Primary Medical Services (Scotland) Bill, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Scottish%20Youth%20Parliament%20Consultation%20Response.pdf
- 48 Scottish Youth Parliament (2009) Consultation on standardised packaging of tobacco products, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Standardised%20Packaging%20of%20T obacco SYP%20Response.pdf
- 49 Currie, C., Levin, K., Kirby, J., Currie, D., van der Sluijs, W. and Inchley, J. (2011) Health Behaviour in School-aged Children: World Health Organization Collaborative Cross-National Study (HBSC): findings from the 2010 HBSC survey in Scotland, http://www.st-andrews.ac.uk/cahru/publications/reports\_downloads/HBSC\_National\_Report\_20 10 LowRes.pdf
- 50 NHS Healthy Respect Lothian (2013) Informal Consultation young people and accessing sexual health services, http://www.healthyrespect.co.uk/NewsEvents/eNewsletters/Documents/enewsfeb 2013.pdf
- 51 Scottish Youth Parliament (2009) Draft National Guidance: Under-age Sexual Activity Meeting the Needs of Children and Young People and Identifying Child Protection Concerns Consultation Paper, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/SYP%20Response\_Draft%20National% 20Guidance.pdf
- 52 The Long Term Conditions Alliance, Scotland and Scotland's Disabled Children Liaison Project (2011) I want to be treated the same as my brothers, http://www.fsdc.org.uk/assets/files/Quality%20of%20Life%20Full%20Report.pdf
- 53 See also Williams, V., James, N., Barclay, M., Stalker, K., Watson, N., and Hudson, K. (2012) The Conversations Project: a report to the Steering Group of

- the National Review of Services for Disabled Children and Young People, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/06/1592/0
- 54 McGachey, A. (2012) Doran Review Consultation with Children, Young People, Parents and Staff, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0040/00408573.pdf
- 55 Cundy, J. and Duffy, M. (2010) Looked after Children with Additional Support Needs in Scotland: A scoping study, http://www.barnardos.org.uk/looked\_after\_children\_with\_additional\_support\_nee ds in scotland 2010.pdf
- 56 McConkey, R. (2011) Working outside the box: summary report, http://lx.iriss.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/working\_outside\_the\_box\_overvie w report 18 oct revised 11 feb 2 .pdf
- 57 Cree, V. and Sidhva, D. (2011) Children and HIV in Scotland: Findings from a Cross-Sector Needs Assessment of Children and Young People Infected and Affected by HIV in Scotland, British Journal of Social Work, 41(8), 1-18
- 58 Bazalgette, L., Barnes, C., and Lord, C. (2012) A Wider Lens, Demos, http://withscotland.org/resources/a-wider-lens
- 59 Scottish Youth Parliament (2009) Response to Ending Child Poverty: Making It Happen, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Child%20Poverty%20Response.pdf
- 60 Children's Parliament (2012) How does your garden grow? A report for children on a consultation for the Scottish Government on the Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-How-does-your-garden-grow-C+YP-Bill.pdf
- 61 Equal Opportunities Committee, Scottish Parliament (2012) Having and Keeping a Home, http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4\_EqualOpportunitiesCommittee/Reports/eor-12-04w.pdf.
- 62 Shelter Scotland (2011) Running away and future homelessness the missing link?, http://scotland.shelter.org.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0019/348013/Running\_away and future homelessness FINAL.pdf
- 63 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-

#### 8 Education, leisure and culture

- 1 YouthLink Scotland (2009) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor(a).pdf
- 2 East Lothian Council (2013) Personal correspondence.
- 3 The Long Term Conditions Alliance, Scotland and Scotland's Disabled Children Liaison Project (2011) I want to be treated the same as my brothers, http://www.fsdc.org.uk/assets/files/Quality%20of%20Life%20Full%20Report.pdf; very similar findings are reported for the 28 pupils from 3 schools in East Lothian – East Lothian Council (2010) Listening more and assume less too Vol 2, http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/site/scripts/download\_info.php?downloadID=1493& fileID=4192
- 4 McGachey, A. (2012) Doran Review Consultation with Children, Young People, Parents and Staff, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0040/00408573.pdf

- McClung, M. and Gayle, V. (2010) Explore the care effects of multiple factors on the educational achievement of children looked after at home and away from home, Child and Family Social Work, 15(4), 409-431. See also East Lothian Council (2012) Listen more, assume less 4, http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/downloads/file/6404/listen more assume less 4
- 6 Baumfield, V., Livingston, K., Menter, I., Hulme, M., Devlin, A., Elliot, D., Hall, S., Lewin, J., and Lowden, K. (2009) Curriculum for Excellence: Draft experiences and outcomes,
  - http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/publications/c/publication\_tcm4539668.asp
- 7 Baumfield, V., Livingston, K., Menter, I., Hulme, M., Devlin, A., Elliot, D., Hall, S., Lewin, J., and Lowden, K. (2009) Curriculum for Excellence: Draft experiences and outcomes,
  - http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/publications/c/publication\_tcm4539668.asp
- 8 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Building a Smarter Future: Response from the SYP.
  - http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Building%20a%20Smarter%20Future\_S YP%20Response.pdf
- 9 East Lothian Council (2012) Listen and Learn 2012, Report to Council Committee for Education,
  - http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/5112/education\_committee
- 10 Ewart, C. and Tisdall, E.K.M. (2011) Phase 1 Report: Embedding information rights in the primary and secondary education systems in the UK, http://www.ico.gov.uk/about\_us/research/~/media/documents/library/Corporate/R esearch\_and\_reports/; Ewart, C. and Tisdall, E.K.M. (2012) Phase 2 report: Embedding information rights in the primary and secondary education systems in the UK.
  - http://www.ico.gov.uk/about\_us/research/~/media/documents/library/Corporate/R esearch and reports/embedding information rights phase 2 report.ashx
- 11 Children's Parliament (2011) A Teaching Workforce for Scotland's Children, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/teachers-review/CP-A-Teaching-Workforce-for-Scotland.pdf
- 12 McGachey, A. (2012) Doran Review Consultation with Children, Young People, Parents and Staff, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0040/00408573.pdf
- 13 McGachey, A. (2012) Doran Review Consultation with Children, Young People, Parents and Staff, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0040/00408573.pdf
- 14 Children's Parliament (2011) A Teaching Workforce for Scotland's Children, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/teachers-review/CP-A-Teaching-Workforce-for-Scotland.pdf
- 15 E.g. see Education Scotland (2012) Getting it right for every child: Where are we now? A report on the readiness of the education system to fully implement Getting it right for every child,
  - http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/inspectionandreview/Images/GIRFEC%20FINAL%2024-10-12 tcm4-735258.pdf
- 16 McClung, M. and Gayle, V. (2010) Explore the care effects of multiple factors on the educational achievement of children looked after at home and away from home, Child and Family Social Work ,15(4), 409-431; East Lothian Council (2012) Listen more, assume less 4,
  - http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/downloads/file/6404/listen more assume less 4

- 17 McClung, M. and Gayle, V. (2010) Explore the care effects of multiple factors on the educational achievement of children looked after at home and away from home, Child and Family Social Work ,15(4), 409-431
- 18 East Lothian Council (2012) Listen more, assume less 4, http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/downloads/file/6404/listen\_more\_assume\_less\_4
- 19 East Lothian Council (2012) Listen and Learn 2012, Report to Council Committee for Education,
  - http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/5112/education\_committee
- 20 Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) Public Petition PE1411 Reforming Uniform Policy in All Scottish Local Authority Schools by producing mandatory guidelines that they have to follow in their Uniform Codes. Response from the SYP, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/PE1411\_SYP%20Response%200412.pd f
- 21 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2011) a RIGHT blether, National Vote Results, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult%20Reports/a-right-blether/national vote results.pdf
- 22 Cross, B., Hall, J., Hall, S., Hulme, M., Lewin, J., and McKinney, S. (2009) Pupil Participation in Scottish Schools, http://eprints.gla.ac.uk/49601/1/id49601.pdf
- 23 Cross, B., Hall, J., Hall, S., Hulme, M., Lewin, J., and McKinney, S. (2009) Pupil Participation in Scottish Schools, http://eprints.gla.ac.uk/49601/1/id49601.pdf
- 24 East Lothian Council (2013) Personal correspondence.
- 25 See findings reported at Having a Say at School. http://www.havingasayatschool.org.uk/promoting.html
- 26 Scottish Borders Youth Commission on Bullying (2012) Recommendations, http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/info/828/activities\_and\_support\_for\_young\_people /638/childrens\_rights; Youth Commission on Bullying Advisory Board, supported by Northern Star (2012) Scottish Boarders Youth Commission on Bullying. Evaluation Report,
  - http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/info/828/activities\_and\_support\_for\_young\_people /638/childrens\_rights
- 27 The sensitivity of school staff to bullying was also mentioned in Children's Parliament (2011) Children say what they think about The Scottish Government Rights of Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-CHILDRENS%20RESPONSE-Rights-of%20Children-and-Young%20People-Bill.pdf.
- 28 3,944 responses to the survey. respectme (2011) Cyberbullying Survey Summary Report, http://www.respectme.org.uk/Publications-Introduction.html
- 29 Young Scot (2011) Child Internet Safety: Consultation with Young People: Final Report, Edinburgh: Young Scot
- 30 LGBT Youth Scotland (2012) Life in Scotland for LGBT Young People: Education Report, https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/files/documents/Life in Scotland for LGBT Young
  - https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/files/documents/Life\_in\_Scotland\_for\_LGBT\_Young \_People\_-\_Education\_Report\_NEW.pdf
- 31 LGBT Youth Scotland (2012) Life in Scotland for LGBT Young People: Education Report,
  - https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/files/documents/Life\_in\_Scotland\_for\_LGBT\_Young \_People\_-\_Education\_Report\_NEW.pdf

- 32 McClung, M. and Gayle, V. (2010) Explore the care effects of multiple factors on the educational achievement of children looked after at home and away from home, Child and Family Social Work, 15(4), 409-431
- 33 Youthlink (2010) Being Young in Scotland 2009. http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor%28a%2 9.pdf
- 34 See also peer research undertaken by Bennett, C., Dockery, M., and Ousta, H. (2009) Our say: young people's awareness and understanding of educational maintenance allowance in Scotland. http://www.sccyp.org.uk/uploaded\_docs/adult%20reports/our%20say%20-%20young%20researchers%202009.pdf
- 35 East Lothian Council (2012) Listen and Learn 2012, Report to Council Committee for Education.
  - http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/5112/education committee
- 36 Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2011) a RIGHT blether, National Vote Results, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult%20Reports/aright-blether/national vote results.pdf
- 37 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Putting Learners at the Centre: Delivering our Ambitions for Post-16 Education – Response from the SYP, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Putting%20Learners%20at%20the%20C entre SYP%20Response.pdf
- 38 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Building a Smarter Future Response from the SYP, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/345511/0115016.pdf; Bennett, C., Dockery, M., and Ousta, H. (2009) Our say: young people's awareness and understanding of educational maintenance allowance in Scotland, http://www.sccvp.org.uk/uploaded\_docs/adult%20reports/our%20say%20-%20young%20researchers%202009.pdf
- 39 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Building a Smarter Future Response from the SYP, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/345511/0115016.pdf
- 40 Dennell, L., Lee, B. and Logan, C. (2013) Life in Scotland for LGBT Young People – employment report, forthcoming
- 41 McVittie, C, Goodall, K, Elliot, I and Treinowska, A (2010) Young People's experience of abuse in public facing jobs, http://www.healthscotland.com/uploads/documents/13418-YoungWorkersExperiencesReport.pdf
- 42 Children's Parliament (2011) 'I'd play all night and all day if I could': A report on children's views on their right to play, http://www.sol.co.uk/i/ipascotland/Right%20to%20play.pdf
- 43 Youthlink (2010) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor%28a%2 9.pdf
- 44 Williams, V., James, N., Barclay, M., Stalker, K., Watson, N., and Hudson, K. (2012) The Conversations Project: a report to the Steering Group of the National Review of Services for Disabled Children and Young People, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/06/1592/0
- 45 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-
- 46 See: http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Justice/public-safety/17141/cashback for more information.

- 47 See: http://www.noknivesbetterlives.com/ for more information.
- 48 GEN (2011) Evaluation of Big Noise, Sistema Scotland, Edinburgh: Scottish Government.

# 9 Special protection measures

- 1 Crawley, H. and Kohly, R.K.S. (2011) First evaluation report of the work of the Scottish Guardianship Service Pilot, http://www.scottishrefugeecouncil.org.uk/.../First\_Annual\_Evaluation\_report\_ quardianship Dec 2011.pdf
- 2 McAra, L. and McVie, S. (2010) Youth Crime And Justice: Key Messages From The Edinburgh Study Of Youth Transitions And Crime, Criminology and Criminal Justice, 10, 211-230
- 3 Bannister, J., Pickering, J., Batchelor, S., Burman, M., Kintrea, K. and McVie, S. (2011) Troublesome Youth Groups, Gangs and Knife Carrying in Scotland, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/09/09143042/0
- 4 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-
- Newman, G. (2011) Challenging or Challenged? Views of Young People at the Edge of Exclusion, http://www.highlandchildrensforum.org/userfiles/file/Challenging%20or%20challe nged%202011.pdf
- 6 Scottish Government (2009) Promoting Positive Outcomes: Working Together to Prevent Antisocial Behaviour in Scotland Volume 2: Evidence The research, analysis and public consultation that informed the review of national antisocial behaviour policy, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/03/18112339/0
- 7 Children's Parliament (2012) How does your garden grow? A report for children on a consultation for the Scottish Government on the Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-How-does-your-garden-grow-C+YP-Bill.pdf
- 8 McMillan, L. and Robertson, A. (2011) An evaluation of the use of dispersal powers in the East End of Glasgow, http://www.sipr.ac.uk/downloads/AnnRep2011/Dispersal zone.pdf
- 9 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-
- 10 Deuchar, R. (2010) 'It's Just Pure Harassment... As If It's a Crime to Walk in the Street': Anti-social Behaviour, Youth Justice and Citizenship — The Reality for Young Men in the East End of Glasgow, Youth Justice, 10, 258-274
- 11 Children's Parliament (2010) Lothian & Borders Police Youth Strategy: Hearing the views of children, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/police-youth/cp-police-report.pdf
- 12 Brown, D. (2013) Young People, Anti-social Behaviour and Public Space: The Role of Community Wardens in Policing the 'ASBO Generation', Urban Studies, 50, 538-555
- 13 Ipsos MORI (2010) Evaluation of campus police officers in Scottish schools, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/03/12111010/10
- 14 Roesch-Marsh, A. (2011) Crossing the 'threshold of risk': a study of local secure accommodation decision making in Scotland, Edinburgh: University of Edinburgh

- 15 HM Inspectorate of Prisons (2009) Report on Young Offenders in Adult Establishments, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/261758/0078303.pdf
- 16 HM Inspectorate of Prisons for Scotland (2013) Report on HMYOI Polmont, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0041/00414444.pdf
- 17 Action for Children (2013) Reducing Reoffending Change Fund: BAFC Appendix 10: Summary of Focus Groups held in HMYOI Polmont on Monday 14th January 2013, Edinburgh: Action for Children.
- 18 Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-
- 19 Burman, M. and Imlah, N. (2011) Time for Change: An Evaluation into this Pilot Service for Vulnerable Young Women aged 14-18 years at High Risk of Secure Care or Custody, http://www.sccjr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/11/TFC-Briefing-Paper-Summary-of-Findings.pdf

#### Full reference list

- Action for Children (2013) Reducing Reoffending Change Fund: BAFC Appendix 10: Summary of Focus Groups held in HMYOI Polmont on Monday 14th January 2013, Edinburgh: Action for Children.
- Action for Sick Children (2010) Children and Young People's Healthcare Rights: A Resource Pack, http://www.ascscotland.org.uk/default.asp?page=21
- Alcohol Focus Scotland (2009) Evaluation of Rory Learning Resource Pilot, Edinburgh: Alcohol Focus Scotland
- Article 12 in Scotland (2012) A day to have your say on the future of human rights in the UK, http://www.vik.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/06/Invitation-CYP-2.pdf
- Article 12 in Scotland (2012) Awareness-raising/Conflict resolution workshops, Montrose: Article 12 in Scotland
- Article 12 in Scotland (2012): Young Gypsy Travellers' Lives: Discrimination and the media, Montrose: Article 12 in Scotland
- Bannister, J., Pickering, J., Batchelor, S., Burman, M., Kintrea, K. and McVie, S. (2011) Troublesome Youth Groups, Gangs and Knife Carrying in Scotland, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/09/09143042/0
- Barry, M. (2011) I realised that I wasn't alone': the views and experiences of young carers from a social capital perspective, Journal of Youth Studies14 (5), 523-539.
- Barry, M. and Moodie, K. (2008) This isn't the road I want to go down: Young people's perceptions and experiences of secure care, Glasgow: Who Cares? Scotland
- Baumfield, V., Livingston, K., Menter, I., Hulme, M., Devlin, A., Elliot, D., Hall, S., Lewin, J., and Lowden, K. (2009) Curriculum for Excellence: Draft experiences and outcomes,
- http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/publications/c/publication\_tcm4539668.asp Baumfield, V., Livingston, K., Menter, I., Hulme, M., Devlin, A., Elliot, D., Hall, S., Lewin, J., and Lowden, K. (2009) Curriculum for Excellence: Draft http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/publications/c/publication\_tcm4539668.asp
- Bazalgette, L., Barnes, C., and Lord, C. (2012) A Wider Lens, Demos, http://withscotland.org/resources/a-wider-lens
- Bennett, C., Dockery, M., and Ousta, H. (2009) Our say: young people's awareness and understanding of educational maintenance allowance in Scotland,

- http://www.sccyp.org.uk/uploaded\_docs/adult%20reports/our%20say%20%20young%20researchers%202009.pdf
- Bennett, C., Dockery, M., and Ousta, H. (2009) Our say: young people's awareness and understanding of educational maintenance allowance in Scotland, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/uploaded\_docs/adult%20reports/our%20say%20-%20young%20researchers%202009.pdf
- Brodie, I. and Pearce, J. (2012) Exploring the Scale and Nature of Child Sexual Exploitation in Scotland, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/10/9300
- Brown, D. (2013) Young People, Anti-social Behaviour and Public Space: The Role of Community Wardens in Policing the 'ASBO Generation', Urban Studies, 50, 538-555
- Burgess, C., Rossvoll, F., Wallace, B., and Daniel, B. (2008) 'It's Just like another home, just another family, so it's nae different.' 'Children's Voice in Kinship Care': the report of a research study about the experience of children in kinship care, the report of a research study about the experience of children in kinship care, http://www.children1st.org.uk/shop/files/SPR-PUB-013.pdf
- Burman, M. and Imlah, N. (2011) Time for Change: An Evaluation into this Pilot Service for Vulnerable Young Women aged 14-18 years at High Risk of Secure Care or Custody, http://www.sccjr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/11/TFC-Briefing-Paper-Summary-of-Findings.pdf
- Cadger, B. (2010) Getting it right for young Gypsy/Travellers: Survey Report, http://www.article12.org/pdf/Survey%20report\_final.pdf
- CELCIS (2012) Corporate Parent: Would this be good enough for your child, http://www.celcis.org/resources/entry/corporate\_parent\_would\_this\_be\_good\_enough\_for\_your\_child
- CELCIS (2012) If I could change one thing, http://www.celcis.org/resources/entry/if\_i\_could\_change\_one\_thing
- CELCIS (2012) Young People discuss advocacy, human rights, diversity and disability, http://www.celcis.org/resources/entry/diversity\_and\_disability
- Children's Parliament (2009) Rights at School, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/rights-at-school/cp-listen-report.pdf
- Children's Parliament (2010) Children's Hearings Reform: The Views of Children, Edinburgh: Children's Parliament
- Children's Parliament (2011) 'l'd play all night and all day if I could': A report on children's views on their right to play, http://www.sol.co.uk/i/ipascotland/Right%20to%20play.pdf
- Children's Parliament (2011) A Teaching Workforce for Scotland's Children, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/teachers-review/CP-A-Teaching-Workforce-for-Scotland.pdf
- Children's Parliament (2011) Children say what they think about the Scottish Government Rights of Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-CHILDRENS%20RESPONSE-Rights-of%20Children-and-Young%20People-Bill.pdf.
- Children's Parliament (2012) Consultation on a proposal for a Children and Young People Bill, Edinburghttp://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/Consultation-Response-CYP-Bill-Childrens-Parliament.pdf.

- Children's Parliament (2012) How does your garden grow? A report for children on a consultation for the Scottish Government on the Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-How-does-your-garden-grow-C+YP-Bill.pdf
- Children's Parliament (date unknown) Participants' views of the Do the Right Thing Local Project, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/do-the-right-thing/CP-DTRT-Participants-views.pdf
- Children's Parliament (2010) Lothian & Borders Police Youth Strategy: Hearing the views of children, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/police-youth/cp-police-report.pdf
- Copsey, A. (2012) Institutional Barriers in Residential Care: Consultation with Young Care Leavers, CELCIS and Scottish Throughcare and Aftercare Forum, http://www.scottishthroughcare.org.uk/docs/research/InstitutionalBarriersinReside ntialCare.pdf
- Crawley, H. and Kohly, R.K.S. (2011) First evaluation report of the work of the Scottish Guardianship Service Pilot, http://www.scottishrefugeecouncil.org.uk/.../First\_Annual\_Evaluation\_report\_guardianship\_Dec\_2011.pdf
- Cree, V. and Sidhva, D. (2011) Children and HIV in Scotland: Findings from a Cross-Sector Needs Assessment of Children and Young People Infected and Affected by HIV in Scotland, British Journal of Social Work, 41(8), 1-18
- Cross, B., Hall, J., Hall, S., Hulme, M., Lewin, J., and McKinney, S. (2009) Pupil Participation in Scottish Schools, http://eprints.gla.ac.uk/49601/1/id49601.pdf
- Cundy, J. and Duffy, M. (2010) Looked after Children with Additional Support Needs in Scotland: A scoping study, http://www.barnardos.org.uk/looked\_after\_children\_with\_additional\_support\_nee

ds\_in\_scotland\_-\_2010.pdf

- Currie, C., Levin, K., Kirby, J., Currie, D., van der Sluijs, W. and Inchley, J. (2011) Health Behaviour in School-aged Children: World Health Organization Collaborative Cross-National Study (HBSC): findings from the 2010 HBSC survey in Scotland, http://www.st-andrews.ac.uk/cahru/publications/reports\_downloads/HBSC\_National\_Report\_20 10 LowRes.pdf
- Deacon, S. (2011) Joining the Dots, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/343337/0114216.pdf
- Debate Project (2009) Life after care conference 2009: Young People's Views on Leaving Care,
  - http://www.scottishthroughcare.org.uk/docs/managefiles/Debate\_Project\_Life\_Aft er\_Care\_Conference\_2009\_Report.pdf
- Debate Project (2012) Consultation on a Proposal for a Children and Young People Bill, http://www.scottishthroughcare.org.uk/docs/forum/childrens\_bill\_- DP response submitted.pdf
- Debate Project (2013) Picking up the pieces-leaving care experiences, http://www.celcis.org/resources/entry/picking\_up\_the\_pieces\_leaving\_care\_experiences
- Dennell, L., Lee, B. and Logan, C. (2013) Life in Scotland for LGBT Young People employment report, forthcoming

- Deuchar, R. (2010) 'It's Just Pure Harassment... As If It's a Crime to Walk in the Street': Anti-social Behaviour, Youth Justice and Citizenship The Reality for Young Men in the East End of Glasgow, Youth Justice, 10, 258-274
- Dundee Looked After Children Champions Board (2012) http://awards.cosla.gov.uk/2013/03/achieving-better-outcomes-dundee-city-council-dundee-champions-board/
- East Lothian Council (2010) Listen more and assume less too: The views of children and young people in East Lothian. Report by the Involvement Officer, East Lothian Council
- East Lothian Council (2010) Listening more and assume less too Vol 2, http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/site/scripts/download\_info.php?downloadID=1493& fileID=4192
- East Lothian Council (2012) Listen and Learn 2012, Report to Council Committee for Education.
- http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/5112/education\_committee
- East Lothian Council (2012) Listen more, assume less 4,
  - http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/downloads/file/6404/listen\_more\_assume\_less\_4
- East Lothian Council (2012) Listen more, assume less 5,
  - http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/downloads/file/6405/listen\_more\_assume\_less\_5.
- East Lothian Council (2013) Personal correspondence.
- Education Scotland (2012) Getting it right for every child: Where are we now? A report on the readiness of the education system to fully implement Getting it right for every child,
  - http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/inspectionandreview/Images/GIRFEC%20FINAL%2024-10-12\_tcm4-735258.pdf
- Elsley, S. (2013) There for you: Review of Advocacy Provision for Children and Young People in the Scottish Borders, Melrose: Scottish Borders Children and Young People's Planning Partnership
- Elsley, S. and McMellon, C. (2010) Checking it out: A consultation with children and young people on a draft framework for children and young people's mental health indicators, Edinburgh: NHS Scotland
- Equal Opportunities Committee, Scottish Parliament (2012) Having and Keeping a Home.
  - http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4\_EqualOpportunitiesCommittee/Reports/eor-12-04w.pdf.
- Ewart, C. and Tisdall, E.K.M. (2011) Phase 1 Report: Embedding information rights in the primary and secondary education systems in the UK,

  http://www.ico.gov.uk/about\_us/research/~/media/documents/library/Corporate/F
  - http://www.ico.gov.uk/about\_us/research/~/media/documents/library/Corporate/R esearch\_and\_reports/
- Ewart, C. and Tisdall, E.K.M. (2012) Phase 2 report: Embedding information rights in the primary and secondary education systems in the UK,
  - http://www.ico.gov.uk/about\_us/research/~/media/documents/library/Corporate/R esearch\_and\_reports/embedding\_information\_rights\_phase\_2\_report.ashx
- Fitzpatrick, J. P. (unpublished) ongoing PhD study, Glasgow: Strathclyde University Gadda, A. (2012) Looking After Young People? An Exploratory Study of Home Supervision Requirements in Scotland, Edinburgh: The University of Edinburgh
- Gadda, A. and Fitzpatrick, J.P. (2012) Home Supervision Requirements: Messages from Research, http://www.celcis.org/media/resources/publications/Home-Supervision-Requirements-messages-from-research.pdf

- GEN (2011) Evaluation of Big Noise, Sistema Scotland, Edinburgh: Scottish Government.
- Gillan, E., Wales, A., Hill, L. and Robertson, F. (2009) Untold damage: Children's accounts of living with harmful parental drinking, http://www.shaap.org.uk/UserFiles/File/Reports%20and%20Briefings/Untold%20 Damage%20full%20report.pdf
- Glasgow Association of Mental Health (2010) Young Carers Charter of Rights: Peer Education & Skills Training on UNCRC 2010, http://www.gamh.org.uk/media/1194/gamhyoungcarersuncrcreport.pdf
- Glasgow Centre for Population Health (2012) Exploring the Nutritional Quality of 'Out of School' Foods Popular with School Pupils,
  - http://www.gcph.co.uk/assets/0000/3361/GCPH\_BP\_35\_FINAL\_web.pdf
- Griesbach, D. and Waterton, J. (2012) Improving Advocacy for Children and Young People: An Analysis of Consultation Responses, Edinburgh: Scottish Government
- Hackett, C., Seaman, P. and Edgar, F. (2012) Alcohol: Through our eyes. Young people's representations of drinking in Scotland, Glasgow: Glasgow Centre for Population Health
- Having a Say at School. http://www.havingasayatschool.org.uk/promoting.html
  Health Rights Information Scotland and Consumer Focus Scotland (2009) Report on
  a consultation with young people and primary care health professionals on behalf
  of the Walk the Talk working group, Health Rights Information Scotland and
  Consumer Focus Scotland
- Henessey, A. and Connelly, G. (2012) Recognition of Prior Learning and Looked after Young People, http://www.celcis.org/resources/recognition\_of\_prior\_learning\_and\_looked\_after\_young\_people
- Highland Children's Forum (2012) Recipe for Parenthood: Views from young parents, http://www.forhighlandschildren.org/index\_29\_373471523.pdf
- Hill, L. (2011) Revealing lives: a qualitative study with children and young people affected by parental alcohol problems, Edinburgh: University of Edinburgh
- HM Inspectorate of Prisons (2009) Report on Young Offenders in Adult Establishments, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/261758/0078303.pdf
- HM Inspectorate of Prisons for Scotland (2013) Report on HMYOI Polmont, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0041/00414444.pdf
- Houghton, C. (2008) Making a Difference: Young People Speak to Scottish Ministers about their Priorities for the National Domestic Abuse Delivery Plan for Children and Young People.
  - http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/228207/0061829.pdf
- Inchley, J., Mitchell, F. and Currie, C. (2011) Fit for Girls Evaluation: Interim Report 2, Edinburgh: Child and Adolescent Health Research Unit
- Ipsos MORI (2010) Evaluation of campus police officers in Scottish schools, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/03/12111010/10
- IRISS (2012) Redesigning support for care leavers: Exploring the use of coproductive methods to collaboratively design and improve leaving care services, Glasgow: IRISS
- Kibble (2012) Please listen: a play about being in care from CELCIS, http://www.celcis.org/resources/entry/please\_listen\_a\_play\_about\_being\_in\_care

- Kirby, J. and Inchley, J. (2009) Active travel to school: views of 10-13 year old schoolchildren in Scotland, Health Education, 109(2), 169-183
- Kirby, J. and Inchley, J. (2013) Walking behaviours among adolescent girls in Scotland: a pilot study, Health Education, 113(1), 28-51
- Levin, K. A, Kirby, J., Currie, C., and Inchley, J. (2012) Trends in adolescent eating behaviour: a multilevel cross-sectional study of 11–15 year olds in Scotland, 2002–2010, Public Health, 34: 523-531
- LGBT National Youth Council (2010) NYC Manifesto Scottish Edition, https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/files/documents/01\_LGBT\_NYC/LGBT\_Policy\_Priori ties/2010and2011 Elections/NYC Scottish Manifesto.pdf.
- LGBT Youth Scotland (2012) Life in Scotland for LGBT Young People: Education Report,
  - https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/files/documents/Life\_in\_Scotland\_for\_LGBT\_Young \_People\_-\_Education\_Report\_NEW.pdf
- LGBT Youth Scotland (forthcoming) Life in Scotland for LGBT Young People: Health Report, Edinburgh: LGBT Youth Scotland
- Loureiro, T. (2010) Perspectives of children and young people with a parent in prison,
  - http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/1215/1/perspectives%20of%20cyp%20with%20a%20parent %20in%20prison.pdf
- Macdonald, C., Cruickshank, C. and Ray, L. (2013) Consultation with Children and Young People: Strategy for Children's Residential Care, Glasgow: Who Cares? Scotland
- Mackay, K. (2013) Hearing children in court disputes between parents: CRFR Briefing, Edinburgh: CRFR
- Macnab, M. (2012) Findings from the 'What's Gender Got to do With it?', http://www.west
  - dunbarton.gov.uk/media/1020240/whats\_gender\_got\_to\_do\_with\_it\_evaluation.pdf
- McAra, L. and McVie, S. (2010) Youth Crime And Justice: Key Messages From The Edinburgh Study Of Youth Transitions And Crime, Criminology and Criminal Justice, 10, 211-230
- McClung, M. and Gayle, V. (2010) 'Explore the care effects of multiple factors on the educational achievement of children looked after at home and away from home', Child and Family Social Work, 15(4), 409-431.
- McConkey, R. (2011) Working outside the box: summary report, http://lx.iriss.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/working\_outside\_the\_box\_overvie w report 18 oct revised 11 feb 2 .pdf
- McGachey, A. (2012) Doran Review Consultation with Children, Young People, Parents and Staff, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0040/00408573.pdf
- McManus, K. and Morrison, E. (2011) 'It's no like one of those café places where you can order anything you want': children's and young people's views and experiences of food and nutrition in residential care,
- http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/341963/0113770.pdf McMillan, L. and Robertson, A. (2011) An evaluation of the use of dispersal powers
  - http://www.sipr.ac.uk/downloads/AnnRep2011/Dispersal zone.pdf

in the East End of Glasgow,

McVittie, C., Goodall, K., Elliot, I and Trejnowska, A. (2010) Young People's experience of abuse in public facing jobs,

- http://www.healthscotland.com/uploads/documents/13418-YoungWorkersExperiencesReport.pdf
- Montgomery, Z. (2012) Let's all make a change for young people: A young person's review of research on children's views of the Children's Hearings System, http://www.scra.gov.uk/cms\_resources/Let's%20all%20make%20a%20change% 202012.pdf
- Newman, G. (2011) Challenging or Challenged? Views of Young People at the Edge of Exclusion, http://www.bigblandchildrensforum.org/userfiles/file/Challenging%20or%20challe
  - http://www.highlandchildrensforum.org/userfiles/file/Challenging%20or%20challenged%202011.pdf
- Newman, G. (2011) Ideas about Sadness: Views of Children and Young People, http://www.highlandchildrensforum.org/userfiles/file/Ideas%20about%20sadness %20final.pdf
- NHS Health Scotland (2010) Youth Voices, http://www.walk-the-talk.org.uk/
- NHS Health Scotland (2011) Providing youth-friendly health services, Edinburgh: NHS Health Scotland
- NHS Healthy Respect Lothian (2013) Informal Consultation young people and accessing sexual health services,
  - http://www.healthyrespect.co.uk/NewsEvents/eNewsletters/Documents/enewsfeb 2013.pdf
- NHS Quality Improvement Scotland (2010) Service review: Health for all Children 4, Edinburgh: Scotlish Government
- NHS, National Statistics and Ipsos (2010) Scottish Schools Adolescent Lifestyle and Substance Use Survey (SALSUS) National Report 2010, Edinburgh: Scottish Government
- Nicholson, L. (2012) Development of key themes for physical activity promotion for the early years, children and young people, Edinburgh: NHS Health Scotland
- Ormston, R. and Marryat, L. (2009) Review of the Children's Legal Representation Grant Scheme, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/06/30092325/0.
- Peer Learning Through Dialogue: Young People and Alcohol, http://www.qmu.ac.uk/mcpa/CDial/default.htm
- Reid, M. (2009) Debrief of a study to identify and explore parental, young people's and health professionals' attitudes, awareness and knowledge of child healthy weight, http://www.healthscotland.com/uploads/documents/10002-RE036FinalReport0809.pdf
- respectme (2011) Cyberbullying Survey Summary Report, http://www.respectme.org.uk/Publications-Introduction.html
- Roesch-Marsh, A. (2011) Crossing the 'threshold of risk': a study of local secure accommodation decision making in Scotland, Edinburgh: University of Edinburgh
- Rowan-Dewar, N., Amos, A., Cunningham-Burley, S. (2012) A Qualitative Study Of Children And Second-Hand Smoke Exposure In The Home And Car, http://www.cso.scot.nhs.uk/Publications/ExecSumms/2012/PHAmos.pdf
- Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2011) a RIGHT blether, National Vote Results, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult%20Reports/a-right-blether/national\_vote\_results.pdf.
- Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2012) A RIGHT wee blether, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult Reports/A Right Wee Blether final.pdf

- Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2012) Tell Tam at the Scottish Young Carers Festival 2011, Edinburgh: SCCYP
- Scotland's Commissioner for Children & Young People (2013) Children and Young People's Views on Participation and Principles for Practice, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/Adult Reports/Childrens participation report 120313.pdf.
- Scottish Borders Youth Commission on Bullying (2012) Recommendations, http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/info/828/activities\_and\_support\_for\_young\_people /638/childrens\_rights
- Scottish Centre for Social Research (2011) The 'Big Eat In' Follow-up Study: Final Report,
- http://www.gcph.co.uk/assets/0000/2971/BEIFU\_\_Final\_Report\_nov\_2011.pdf Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (2009) The views and experiences of children and young people involved in the Children's Hearings System in Scotland, Stirling: Scottish Children's Reporter Administration
- Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (2012) Fit for us...Making our system fit for children and young people, http://www.scra.gov.uk/cms\_resources/Fit%20For%20Us%202011.pdf
- Scottish Government (2008) Scottish Youth Commission on Alcohol, Edinburgh: Scottish Government
- Scottish Government (2009) Promoting Positive Outcomes: Working Together to Prevent Antisocial Behaviour in Scotland Volume 2: Evidence The research, analysis and public consultation that informed the review of national antisocial behaviour policy, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/03/18112339/0
- Scottish Government (2011) The National Domestic Abuse Delivery Plan for Children and Young People (2008-2011): Final Summary Report, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/1137/0121150.pdf
- Scottish Government (2012) Better Together: Patient Opinion Evaluation, http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/our\_work/patient\_experience/bett er\_together\_resources/patient\_opinion\_service\_report.aspx
- Scottish Government (2012) Scottish Health Survey 2011: Volume 2 Children, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0040/00402627.pdf
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) A Scotland for Children A Consultation on the Children and Young People Bill Response from the SYP, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Children%20and%20Young%20People %20Bill SYP%20Response.pdf.
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Building a Smarter Future Response from the SYP, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/345511/0115016.pdf
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2009) Consultation on standardised packaging of tobacco products,
  - http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Standardised%20Packaging%20of%20Tobacco SYP%20Response.pdf
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2009) Draft National Guidance: Under-age Sexual Activity Meeting the Needs of Children and Young People and Identifying Child Protection Concerns Consultation Paper, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/SYP%20Response Draft%20National%

20Guidance.pdf

- Scottish Youth Parliament (2009) Response to Ending Child Poverty: Making It Happen,
  - http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Child%20Poverty%20Response.pdf
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2009) SYP Consultation Response Tobacco and Primary Medical Services (Scotland) Bill,
  - http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Scottish%20Youth%20Parliament%20Consultation%20Response.pdf
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Building a Smarter Future: Response from the SYP,
  - http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Building%20a%20Smarter%20Future\_S YP%20Response.pdf
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Change the Picture. SYP Youth Manifesto, http://www.syp.org.uk/our-manifesto-W21page-82-
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Offensive Behaviour at Football and Threatening Communications (Scotland ) Bill: SYP Response,
  - http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/SYP%20Response\_OBFTC%20Bill.pdf
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2011) Putting Learners at the Centre: Delivering our Ambitions for Post-16 Education Response from the SYP, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Putting%20Learners%20at%20the%20C entre SYP%20Response.pdf
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2012 ) Community Empowerment and Renewal Bill: response from the SYP,
  - http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Community%20Empo
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) A Scotland for Children A Consultation on the Children and Young People Bill Response from the SYP, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/Children%20and%20Young%20People %20Bill SYP%20Response.pdf
- Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) Public Petition PE1411 Reforming Uniform Policy in All Scottish Local Authority Schools by producing mandatory guidelines that they have to follow in their Uniform Codes. Response from the SYP, http://www.syp.org.uk/img/consultations/PE1411\_SYP%20Response%200412.pd f
- Sharp, C., Jones, J., Netto, G. and Humphreys, C. (2010) Through the Eyes of a Bairn, http://www.scottishwomensaid.org.uk/tmp/CedarReport.pdf
- Shelter Scotland (2011) Running away and future homelessness the missing link?, http://scotland.shelter.org.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0019/348013/Running\_away and future homelessness FINAL.pdf
- Siebelt, L. and Morrison, E. (2008) Caring about Success: Young People's Stories, Glasgow: Who Cares? Scotland
- Sime, D., Pietka, R. and Fox, E. (2011) At Home Abroad: The Life Experiences of Eastern European Migrant Children in Scotland: Summary, http://www.migrantchildren.net/docs/At%20Home%20Abroad%20-%20Report.pdf
- Smith, S., Paton, J., Dooley, L., and Millar, D (2011) Young People's Research: Who Cares? Scotland's advocacy services,
  - http://www.iriss.org.uk/sites/default/files/community\_research\_young\_peoples\_pres\_iriss\_2011.pdf
- Smith, C., Grimes, M., Morrison, F., Houghton, C. and Stafford, A. (2008) Consultation With Children And Young People With Experience Of Domestic

- Abuse On Scottish Government National Domestic Abuse Delivery Group Draft Proposals, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/228227/0061832.pdf.
- South Lanarkshire Council (2012) Consultation with children and young people involved in the child protection process (June-August 2012), South Lanarkshire Council
- Sportscotland (2012) Fit for Girls: Final Summary Report, http://www.youthsporttrust.org/media/999732/fitforgirlsexecutivesummary2012.pd
- The Children's Parliament (2010) The Best Start in Life, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/best-start/cp-best-start-in-life-report.pdf.
- The Children's Parliament (2011) Children say what they think about The Scottish Government Rights of Children and Young People Bill, http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/CP-CHILDRENS%20RESPONSE-Rights-of%20Children-and-Young%20People-Bill.pdf.
- The Junction (2009) Young People's Health and Well-being- their needs and the services they want, Edinburgh: The Junction
- The Long Term Conditions Alliance, Scotland and Scotland's Disabled Children Liaison Project (2011) I want to be treated the same as my brothers, http://www.fsdc.org.uk/assets/files/Quality%20of%20Life%20Full%20Report.pdf
- Tisdall, E.K.M. and Morrison, F. (2012) 'Children's Participation in Court Proceedings when Parents Divorce or Separate: Legal Constructions and Lived Experiences', in Freeman, M. (ed) Law and Childhood Studies, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 156-173
- Voice against Violence (2012) One Voice at a Time, http://voiceagainstviolence.org.uk/one-voice/
- Voice Against Violence (2012) Question time: A peer education project starring young experts on domestic abuse (and adults in power), http://voiceagainstviolence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/VAV-Question-Time-Peer-Education-Project-Report.pdf.
- Voice Against Violence (2012) Shaping the future one voice at a time: Tackling domestic abuse through the voice of the young, http://voiceagainstviolence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/03/Shaping-the-Future-Voice-Against-Violence-Survey-Report.pdf.
- Wales, A. and Hill, L. (2011) Roundtable report: Finding the balance: children's right to confidentiality in an age of information sharing, http://www.togetherscotland.org.uk/pdfs/Finding%20the%20Balance%20Children's%20right%20to%20confidentiality%202011%20Final.pdf
- West Dunbartonshire Council (2012) Final project report 2011/12: Collaboration and Peer Support in Global Citizenship, West Dunbartonshire Council
- Whitehead, I., Hanson, L. and Henderson, G. (2011) The Children's Hearing System: understood and making a difference: young people's views ,Stirling: Scottish Children's Reporters Administration
- Who Cares? Scotland (2012) Position statement: Children and Young People Bill / September 2012, http://www.whocaresscotland.org/professionals/publications-briefings-research/.
- Who Cares? Scotland (2012) Young people's views: Summary of full report: Supporting information from young people in care and care leavers for the

- Children and Young People Bill- from young people with experience of being in care in Scotland.
- http://www.whocaresscotland.org/download/publications/f\_511b9dcdb6848/Cach ed
- Who Cares? Scotland (2012)The expert views of children and young people on their experiences of foster care in Scotland,
  - http://www.celcis.org/media/resources/publications/WhoCaresReport.pdf
- Who Cares? Scotland and Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (2011)
  Hearing Scotland's Children: The experts views of Scotland's children and young people on their experiences of the Children's Hearing System,
  - http://www.scra.gov.uk/cms resources/Who%20Cares%20Report.pdf
- Williams, V., James, N., Barclay, M., Stalker, K., Watson, N., and Hudson, K. (2012)
  The Conversations Project: a report to the Steering Group of the National Review of Services for Disabled Children and Young People,
  - http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/06/1592/0
- Wilson, S. and Milne, E. J. (2012) Young People Creating Belonging: Spaces, Sounds and Sights,
  - http://www.aberlour.org.uk/assets/0000/9688/Young\_People\_Creating\_Belonging \_Sight\_and\_Sound\_Project\_Report.pdf
- Woolfson, R., Heffernan, E., Paul, M. and Brown, M. (2010) Young People's Views of the Child Protection System in Scotland, British Journal of Social Work, 40, 2069-2085
- York Consulting (2011) Evaluation of a RIGHT blether, http://www.sccyp.org.uk/downloads/A\_Right\_Blether/Evaluation\_of\_a\_Right\_Blether\_Report.pdf.
- Young Scot (2011) Access All Areas, ,
  - http://www.youngscot.net/media/12106/aaa\_report.pdf
- Young Scot (2011) Child Internet Safety Consultation with Young People: Final Report, Edinburgh: Young Scot
- Young Scot (2011) Pro-social behaviour project, http://www.youngscot.net/what-we-do/project-directory/pro-social-behaviour.aspx
- Young Scot (2011) Rights Of Children And Young People (Scotland) Bill Consultation With Young People, Edinburgh: Scottish Government.
- Young Scot and Scottish Government (2011) Peer Led Approaches To Substance Misuse Education: Young People's Consultation, Final Report, http://www.youngscot.net/media/24133/sme\_report\_-final.pdf.
- Young Scot and Scottish Youth Parliament (2012) Scottish Government Children and Young People Bill Young People's Consultation,
  - http://www.childrensparliament.org.uk/new-assets/childrens-bill/Children-and-Young-People-Bill-Young-People-Consultation-Final-Report.pdf
- Youth Commission on Bullying Advisory Board, supported by Northern Star (2012) Scottish Boarders Youth Commission on Bullying. Evaluation Report, http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/info/828/activities\_and\_support\_for\_young\_people /638/childrens\_rights
- Youthlink (2010) Being Young in Scotland 2009, http://www.youthlinkscotland.org/webs/245/file/Final%20BYIS%20Repor%28a%2 9.pdf
- Zhong, E. C. (2010) Young People's Views on Alcohol Use and Emotional Health, Edinburgh: Health Opportunities Team

### 12 APPENDIX A UNCRC CLUSTERS AND ASSOCIATED RIGHTS

The reporting clusters have been determined by the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child. This report does not use one cluster – the definition of the child.

The UNCRC rights associated are listed here, largely using unofficial headings used by UNICEF. The headings capture some of the articles' contents. The full text of the UNCRC is available at

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CRC.aspx

### General measures of implementation

- Article 4 (protection of rights)
- Article 42 (knowledge of rights)
- Article 44, para 6 (implementation measures)

# General principles

- Article 2 (non-discrimination)
- Article 3 (best interests of the child)
- Article 6 (the right to life, survival and development)
- Article 12 (respect for the views of the child)

### Civil rights and freedoms

- Article 7 (registration, name, nationality and care)
- Article 8 (preservation of identity)
- Article 13 (freedom of expression)
- Article 14 (freedom of thought, conscience and religion)
- Article 15 (freedom of association)
- Article 16 (right to privacy)
- Article 17 (access to information; mass media)
- Article 28 (right to education)
- Articles 28 para 2 and 37 (a) (the right not to be subjected to torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment)
- Article 39 (rehabilitation of child victims)

#### Family environment and alternative care

- Article 5 (parental guidance)
- Article 9 (separation from parents)
- Article 10 (family reunification)
- Article 11 (illicit transfer and non-return)
- Article 18 paras 1 and 2 (parental responsibility; state assistance)
- Article 19 (protection from all forms of violence)
- Article 20 (children deprived of family environment)
- Article 21 (adoption)
- Article 25 (review of treatment in care)
- Article 27 para 4 (recovery of maintenance for the child)
- Article 39 (rehabilitation of child victims)

#### Basic health and welfare

• Article 6 (the right to life, survival and development)

- Articles 18 para 3 and 26 (social security and childcare services and facilities)
- Article 23 (children with disabilities)
- Article 24 (health and health services)
- Article 27 paras 1 to 3 (standard of living)
- Article 33 (measures to protect children from substance abuse)

#### Education, leisure and culture

- Article 28 (right to education)
- Article 29 (goals of education)
- Article 30 (cultural rights of children belonging to indigenous and minority groups)
- Article 31 (leisure, play and culture)

# Special protection measures

- Article 22 (refugee children)
- Article 30 (cultural rights of children belonging to indigenous and minority groups)
- Article 32 (child labour)
- Article 33 (measures to protect children from substance abuse)
- Article 34 (sexual exploitation)
- Article 35 (abduction, sale and trafficking)
- Article 36 (other forms of exploitation)
- Article 37 (b-d) (children deprived of their liberty)
- Article 38 (war and armed conflicts)
- Article 39 (rehabilitation of child victims)
- Article 40 (juvenile justice)

# There are two optional protocols to the UNCRC

Optional Protocol on the involvement of children in armed conflict Optional Protocol on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography

In 2011, the UN General Assembly approved a third optional protocol on a Communications Procedure, allowing individual children to submit complaints regarding specific violations of their rights under the Convention and its first two optional protocols. The Protocol opens for signature in 2012 and will enter into force upon ratification by 10 UN Member States.

UN Committee on the Rights of the Child (2010) Treaty-specific guidelines regarding the form and content of periodic reports to be submitted by States parties under article 44, paragraph 1 (b), of the Convention on the Rights of the Child, http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/crc/docs/CRC.C.58.Rev.2.doc

Social Research series ISSN 2045-6964 ISBN 978-1-78256-736-3 web only publication

www.scotland.gov.uk/socialresearch

